
Date Published:11 July 2019     

Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

Friday 19 July 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON Andrea Clarke

2  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON Chairperson

3  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Clarke

4  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

5  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Clarke

6  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL: TERMS OF REFERENCE (Pages 7 - 10) Andrea Clarke

SCRUTINY ITEMS

These items should inform the Panel as to whether the work of the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner is being effective in delivering the priorities of the Police and Crime Plan, 
and the Police and Crime Commissioners aim to reduce crime and make Gloucestershire a 
safer and better place to live.

Information on the Police and Crime Plan Priorities & Commitments is available at this link 
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/police-and-crime-plan-priorities/ 

7  POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER - ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 
(Pages 11 - 26)

To review the annual report and make a report or recommendations to the
commissioner.

PCC Martin Surl

8  POLICE AND CRIME PLAN - REVISED DELIVERY PLANS (Pages 27 - 
68)

Richard Bradley

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/police-and-crime-plan-priorities/


    

9  POLICE AND CRIME PLAN HIGHLIGHT REPORT (Pages 69 - 102)

The purpose of the Police and Crime Plan Priorities Quarterly Highlight 
Report is to provide all stakeholders with an update that monitors progress 
in respect of each of the Priorities, to include:
 activities achieved during the current quarter;
 activities expected during the next quarter;
 any risks or issues identified will be managed through the risk and 

issue registers;
 overview of budget.

This report is a summary against activities. Members should note that this
information is retrospective for the reporting quarter mentioned; as such
it is an executive summary.

Richard Bradley

10  OFFICE OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER - CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE REPORT (Pages 103 - 112)

The report is intended to assist the Panel in reviewing and scrutinising 
decisions made and actions taken by the Commissioner, in accordance 
with its statutory responsibilities.

Paul Trott

FUTURE MEETINGS

13 September 2019
12 November 2019

3 February 2020
27 March 2020
17 July 2020
18 September 2020
6 November 2020

All meetings start at 10.00am and are held in Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Membership –  Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Brian Tipper and 
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive Cllr Ray Brassington, Cllr Jonny Brownsteen, Cllr Philip Burford, Cllr Collette 
Finnegan, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Karen McKeown and Cllr Mattie Ross

Independent Members - William Alexander (Independent Member) and Martin Smith (Independent 
member)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 
or personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be 
discussed at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324204 e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Police and Crime Panel held on Friday 15 March 2019 at 
the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
William Alexander
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Keith Pearson

Cllr Steve Robinson
Martin Smith
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive (Chair)

Substitutes: Cllr Steve Lydon (In place of Mattie Ross)

In attendance: Stephen Bace, Richard Bradley, Ruth Greenwood, Amanda 
Segelov, PCC Martin Surl and Paul Trott

Apologies: Cllr Julian Beale, Cllr Jonny Brownsteen, Cllr Gerald Dee, Cllr Rob 
Garnham, Cllr Joe Harris and Cllr Louis Savage

7. APOLOGIES 

As detailed above.

One member raised the subject of the arrangements for substitute members from 
the district and county, noting that district councils had named substitutes and the 
county did not. Members noted the need for substitutes to have knowledge of the 
Panel’s responsibilities and recognised the political balance requirements within 
legislation. He suggested that the process for substitutes on the Panel be looked at 
to ensure clarity and consistency around the process. 
ACTION  Democratic Services

8. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes from 4 February 2019 were agreed as a correct record.

Members discussed the fact that hard copies of the agenda were no longer being 
circulated and some members commented that they had been unable to access the 
link provided on their laptop. It was clarified that district councils had been made 
aware that paper copies would not be provided to members as part of the paperless 
approach. Agenda papers could be accessed on laptops or tablets with the 
modern.gov app available to use. It was explained that members had been 
informed a week earlier by email and if there had been any difficulties found 
accessing the papers, democratic services would be happy to assist. The point was 
raised that independent members did not have district council support to print 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

copies of the papers. The concerns would be passed on to the Head of Democratic 
Services at the County Council. 

9. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

No additional declarations were made

10. TRI-FORCE UPDATE 

10.1 The Commissioner provided an update to the Panel on the partnership 
working with Avon and Somerset and Wiltshire. Tri-Force had been a 
collaboration negotiated in 2012 by the then Police Authority around ‘armed 
response’, ‘Black Rock Fire-arms training centre at Portishead’, tactical 
advisers and Roads Policing. 

10.2 Meetings were held on a quarterly basis between Chief Officers as well as 
meetings with the Commissioners. This had been a collaboration out of 
necessity, where there had been a reduction in officers undertaking those 
functions. It had been a success and had served its purpose, but had begun 
to shown the strains of the different Forces having different aspirations. In 
April 2018 the three Commissioners and three Chief Constables had come to 
the decision that road policing and ‘dogs’ would come back to local 
command. Subsequently, Avon and Somerset had given notice that they 
wished to withdraw from the fire -arms element of the collaboration. This had 
been due to them being unable to agree a way forward due to the legal 
complexity around accountability.

10.3 Bringing all three functions back locally had benefits around them being in 
briefings with response officers and aligning more closely with road policing 
locally.  

10.4 Members understood that all three functions would return to the 
Constabulary’s direct control in April 2019. The Chief Constable was working 
on a new structure which would align it with Safe and Social Driving. There 
was a vacancy being recruited to on the Collision Investigation team. 

10.5 Members received details of Counter Terrorism Specialist Firearms Officers 
trained specifically and these would remain part of the collaboration between 
the three forces. This was overseen by a joint service agreement. 

10.6 In response to a question, it was explained that the decisions around this 
was through the consent of the three commissioners and three chief 
constables. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

10.7 Black Rock was still operational; this was an in-door range that simulated 
scenarios for fire arms officers and remained under a collaboration 
agreement.

10.8 It was acknowledged that it was important to collaborate with forces from all 
sides including those north of Gloucestershire. 

10.9 One member suggested that it would be useful to be provided with a map or 
briefing note outlining what work was carried out locally, regionally and 
nationally and provide information on all the collaborations in place.
ACTION Martin Surl

11. CHIEF EXECUTIVE REPORT 

11.1 Paul Trott introduced the report which provided details on the actions of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office. With regards to the GFRS 
Governance Review, the reports and outcome of the consultation had been 
published on the Commissioner’s website, all of which has been submitted to 
the Home Office. It was also noted that the website would be updated in 
order to make it more accessible.

11.2 There was some discussion around the crime data provided within the report 
with it noted that in the last 12 months Gloucester had seen an increase of 
10%. It was explained that work was underway to consider the factors 
around this in more detail, but it was worth considering that Gloucester still 
remained one of the lowest crime areas in the UK. In relation to a question 
on detection rates, it was explained that more analysts had been recruited to 
help understand the trends. With regards to Stroud, it was noted that the 5% 
increase would fall into the category of normal variation. 

11.3 One member suggested that it would be useful to have an informal session 
with the Commissioner and the Chief Constable once a year to go through 
the crime figures in more depth. The Commissioner stated he was happy to 
engage with members on this.
ACTION Democratic Services/ Martin Surl

11.4 With regards to the type of incidents that were taking up the time of the 
Constabulary, it was explained that those with mental health difficulties were 
falling to the Police to handle and so there was a disproportionate amount of 
time being spent in this area. Some members commented that it was vital 
that agencies worked together for better outcomes for those with mental 
health difficulties and to take the strain. The Commissioner had 
commissioned a piece of work to understand this.

11.5 An independent appeals officer had been appointed in July 2018 who 
currently dealt with appeals in respect of the local resolution of complaints to 
the Constabulary. When the Policing and Crime Act 2017 was implemented, 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

the PCC would become the appeal body. So far the officer had handled 40 
cases with 11 upheld. 

11.6 One member noted the average numbers of 999 calls and noted that those 
averages did not show the peaks and troughs. 

12. CRIMINAL JUSTICE 

12.1 The Commissioner explained to members that he chaired the local Criminal 
Justice Board. He did not have governance responsibility for criminal justice 
but worked in partnership. 

12.2 Amanda Segelov explained that the Commissioner’s role was as a facilitator 
of conversations and bringing people together. She outlined some of the 
work she had been involved in such as coordinating Brexit activity amongst 
criminal justice agencies. 

12.3 Richard Bradley informed members that in 2013 HM Government introduced 
the Transforming Rehabilitation programme (TR) in an attempt to reform the 
probation service. This approach privatisd 80% of the probation service and 
would deliver services through Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) 
that would manage medium and low risk offenders leaving high risk 
offenders to be managed by the National Probation Service. The 
Government had now accepted failure of this approach and had terminated 
existing contracts in December 2020 instead of the original date of 2022. The 
current CRC service provider for Gloucestershire ‘Working Links’ went into 
administration on 13 February 2019. The performance level of this service 
showed that it was incapable of reducing reoffending with the reoffending 
level at between 45-50%The Ministry of Justice had since appointed 
SEETEC to take on the CRC contract for the South West. SEETEC currently 
provided CRC services for Kent, Sussex and Surrey.

12.4 It was explained that following these issues, work was underway to try to 
rebuild the confidence of those sentencing as they now did not have the 
confidence in community solutions. A multi-agency South West Reducing 
Reoffending board had now been established which would include Richard 
Bradley and DCC Jon Stratford as the Gloucestershire representatives. This 
board would work collaboratively and provide greater oversight of 
performance and service delivery of all probation services for the South 
West, One member commented on his great sadness over the loss of 
confidence in community solutions. It was important to rebuild this as 
Gloucestershire had a proud record with magistrates working with justice 
agencies.

12.5 There was discussion around issues with prisons and the lack of 
rehabilitation and the support for those that leave prison. It was suggested 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

that prisoners were being placed in impossible situations when leaving 
prison and that there was a duty here to offenders but also the wider public.  

12.6 Members discussed the performance of the magistrate’s court, noting that 
the court was ranked 37 out of 42 other courts as it had issues with 
timeliness, listing times for trials were above the national average, a lot of 
adjournments and issues with police file quality. A multiagency group was 
looking into this and would be meeting with the Chief Magistrate. 

12.7 A number of members stated that the Criminal Justice system was broken. 
One member emphasised the importance of investment in rehabilitation 
which would save in the long term. Some members expressed frustration 
that the Commissioner was not getting support as part of his ‘and crime’ role. 
The Commissioner outlined that he was not getting the support to build a 
new court system in Gloucestershire. 

12.8 There was some discussion around the pressures on resources and the 
need to promote this issue to the wider public. One member suggested that 
the Commissioner hold a summit and bring the right people to the table to 
agree a way forward. 

13. PCP HIGHLIGHT REPORT 

13.1 Richard Bradley introduced the report which detailed that for each of the six 
priorities within the Police and Crime Plan there was a priority lead. The 
report provided details of activity up to December 2018.

13.2 Members noted the Children First Programme and were pleased to hear that 
the work here was keeping young people out of the criminal justice system. 
In 2018 221 young people who previously would have had a conviction or 
caution had not received one. The reoffending rate within this group was at 
13%, much lower than other approaches. One member suggested that a 
document outlining the savings associated with those young people not 
entering the system would be useful.

13.3 The Panel were informed of the increased work to provide oversight and 
support with Domestic Homicide Reviews. It cost around £10,000 to conduct 
with half paid by the Commissioner and the other half split across the 6 
district. 

13.4 Officers and some members made the request that in future the highlight 
report be put at the top of the agenda at some meetings.

13.5  In response to a question it was confirmed that the safer cyber money had 
been allocated but a proportion of it had not been spent yet. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

13.6 One member raised the usefulness of community alerts and asked that this 
be promoted as much as possible.

13.7 With regards to speeding, it was confirmed that the majority of those 
attending courses were picked up by vans or by officers on foot not the fixed 
sites. The policy was to educate and the Commissioner noted the joint work 
being carried out with the fire and rescue service in this area.  

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.30 pm

Page 6



Annex A 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The functions of the panel are to be exercised with a view to supporting the effective 

exercise of the functions of the Police and Crime Commissioner. The panel is under 

a duty to support, as well as challenge, the commissioner.   

 

1) To review the draft police and crime plan, or draft variation, given to the panel 

by the Police and Crime Commissioner. The panel must make a report or 

recommendations to the commissioner.   

2) To review the annual report and make a report or recommendations to the 

commissioner. The panel is to ask the commissioner questions, as 

appropriate, on the annual report. 

3)  To hold a confirmation hearing and review, make a report, and 

recommendation of proposed senior appointments made by the Police and 

Crime Commissioner, this includes: 

a) The commissioner’s chief executive 

b) The commissioner’s chief finance officer 

c) A deputy police and crime commissioner 

The panel has the power to veto the appointment of the Chief Constable. 

4) To review and make a report and recommendation (as necessary) on the 

proposed precept. The panel has the power to veto the proposed precept. 

5) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the Police 

and Crime Commissioner in connection with the discharge of the 

commissioner’s functions.  

6) To fulfil functions in relation to complaints about conduct matters, in 

accordance with the responsibilities accorded to the Panel by the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

7) To appoint an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner if necessary. 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Annex B 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

PANEL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

1 OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS  

1.1  Gloucestershire County Council shall act as the host authority in establishing 

the Police and Crime Panel and provide the necessary officer support. 

1.2 The panel shall be made up of a minimum of 10 councillors and two 

independent members.      

1.3 The elected membership shall be made up of a minimum of six district 

councillors and a minimum of four county councillors.  Each council will 

appoint deputies equivalent to the number of members it has appointed to the 

panel.  

1.4 Gloucestershire County Council as host authority shall promote the role of the 

police and crime panel through meetings held in public. 

1.5 Any funding provided by the Home Office to meet the costs of establishing, 

supporting and running the panel will be managed by Gloucestershire County 

Council as host authority.  

 

2 ELECTED MEMBERSHIP 

2.1 All county councillors and district councillors in the county of Gloucestershire 

are eligible to be members of the panel. 

2.2 Included in the panel’s membership will be one councillor from each district 

council.   

2.3 The 10 elected members of the panel will be appointed in May 2012 at the 

annual meeting of each council.  Named deputies will be appointed for each 

member.  

2.4 Future appointments will be made at each annual meeting or at the annual 

meeting following an election. Terms of office may not be for more than four 

years, but members may subsequently be appointed for more than one term.    

2.5 The panel membership shall, as far as is reasonably practicable, meet the 

balanced appointment objective as set out in the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011.  

Page 8



2.6 The panel may resolve to co-opt additional elected members if, for example, 

the appointments made by each council do not meet the balanced 

appointment objective across the whole panel. The co-opted elected 

members may be drawn from the county council or the district councils and 

will be recommended to the panel by the Leader of Gloucestershire County 

Council following consultation with Leadership Gloucestershire. The 

appointment of co-opted elected members will be reviewed annually. 

2.7 In accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, any 

increase in the size of the panel as a result of the co-option of elected 

members will be subject to the approval of the Home Secretary. The 

maximum number of members of the panel including co-opted members shall 

not exceed 20.       

2.8 All elected members, including co-optees, of the panel may vote in 

proceedings of the panel.  

 

3 CASUAL VACANCIES 

3.1 A vacancy on the panel arises when a county councillor, a district councillor or 

an independent member resigns from the membership of the panel. 

3.2 Each council will fill vacancies for elected members in accordance with the 

arrangements in their constitution.  Vacancies for co-opted elected members 

and independent members will be filled in accordance with the selection 

processes outlined in sections 2.6 and 4. 

 

4 INDEPENDENT MEMBERS 

4.1 The panel shall co-opt two independent non-elected members onto the panel 

for a term of four years, starting in July 2012. 

4.2 The selection process for co-opting independent members should include a 

reasonable period of advertising for the positions.  A closing date for the 

receipt of applications should be given of at least two weeks from the date the 

advert is first placed. 

4.3 Information packs should be prepared and sent to those requesting 

application forms. 

4.4 The applications will be considered against agreed eligibility criteria and then 

the chairman and vice-chairman of the panel will be invited to meet to 

consider applications and interview candidates. At all times consideration 

should be given to the balanced appointment objective. 

Page 9



4.5 The ‘balanced appointment objective’ referred is the objective that local 

authority members of a police and crime panel (when taken together): 

a) represent the political make-up of the relevant local authorities; 
b) represent all parts of the relevant police area; 
c) have the skills, knowledge and experience necessary for the police 

and crime panel to discharge its functions effectively. 

4.6 Following the interviews, the chairman and vice-chairman will make 

recommendations to the panel about membership for the panel to confirm.  

4.7 Independent members may vote in all proceedings of the panel. 

 

5  REMOVAL OF MEMBERS 

5.1 An Authority may decide in accordance with their procedures to remove their 

appointed member from the panel at any point and on doing so shall give 

notice to the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council as host 

authority. 

5.2 An appointed member may resign from the panel by giving written notice to 

the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council as host authority and 

the Authority they represent on the panel.  

5.3 In the event that any appointed member resigns from the panel, or is removed 

from the panel by an Authority, the Authority shall immediately take steps to 

nominate and appoint an alternative member to the panel. The validity of the 

proceedings of the panel is not affected by a vacancy in the membership. 

 

6. ALLOWANCES 

Allowances will be assessed by the Independent Remuneration Panel at 

Gloucestershire County Council. 

 

 

 

Page 10



Producing an annual report 
is like crossing the threshold 
between the old year and the 

new. It provides the opportunity to 
reflect on the twelve months that 
have passed with one eye on what 
might lie ahead.

The primary task of all Police and 
Crime Commissioners, as laid down 
by the former Home Secretary who 
defined the role, is to reduce crime. 
What is now apparent is that the 
role of the Constabulary is now 
more than just that.  

As the range and complexity of 
crimes continues to grow, the 
answer is further complicated 
by the additional social issues 
around mental health and lack 
of youth provision. With much 
of the Constabulary’s time now 
spent as first responders to the 
mental health crisis that is gripping 
our country, what you might call 
‘conventional’ police work is being 
squeezed.

Annual Report
The

of the Police & Crime Commissioner, Martin Surl
2018 l 2019

Continued on page 2  

By Martin Surl, Police and Crime Commissioner

Go into many stores, shops and other premises 
around the county and the chances are you 
will see the ‘Keep Safe’ logo. For what started 
as a small group of 10 memory clubs in the 
Cotswolds, now has more than 1100 shops 
and businesses signed up and its network 
reaches throughout the county. ‘Keep Safe’* is 
one of more than 470 schemes supported by the 
Commissioner’s Fund since it was launched in 2012.

‘Keep Safe’ is also one of 73 projects whose 
contracts were renewed in the latest funding 
cycle which has just drawn to a close alongside 
27 new ones which include:

• A community safety partnership scheme 
to address ‘hidden harm’ in the Cotswolds like 

stalking and sexual violence

PCC fund nears 500 landmark as more sign up to ‘Keep safe’

Continued on page 11  

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/

1,382 GO MISSING 
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE
The hidden challenge to fighting crime

1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Contents
When three become six.............................................................................3
The long eye of the law ..............................................................................4
Web giants should pay more says PCC ........................................5
Home Sec delays decision on fire service future..................6

A compassionate approach ................................................................... 7
On the beat with the Chief Constable ..........................................8
I could have killed you mum .............................................................. 10
Commissioner’s Fund approaches new landmark ...........11

Making Gloucestershire more child friendly ........................12
Working together to tackle knife crime .................................... 13
New advice service for sex abuse victims ...............................14
Our priorities ....................................................................................................15

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

http://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/


Page 2     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Typical of this is the high number 
of people who go missing in 
Gloucestershire with many of them 
going missing repeatedly.

Records show that from January 
to May this year, there were 1,382 
missing ‘episodes’ recorded by 
the Constabulary; 588 of those 
were linked to mental health; 269 
related to children with mental 
health  problems.  Indeed, most of 
our missing individuals are children 
and in 43% of those cases, mental 
health is a factor.

Research also suggests that on 
average, a child goes missing 
18 times, a situation further 
compounded by the fact that 67% 
of missing episodes recorded are 
between the hours of 6pm-7am.
This may be as a result of other 
statutory services being unavailable 
but if the Constabulary is now 
the agency of first resort as well 
as last, the time it has to spend 
on burglary, assault, anti-social 

behaviour, vehicle and other crimes 
is bound to be reduced.

Of course, it could be the 
increase is due to more accurate 
recording and the partnership 
work underway to ensure missing 
is reported at the right time. 
Certainly, there has been significant 
collaboration with multi-agency 
care plans for those who are 
frequently missing or are in crisis 
and this has resulted in a reduction 
in the number of recorded missing 
from Wotton Lawn. 

  Continued from page 1

1,382 GO MISSING IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE - 
The hidden challenge to 
fighting crime by PCC

Notwithstanding the impact 
on families and friends, it is an 
immense strain on police resources. 
Callous as it sounds to evaluate 
a human problem in terms of 
hard cash, in the context of a 
Constabulary under considerable 
financial pressure it is not 
unreasonable.

Finding answers to the causes 
and consequences around mental 
health requires a multi-agency 
approach. The first priority of the 
police will always be to keep people 
safe, but they are having to do 
more with less and have been for 
some time now.

Page 12



Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 3

A more visible police 
presence on the streets 
of Gloucestershire and 

an improved firearms capability 
around the region are the aims of a 
new collaboration agreement with 
all six police forces bordering our 
county.

Changes to the previous 
arrangement were under review 
for several months and officially 
came into practice in April when 
Gloucestershire Tri-Force officers 
and staff came back under the sole 
command of the Chief Constable 
Rod Hansen.   

Gloucestershire Police for 
Gloucestershire people was an 
integral part of the Police and 
Crime Plan when it was re-
launched in 2017 and the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and 
Chief Constable have been working 
on a new strategy for policing the 
county’s road network.

Dog sections too have returned to 
local command and control. 

PCC Martin Surl said, “I want to 
enhance local policing and bolster 
areas most affected by recent 
cutbacks. Specialist policing 
of Gloucestershire’s roads has 
understandably deteriorated due 

to financial cuts and in my view 
effective policing of the strategic 
road network has all but vanished. I 
do not believe this is acceptable or 
sustainable.

“I am pleased we have those 
officers and their expertise 
back under the control of 
Gloucestershire’s Chief Constable 
to support our neighbourhood and 
response teams. 

“This was not a case of 
Gloucestershire pulling-out and 
there has been no big-fall out. 
We are still working with Avon & 
Somerset and Wiltshire as we do 
with other forces”.

2018 l 2019

Local command and control returns
and strengthens border collaboration

A police service that is accessible and accountable is one of the key 
priorities of the Police and Crime Plan. To help us provide information to local 
communities in a timely and targeted way, Gloucestershire Constabulary 
and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner have launched 
community messaging systems called Your Community Alerts.

Your Community Alerts will help you keep informed about policing activity or 
OPCC news in your local area and with its two-way messaging feature we 
can also listen to what you have to say. Whether it’s an alert, an appeal or 
simply a reassurance message Your Community Alerts will message people 
either by email, text or voicemail dependent on your preference.

Signing up is free and only takes a few minutes 
by visiting www.yourcommunityalerts.co.uk

Page 13

http://www.yourcommunityalerts.co.uk


Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

It has been christened  
‘The long eye of the law’ and 
the long range camera used 

by Gloucestershire Police is the 
response to the many complaints 
from the public about dangerous 
driving on Gloucestershire’s  
roads.

The ‘Long Ranger’, as it’s also been 
called, was originally launched 
during an operation on the 
A417/419, a major strategic route 
carrying up to 35,000 vehicles a 
day which links Gloucestershire 
with neighbouring Wiltshire and is 
a pathway between the M4 and M5 
motorways. It also has one of the 
worst accident records.

The camera was deployed at 128 
different sites from November 
– March. Tailgating, the use of 
a mobile phone, vehicle plate 
offences and failure to use a 
seatbelt are among the other 
offences recorded as follows:

• Speeding - 4,839 offences 
detected, of which 33 were 
speeding at 100mph or more 
(highest 126mph)

• Seatbelt offences - 289

• Tailgating (driving without due 
care) - 42

• Use of mobile phone – 21
• Vehicle plates - 133

But it is not just the long lens camera 
that is making a difference. The   
enforcement unit has doubled in size 
and, for the first time ever, over 100 
areas identified by local people as 
‘community concern’ sites – some-
times referred to as accident ‘black 
spots’ - are now on the police radar. 

But it has not only been about 
enforcement. Police officers have 
been on hand to give assistance to 
drivers who broke down and others 
who needed help for other reasons - 
all in line with commitments made in 
the Police and Crime Plan.

“Part of my job is to react to what 
the public tell me and I probably get 
more messages about road safety 
concerns than anything else. This is 
not just about catching speeders, 
my Police and Crime Plan has always 
been about creating a change of 
culture on our roads. Making them 
safer, naturally, but also affecting 
the way drivers relate to the law and 
each other”, said PCC Martin Surl.

The ‘Long eye of the law’ 
making its presence felt

Police return to Bearland 
after three year absence
Bearland was home to Gloucester 
Police for half a century and after 
a brief spell away to allow for 
refurbishment, the official opening 
of the new police reception took 
place in November. 

Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) Martin Surl surrendered 
the Constabulary’s 250 year 
lease on the Bearland building to 
Gloucestershire County Council in 
2015 in exchange for £400,000 
and a fresh agreement for rent free 
accommodation on the ground 
floor following modernisation. 

A number of city based officers 
and PCSOs operate from Bearland 
to help police Gloucester Quays, 
the city centre and the night-time 
economy. The police reception desk 
at Bearland is open to the public 
Monday to Saturday from 0800-
2000hrs.

Officers and PCSOs are also based 
at Barton Street.

Prior to the first PCC elections in 
2012, many valued police stations 
were either closed or about to 
be closed. The Police and Crime 
Plan stopped scheduled closures 
at Bearland, Barton Street, 
Cheltenham, Coleford, Hucclecote 
and Quedgeley which have all been 
refurbished. 

Page 4     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

PC Sean Graham, 
‘the Lone Ranger’

Page 14



Householders in 
Gloucestershire are being 
asked to help meet the cost 

of the rise in crime, but Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
Martin Surl says it’s the big internet 
companies who should pay more.

The 10.6% rise was the maximum 
permitted by the Home Office and 
saw the average householder’s 
council tax bill rise by an extra 
£2 per month. Taking into 
account rising inflation and other 
commitments agreed by the 
Government, it meant the Chief 
Constable had an extra £4.1m to 
invest.  

BUDGET REQUIREMENT  2018/19 2019/20
Constabulary £000 £000
Police officers 60,930 65,962
PCSOs 3,974 4,029 
Police staff 24,869 26,732
Other running costs 25,812 27,808
Capital financing 2,105 1,946
Expenditure 117,690 126,477
Interest and other income -3,404 -3,663
Specific grants -5,031 -5,086
Net Expenditure 109,255 117,728
Office of PCC 854 985
Commissioner’s Fund 1,112 1,199
Total Budget 111,221 119,912
Transfer to reserves 0 0
Net Budget Requirement 111,221 119,912
Funded By:
Government grant 59,250 61,565
Collection fund surplus 955 695
Which leaves council tax 51,016 57,652 
payers to fund

The level of council tax
The band D council tax you will pay 
this year for services provided by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 

is £250.49, which is a 10.6 per cent 
increase compared to last year. The 
budget has increased by 7.8%, which is 
made up of:
• Pay rises and price inflation 1.7%
• Increased pension costs 2.4%
• Additional investment  3.7%
The Minister for Policing and Fire 
Service announced that for 2019/20 
PCCs will be provided with the 
flexibility to increase the Band D 
precept by up to £24, without the need 
for a referendum. He also announced 
that total police funding nationally 
would increase by £500m if PCCs used 
this flexibility fully.

Following this announcement the PCC 
asked the Constabulary to present a 
business case showing how additional 
funding would be invested. The 
Constabulary prepared a case, which 
supported the priorities of the Police 
and Crime Plan and recognised that 
demand on the police had increased 
over the last few years, and crime was 
becoming more complex.

This plan asked for additional 

investment of £4.1m, which will  provide 
80 additional officers and  staff to 
support policing in Gloucestershire.

How our budget compares 
with last year

BUDGET COMPARISON  £000                                                                
Budget 2018/19  111,221
Pay rises and inflation  1,855
One-off pay rise  -290
Additional pension costs   2,700
Other additional costs  1,094
Investment in priority areas  4,100
Planned savings     -0.768
Budget 2019/20  119.878

Investment in the future
The budget includes plans to spend 
£5m on capital schemes to improve 
operational effectiveness and service 
delivery, paid for from government 
grants, reserves and revenue 
contributions.

How many staff we employ
The Commissioner has budgeted to 
employ the full-time equivalent of 
1,924 staff at 31 March 2020.

2018 l 2019

PCC says web giants should contribute 
more towards tackling rising crime rate

Mr. Surl said, “The Chief Constable 
made a compelling case and I am 
grateful both for the support of the 
County Council’s Police and Crime 
Panel (above) and to everyone who 
contributed to the debate through 
the public consultation.

“Gloucestershire already receives 
one of the lowest grants from 
Central Government and I will 
continue to lobby for a fairer 
allocation of funds. 

“Central Government cuts are 
not sustainable and have had 
consequences. The big internet 
companies, who must bear 
much of the responsibility for the 
increase in web related crime, 
should also pay their share. 

“For the foreseeable future, though, 
the Government has decided to put 
the burden on local people so we 
have no other choice”.

Gloucestershire Constabulary budget breakdown

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 5

Page 15



Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Two years on and the 
question ‘Who should govern 
Gloucestershire’s Fire and 

Rescue Service (GFRS)?’ is still to be 
resolved.

• No change / status quo: This would mean Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service remains part of the County Council and collaboration is progressed on 
a voluntary basis. 

• Representation: This is where the PCC would become a formal part of 
the existing governance for fire and rescue in GCC, with full voting rights. 
Gloucestershire County Council rejected this as an option.

• Governance: Here the PCC takes on responsibility for Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service in much the same way he currently does for Gloucestershire 
Constabulary.  The role would become the Police, Fire and Crime 
Commissioner. Police and fire would retain their own chief officers and staff 
and be operationally independent of each another. This is the option favoured 
by the PCC.

• Single employer: This is where the PCC would take on responsibility for fire 
alongside the police and also appoint a single chief officer for both services. 
Front-line services would remain distinct but support services would be 
increasingly integrated.

Home Secretary yet to decide on 
who directs fire and rescue service 

The results of a public consultation 
showed a clear majority in favour of 
taking responsibility away from the 
county council and placing it with 
the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC).

The options for change

But the Home Secretary has 
delayed any decision until after the 
next PCC elections.  

The consultation, which was 
conducted on behalf of the 
Office of the PCC, was carried 
out online, in public and through 
questionnaires in public buildings. 
It produced statistically significant 
results both demographically and 
in quantity. Respondents included 
GFRS employees, Gloucestershire 
Constabulary staff and the general 
public. When all the responses 
were analysed, 55% were in favour 
of reform. 

All the information gathered during 
the consultation was incorporated 
into the business case which 
was sent to the Home Office in 
February. 

You can find out more about it at: 
www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk

Page 6     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 16

http://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk


They say you should never 
compete for attention with 
animals and kids. So the 

Police and Crime Commissioner 
was taking a risk when he chose 
a puppy to help him make an 
important announcement.

Not only was PCC Martin Surl at the 
Cheltenham Animal Shelter Open 
Day to launch the ‘Compassionate 
Approach’ element of his Police and 
Crime Plan – the general strategy 
for policing Gloucestershire - 
he also had the challenging 
responsibility of picking-out the 
best puppy. 

That honour fell to Bude, a 16 week 
old ‘Jack Spaniel’ - a cross between 
a Jack Russell and Cocker Spaniel 
and named after his birth place in 
Cornwall - who was adjudged 
the best puppy under eight 
months.

A dog owner himself, Martin 
believes all animals should 
be afforded consideration 
and respect at all times. It’s why it’s 
in his Police and Crime Plan. 

He said, “Where the law is 
concerned, the Animal Welfare Act 

2006 makes it an offence to cause 
any animal unnecessary suffering 
while the Criminal Damage Act 
1971 classes animals as property 
capable of being ‘damaged and 
destroyed.

“The majority of owners regard 
them as more than that and ‘A 
Compassionate Approach’ has 
been one of the underlying themes 
of my Police and Crime Plan since 
‘day one’, said Mr. Surl. It is an 
obligation to show compassion to 
all animals and for the police to 
investigate the theft of domestic 
animals thoroughly”.

Chief Inspector Rich Pegler said, 
“There is lots of evidence to show 
that people who are cruel to 
animals have a similar disregard for 
human life as well.  

“The Police and Crime Plan 
message is simple. Life is precious 
whether on two legs or four and we 
are committed to 
protecting them 
all”. 

2018 l 2019

Dog show winner Bude 
crowns ‘A Compassionate 
Approach’ launch

Police Academy 
planned for Berkeley
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
Martin Surl has acquired part of the 
former nuclear power station site at 
Berkeley Green, in the south of the 
county to develop it as a training 
academy and conference centre.

Agreement has been reached 
with the owners, the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Agency, for a 
150-year lease rent-free at a cost of 
£600k.

The two-storey, 
approximately 
3,000 square 
metre building 
comes with 
meeting rooms, 
a canteen, 
parade ground, 

limited use of the sports hall and 
parking for around 250 cars.

“I believe the site has tremendous 
potential and provides us with an 
exciting opportunity to utilise local 
talent and contacts that will help us 
develop our own centre of excellence”, 
said Mr. Surl.

David Owen, Chief Executive of 
GFirstLEP, Gloucestershire’s enterprise 
partnership, said: “The really positive 
move by the Constabulary to develop 
a Police Academy on the site is 
fantastic news and adds to the 
already vibrant mix of business and 
education at Berkeley”

Cirencester Court site secured
Agreement was finally reached in April 
with the Ministry of Justice for the 
purchase of Cirencester Magistrates’ 
Court.

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 7

Page 17



Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Over the last ten years 
policing has changed 
considerably not just 

because of our financial situation 
but because the nature of crime 
itself has changed.

You will probably now be familiar 
with phrases like county lines, 
organised crime gangs (OCGs), 
child sexual exploitation, modern 
day slavery and trafficking, cyber- 
crime, crypto currency, the dark 
web and sextortion.  You may 
also have seen media headlines 
highlighting increased reports 
of domestic abuse, stalking and 
harassment, knife crime and acid 
attacks.  Whilst I am pleased to 
say that our county is not as 
badly affected by some of these 
crime types as others, when it 
is combined with the enduring 
security threat, levels of mental 
health issues and number of 
vulnerable people in society these 
changes have placed significant 
demand on us.  We aim to 
ideally prevent such events or 
investigate them and in recent 
years a huge amount of unseen 
police activity and intelligence 

work has resulted in more than 
200 years of custodial sentences 
for the offenders of these very 
serious crimes committed in 
Gloucestershire. 

What we may think of as 
traditional forms of crime like 
burglary and theft haven’t of 
course gone away but the even 
more sinister crimes mean we 
have to adjust our resources to 
meet these demands without 
making anyone feel that they 
aren’t important to us. That is our 
continuing challenge because 
everyone counts and nothing is 
trivial in policing.  

Prevention is key to much of our 
work and we are an example of 
best practice for other forces in 
some of that work, particularly in 
the way we tackle vulnerability, 
violent crime and hate crime. In 
addition every day our schoolbeat 
officers are working with young 
people, our roads policing team 

are addressing road safety issues, 
our officers are finding and 
bringing a considerable number  
of missing people to safety (see 
page 1) and we campaign hard to 
raise awareness of what you can 
do to protect yourself and others 
from harm. 

I often hear people say we are 
not as visible as they would like 
us to be but please be assured all 
1,061 police officers, 109 PCSOs 
and 168 special constables are 
working hard to keep the people 
of Gloucestershire safe from 
harm every single day.  We deal 
with around 160,000 incidents 
annually with high demand 
around violent crime, theft and 
sexual offences.  That’s around 
four crimes every hour.  In addition 
all of our senior officers hold 
national and regional roles as we 
work together on cross cutting 
and complex issues that affect us 
all.

Neighbourhood policing is an 
integral part of our work and 
at the beginning of 2018 we 
re-introduced neighbourhood 
policing teams who focus on 
community engagement and 
long-term problem solving 
in order to prevent crime and 
disorder and make the most of 
the flexible work force we now 
have.  You can find out who 
your local policing team is and 
what the local issues are in your 
area by visiting our website at 
www.gloucestershire.police.uk/
neighbourhood-policing or by 
signing up for our free community 
alert service (Your Community 
Alerts) where you will receive 
regular updates relevant to where 
you live.

By Gloucestershire’s Chief Constable 
 Rod Hansen

A proud history stretching back to
1839 – but the context is changing

Page 8     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 18

http://www.gloucestershire.police.uk/neighbourhood-policing
http://www.gloucestershire.police.uk/neighbourhood-policing


16
1,3

17
 - T

OTA
L I

NCIDENTS

9,1
94

 - D
OMESTIC

 ABUSE IN
CIDENTS

25
,32

7 -
 ASB IN

CIDENTS

2018 l 2019

About us - in numbers

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 9

As the second oldest rural police 
force in the country we are a very 
different organisation to the one 
formed in 1839.  We are proud that 
our recent Home Office inspection 
rated us ‘good’ in almost all areas 
and recognises the considerable 
progress we have made.  We are 

of victims were satisfied with  
the service they received83.6%70.5%

of the public rated Gloucestershire Constabulary as 
doing an “excellent” or “good” job

FRONT LINE WORKFORCE

77%

GLOS. NATIONAL

(-14% since 2010)

78%

COST PER PERSON 
(per day)

0.48p 0.49p
GLOS. NATIONAL

6,809 VIOLENT CRIME
1070  SEXUAL OFFENCES
306  ROBBERY
4,149 BURGLARY
8,764  THEFT
4,419  CRIMINAL DAMAGE & ARSON
962 DRUG OFFENCES
2,411  OTHER CRIMES
3,434 VEHICLE CRIMES

Crime Data

999 CALLS: 72,935

101 CALLS: 233,537

ARRESTS: 7,363

DAILY AVERAGE: 20

CRIME DATA

CRIMES

4 every 
hour

on average

FORCE AREA 
1,024 SQUARE MILES

POPULATION OF 

0 . 6 1 M
+7% (over 10 years)

Finally, may I thank you for all 
that you do to help support us as 
policing is far too important to 
be left to the police alone and we 
couldn’t do what we do without 
you.

not complacent though and know 
we have more to do including 
improving our compliance with 
national crime recording standards 
and tackling burglary.  We are 
committed to continuing our 
improvement journey for the benefit 
of the people of Gloucestershire.  

Page 19



‘I could have killed you mum!’
Crash victim re-launches safety roadshow

The blink of an eye; 
a moment’s lost 
concentration; and in less 

time than it takes to read this, a 
potentially catastrophic car crash.

The words (in the headline  
above) are those of the driver.  
What prompted them is (now 
available online: 
https://www.youtube.com/ 
watch?v=6VfKw1Rhets 
(Content warning: swearing).

It shows what should have been 
a routine drive home after work, 
dramatically interrupted when a 
mother and son’s car overturns 
late at night on an icy road 
between Gloucester and Stroud 
– all captured on the dashboard 
camera.

The seven second soundbite is 
a chilling accompaniment to a 
glimpse into oblivion and the 
brief but terrifying uncertainty 
that will stay with the couple 
forever.

It is also a salutary lesson to all 
young and novice drivers and 
is the essence of ‘What if…?’, a 
programme developed under the 
Police and Crime Plan’s Safe and 
Social Driving priority. 

Celebrity feature writer Katie 
Jarvis, the passenger, takes up the 
story: “At that moment the car 
just felt like it was flying. It took 
off and just went straight over.

“It doesn’t sound very long but we 
hit the bank; we turned over; and 
then we turned over again. 

“There are two things I remember. 
When we first turned over I 
thought: I’m still alive but we 
haven’t finished yet. We’re still 
trying to lose 50 miles an hour.  
Am I going to be alive in the next 

second? I knew we were still 
moving, we hadn’t come to a 
standstill and I didn’t know what 
was going to happen next   

“Worse than that, I had my child 
beside me. I have never been 
so pleased to hear him use bad 
language because I knew he was 
still alive.  But when we came to 
a standstill, he went quiet. I knew 
I was alive but I didn’t know 
what had happened to 
him.

“It felt like forever before 
he answered me and 
said I’m fine”.

For once, 
‘miraculous’ 
seems fitting as 
Cotswold Life writer 
Katie, aged 56 
from Nailsworth, 
and her son Miles, 
who was 20 at 
the time, escaped 
severely shaken 
but otherwise 
unscathed. They 
were pulled from 
the wreckage by 
passers-by barber 
Andy Jones and 
bricklayer Jack Rice 
who later received 
Royal Society of St. 
George Awards.  

Whilst Miles’ 
response has 
been to train as 
a retained fire 
fighter, to go to 
the aid of other 
accident victims, Katie went 
through it all again as one of 
the presenters of ‘What if..?’ 
The safer driving campaign 
instigated by Gloucestershire’s 

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) in partnership with 
Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service, Gloucestershire 
Constabulary, Great Western Air 
Ambulance Charity, the South 
Western Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust, the Severn 
Major Trauma Network and the 
Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC).

What if?
Under the Police and Crime Plan priority for Safe and Social Driving, the ‘What if…?’ campaign targets new drivers in schools and colleges around the county between the ages of 17-24, the age group most at risk of being involved in a serious car crash. Between 5 February and 29 March, it was seen by around 3,500 students, teachers and visitors from 28 schools and colleges. Since ‘What if…?’ was launched in 2016, it’s been seen by nearly 14,000 novice and learner drivers.

Page 10     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 20

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6VfKw1Rhets 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6VfKw1Rhets 


2018 l 2019

• All Nations UK, Gloucester, 
which is supporting vulnerable 
young people at the risk of falling 
into crime

• The Door, Stroud, which is 
expanding its youth support work 
in Stonehouse

• Cheltenham Borough Council’s 
‘Child Friendly’ project, part of 
a year of action to make sure ‘no 
child is left behind’. 

• A community safety partnership 
project in Tewkesbury targeting 
anti-social behaviour

* ‘Keep Safe’ was set up in 2010 as a partnership involving a number of bodies 
including Gloucestershire County Council, the Gloucestershire Contabulary and the NHS. 
In September 2013 the PCC commissioned Memory Clubs UK – a community interest 
company – to develop and expand the scheme. It now provides support to around 
11,400 registered members with learning disabilities, physical disabilities, autism 
and dementia across the county.  Anyone interested in registering should contact 
info@keepsafeglos.org.uk or register online at www.keepsafeglos.org A full list of 
Commissioner’s Fund projects can be found at: www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/

• Forest Upcycling which works 
with PCSOs in the Forest of Dean 
to identify people at risk of crime 
in their home.

PCC Martin Surl said, “The Police and 
Crime Plan has always allowed for 1% 
of the budget to be made available 
through the Commissioner’s Fund 
to support community projects and 
programmes dedicated towards 
reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour.  

“I have always believed that local 
people are best placed to come 
up with answers to problems in 
their own neighbourhood. The 
Commissioner’s Fund is evidence of 
the tremendous community spirit 
that exists in Gloucestershire”.

  Continued from page 1

PCC fund nears 500 
landmark as more sign 
up to ‘Keep safe’

Gloucestershire Life Education and GL3 receiving a Commissioner’s 
Fund plaque from Priority Lead, Phil Sullivan MBE

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 11

Community Hub Bike Shack 
receiving a Commissioner’s Fund 
plaque from DPCC, Chris Brierley

Page 21

mailto:info%40keepsafeglos.org.uk?subject=
http://www.keepsafeglos.org
http://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/


Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Young voices are 
crying out for a more 
child friendly focus

It’s official: local custody 
volunteers are top quality
The inside of a police cell is surely 
the last place most people would 
want to find themselves – unless 
they happen to be an Independent 
Custody Visitor.

Independent Custody Visitors (ICVs) 
have an important part to play 
in the justice system in checking 
the rights, health, wellbeing and 
treatment of those who are 
detained by the police. 

ICVs make unannounced visits to 
check on the rights, entitlements, 
well-being and dignity of detainees 
held in police custody. After each 
visit, they file a written report with 
the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner on how the police 
are running custody and whether 
or not they need to make changes 
or be praised for best practice. It 
is then up to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) to hold the 
Chief Constable to account.

Volunteers who fulfil the role in 
Gloucestershire were officially 
awarded the gold standard at the 
inaugural Independent Custody 
Visiting Association Quality 
Assurance awards. 

Manager Amanda Segelov, who 
collected the award at a ceremony 
at the House of Lords said: “We 
currently have 16 ICVs from the 
local community who come 
from a variety of backgrounds, 
ages and sectors. They are 
completely impartial and carry out 
unannounced visits at least once a 
fortnight.

“This award is richly deserved 
recognition for all their hard work 
and dedication in making sure 
people who find themselves in 
custody for whatever reason are 
kept safe and properly looked 
after”.

The first tentative steps 
have been taken towards 
making Gloucestershire a 

county where young people enjoy 
growing-up, do not feel ignored 
and are able to maximise their 
aspirations and potential to the 
full.

Driven by the Police and Crime Plan 
Priority of Young People Becoming 
Adults, a model has been agreed 
between the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), 
county and district councils which 
focuses explicitly on the voices 
and views of young people. The 
project was kick started when the 
OPCC began assessing what could 
be done collectively to support all 
young people in Gloucestershire.

“We know that there is a significant 
amount of excellent work being 
carried out within the county but 
much of it is in silos and therefore 
not connected”, said Dame Janet 
Trotter who is heading-up the 
project for the OPCC.

“There are clear gaps in obtaining 
the collective voice of young 
people. Decision makers often 
fail to take sufficient 
notice of them when 

developing policy. Our aim is to 
help all young people in the county 
develop their potential by giving 
them a voice and listening to them 
systematically.

“The new model will mark new ways 
of working locally and will focus 
explicitly on the voices of young 
people”.

In particular, it will seek to establish 
how best to engage with those 
in the 0-25 age group in order 
to find out what they aspire to 
achieve personally and for the 
county.. The challenge then will be 
to develop a platform that young 
people - and organisations and 
groups working with young people 
- can use to comment on and 
promote the achievements of their 
contemporaries.  

It is hoped this initial work will 
involve diverse and representative 
groups of young people across 
the county and that it will provide 
a foundation for enhancing their 
lives...

The aim is to complete this phase 
by the end of the summer period 
2019 to allow an opportunity to 
launch to a wider audience in the 

autumn.

Page 12     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 22



Following a spike in knife-
related incidents in 2016, 
knife crime currently counts 

for less than one per cent of crime 
in the county. Recorded incidents 
in Gloucestershire, defined by the 
Home Office as ‘knife crime’ over 
the last three years, were well below 
those for the rest of the country.

During that period, ‘knife crime’ 
accounted for just .85%  [point 
eight five per cent] of all crime in the 
county. Around 20% was defined as 
‘domestic abuse’ and the number 
of incidents involving young people 
was in single figures.

Gloucestershire’s Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) Martin Surl 
described it as justification for 
the approach taken by his office 
two years ago when Deputy PCC 
Chris Brierley brought together 
representatives from the local 
criminal justice, health, education, 
social and political sectors whose 
brief was to find a more sustainable 
approach to tackling youth 
violence. 

Mr. Surl said, “Two years ago, when 
we were faced with serious issues 
around county lines drug dealing 
and the needless loss of young 
lives, we decided on a more radical 
partnership approach, rather like 
the Government has also now 
adopted.

“The knife crime summit involved 
Gloucester’s MP, a crown court 
judge and representatives from 
health, criminal justice, education 
and social sectors. As a result, 
‘Safer Gloucestershire’ made it a 

2018 l 2019

• During the past three years, 
incidents defined as knife crime 
accounted for less than 1% of all 
crime in the county

• The number of ‘knife crime’ 
incidents involving young people in 
Gloucestershire was in single figures

• Crimestoppers’ Fearless from knife 
crime’ campaign has worked with 
30 schools across Gloucestershire 
and engaged with around 4,000 
secondary school students

Partnership approach to knife 
crime paying dividends but 
still no room for complacency

Chair of Safer Gloucestershire DPCC Chris Brierley

priority to develop a whole county 
approach to tackling the problem”. 

Kate Langley, Strategic Lead for 
Youth Justice in Gloucestershire, 
said: “There is no quick-fix solution 
to this but the current analysis of 
the data we collect around types of 
offences or anti-social behaviour 
clearly tells us that there are very 
few young people who carry knives 

in Gloucestershire and that the 
overwhelming majority of young 
people in the county do not”.

Since then, Safer Gloucestershire 
and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s office have 
invested £60k in a post within 
public health to look in more depth 
into the root causes of violent 
crime. It is hoped this will lead to 
earlier intervention and prevention.

DPCC Mr. Brierley, who is also 
chairman of Safer Gloucestershire 
said, “The national news agenda 
has featured some truly dreadful 
incidents which give the impression 
that it’s mostly young people 
carrying knives – this is absolutely 
not the case in our county. During 
the last three months of 2018, only 
one young person came through 
to the youth justice service for 
possession of a knife.

“We know there is much to do and 
are certainly not complacent”.

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 13

Gloucestershire 
is a safe county

Page 23



GRASAC is the only sexual violence specialist in the 
county and was chosen after a competitive process 

managed by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC), the Constabulary’s Public 
Protection Bureau and its domestic abuse and sexual 

violence coordinator. 

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Thankfully, most people will 
only be aware of the work 
they do if they watched 

TV dramas like ‘Broadchurch’ 
and ‘Three Girls’. But now, 
Gloucestershire has its own 
Independent Sexual Advisors 
Service (ISVA).

For the first time in the county, 
the service is providing support to 
all genders and all age victims of 
sexual abuse.  

The contract to run it for the next 
seven years has been awarded to 
Gloucestershire Rape and Sexual 
Abuse Centre (GRASAC).  

GRASAC’s Louise Williams described 
it as an important development 
in the provision of care for anyone 
who has suffered abuse.

She said, “The vast majority of 
people who seek our services 
have a mental health need and 
they can find it difficult to access 
existing services which are really 
fragmented. And when it comes 

to sexual abuse, because 
of the added shame and 
reluctance to divulge 
information, it further 
impacts on their mental 
health. 

“If they know there is a 
one-stop-shop that 

will cater for their 
needs, it will help 
knowing they 
won’t be pinged 
around. Their 
GP or mental 
health worker 
will refer them 

PCC Martin Surl 
with GRASAC 
interim director 
Maggie Stewart

TV dramas set the scene for 
new sexual advice service

to us. It should be a lot quicker; a 
reduction in their mental health 
needs and a reduction in the 
impact on other services”.  

The Ministry of Justice initiated 
limited finance for centres like 
GRASAC four and a half years 
ago but when Police and Crime 
Commissioners were introduced, 
funding was devolved to them.  

Louise Williams says more and 
more victims are coming forward 
because sexual violence and 
abuse is in the news more and 
has become a subject for TV 
drama, Broadchurch and Three 
Girls the most recent prime 
examples. 

“PCC funding has been huge”, 
she said. “It’s enabled us to grow 
and meet more women and meet 
demand as much as we can. 
But we still have a waiting list of 
over 100 women waiting about 
7 months to be seen and we still 
receive 2-5 referrals a day.

“We are fortunate in 
Gloucestershire that we have 
the relationship we do with the 
PCC, not just in terms of funding 
but also at a strategic level. It 
means our voice is heard at 
the commissioning board and 
other meetings by people who 
understand what we do and have 
faith in what we do”. 

GRASAC recently moved into new 
premises in the centre of Gloucester

Page 14     l     Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 24



The Police and Crime Plan, updated in 2017, is 
the overriding strategy the police must work 
to. It will be in operation for the next four 

years and beyond the next election in 2020.   
You can read it on the OPCC website:   
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/

Our priorities remain:
• Accountability and accessibility
• Older but not overlooked
• Safer days and nights
• Safe and social driving
• Yound people becoming adults
• Safer cyber

Video illustrations of some of the work being done under these headings are 
available through the links below. 
All of these priorities are aimed not only at making Gloucestershire a good 
place in which to live, work and visit but also about ensuring a society that is 
fair, just and compassionate. Plans are also being drawn up for the delivery 
of another important element of the Police and Crime Plan, ‘A compassionate 
approach’, was launched this year (see Page 7). Plans for the delivery of another 
important component - ‘A green and pleasant county for now and in the 
future’ - which requires the Constabulary to operate in as responsible and 
sustainable a way as possible were being finalised as we went to print. 

• Accountability and accessibility:
What’s it like to be held in a police cell? – A brief look at Independent Custody visitors 
(Title: ICVs)    https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=D6BPu78eqTM 

• Older but not overlooked:
‘Scamming’ older people is now regarded as a hate crime
(Title: Hate crime scam)    https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ubyBsI3I8pQ

• Safer days and nights:
Gloucestershire’s latest non-alcohol venue, supported by the OPCC opens in Cheltenham
(Title: Sober Parrot)    https://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC/videos/2182055618502095/ 

• Safe and social driving:
A parent talks about losing her son in a road crash
(Title: A mother’s story)    https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a97wQZR0H_I

• Young people becoming adults:
How the Commissioner’s Fund helped turn one young life around
(Title: Furniture Bank)    https://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC/videos/2212252488815741/ 

• Safer Cyber:
How an initiative for helping to keep kids safe online won an award for the two PCSOs behind the project 
(Title: Safer online)    https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mwH_ycFHIgc&t=65s 

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/

Police and 
Crime Plan 
2017-2021

Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner     l     1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019     l     Page 15

Page 25

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=D6BPu78eqTM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ubyBsI3I8pQ
https://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC/videos/2182055618502095/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a97wQZR0H_I
https://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC/videos/2212252488815741/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mwH_ycFHIgc&t=65s
http://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/


 

For publically available crime 
statistics for your area go to: 
www.police.uk and click on 
‘Find your neighbourhood’. 

The Police and Crime Plan in full, 
together with more information 

relating to the annual report is available by:

Visiting: www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk

Emailing: pcc@gloucestershire.pnn.police.uk

Phoning: 01452 754348

Writing to: The Office of the Police & 
Crime Commissioner 
No 1 Waterwells, 
Waterwells Drive, 
Quedgeley,  
Gloucester GL2 2AN

Follow Martin Surl on twitter: @GlosPCC 

Office of the PCC: @glos_opcc

Find us on facebook: www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC

If you would like to see this summary in large print, 
another language or you just need to have it in  
another format, please let us know.

Want 
to know
more? Coming-up 

in 2019/20
· Open Day - 

come and say  
hello and see what 
we do

· Top of the Cops - 
PCC and Chief 
Constable on the 
road

· Officer recruitment 
accelerates - 
do you have what 
it takes?

· A green and 
pleasant county -  
more electric 
vehicles for a more 
sustainable fleet

· A compassionate 
approach - 
new Constabulary 
animal welfare 
scheme launching 
soon

· Police academy - 
due to open in 
the Spring

· Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
elections – 
May 2020

Page 26

http://www.police.uk
http://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk
mailto:pcc%40gloucestershire.pnn.police.uk%20?subject=
https://twitter.com/@GlosPCC
https://twitter.com/@glos_opcc
http://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC


2 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 
Delivery Plans 

 
 
 

Updated: July 2019 
 
 
 
 
Richard Bradley 
Deputy Chief Executive 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Accessibility & Accountability ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Older but Not Overlooked ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Young People Becoming Adults ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Safe Days and Nights ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Safe and Social Driving ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Safer Cyber ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Environmental: A green and pleasant county for now and in the future ................................................................................................................................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8



2 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Animal Welfare: A compassionate approach ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

 
 

ACTIVITIES STATUS 
 

COMPLETE IN PROGRESS / ONGOING DELAYED 

P
age 28



3 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

1. Provide sufficient funding to increase Police Officer numbers subject to Government Grants 

 
2019/20 
Precept Bids agreed and 
business cases supported by 
the Constabulary and OPCC 

 
Dashboard data availability 
Precept recruitment and 
timeline developed 
Tracking and management 
through SFS and PDB 

 
2021 

 
HR/Finance 
 
All members 
of Workforce 
Strategy 
Group 
People 
Development 
Board 

 
High 
Actual Resource numbers 
don’t meet established 
numbers due to ability to  
Recruit 
Train and deploy staff 
 
A potential for service 
delivery to be impacted. 
 

 
Additional recruitment and 
resources to be tracked and 
understood through relevant 
Boards and Governance in line 
with precept increases 18/19 and 
19/20 

 
Zoe 
Durrant 

 
Jo Smallwood 
Tracey Webb 
Peter Skelton 

  
Police numbers and 
financial 
requirements are 
tracked and 
managed through 
appropriate 
Governance 
structures and 
reported back into 
WEB and OPCC 
where necessary 

2. Assessment and update of the contribution of our volunteer capability 

 
Commentary on the contribution 
of the Special Constabulary in 
line with Citizens in Policing 
portfolio in order to ‘double’ the 
impact and activity 

 
Special Constabulary duty 
hour system assess and 
refresh against activity 
analysis 
 
Cadets – activity analysis 
 
Other volunteers activity 
analysis 

 
ongoing 

 
Steve Lindsay 
 
 
 
Tracey Wren 

 
Low 
Ability to  demonstrate 
volunteer impact, activity, 
hours and outputs from 
citizens in policing 

 
Quarterly update on hours offered 
 
Quarterly update on time based 
tasking 
 
Quarterly update on activity and 
outcomes 
 
 
 

 
Paul 
Dutton 
 

 
Steve Lindsay 
 
Tracey Wren 
 

  
Structure and 
processes in place 
to continue to 
support and develop 
Citizens in Policing 
Duty Hrs system in 
place 
Time Based tasking 
in place 
Activity analysis 
available 

3. Harness efficiencies from technology to put more boots on the ground, to increase visibility, accessibility and engaging with our communities 

 
MFLP 

 
Working group assessing 
the development needs of 
our MFLP activity 

 
2021 

 
MFLP working 
group 

 
Low 
Project support and 
broader ICT development 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Emma 
Davies 

 
Project Team 

  

4. Deter and prevent crime and anti-social; behaviour rather than merely responding to it, reflecting the modern crime prevention strategy. 

 
4.2 Intensive Engagement 
approach  
 

 
Training plan and delivery 

 
2020 

 
CHRT and NH 
PCSOs 
Statutory and 
volunteer 
partners 

 
Medium 
Capability and capacity to 
deliver approach in line 
with precept bids and 
resourcing issues 

 
Prevention, demand reduction. 
EVB outcomes 

 
Tim Wood 

 
Roddy Gosden 

 
 
 
 

 

P
age 29



4 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

 

 
4.3 Review PCC funded activity 
in line with prevent and deter 
philosophy 

 
As per PCC funded reports 

 
As per 
PCC 
funded 
activity 
 

 
As per PCC 
funded reports 

 
Ensuring delivery against 
key outcomes 

 
As per PCC funded reports 

 
PCC 
Officer 

 
Jo Smallwood 
Gareth Morris 

  

5. Be available to residents and offer reassurance and a familiar face they can have confidence and confide in. 

 
5.1 Delivery of Neighbourhood 
offer 

 
Baseline – Current 
satisfaction indicators 
 
Community survey 
outcomes 
 
Take up of Community 
Alerts 
 
TRC per LPA 
 
ASB Plans    
 
 

 
2020 

 
NHP staff 
PCSOs 
CiP 
 

 
Medium 
 
Expectation of delivery 
against staffing level 
currently under pressure 
due to precept and 
recruitment issues. 

 
Increased confidence in local 
policing 
 
Survey updates 
 
Customer feedback 
 
 
 
 

 
Paul 
Dutton 

 
Roddy Gosden 
Rich Pegler 
Tim Wood 
Steve Lindsay 
Tracey Wren 
Amy Dyde 
Gareth Morris 

  

6. Review how the public can communicate with the Police and assess their services. Whilst improving traditional channels of communication, they will develop new channels appropriate to all ages, demographics 
and communities to give people a choice and convenient ways of accessing their services   

 
 
6.1a Review and improve our  
dealing with 999  calls including 
technological advances 
 

 

National Guidelines 90% 
999 calls to be answered in 
under 10 seconds. 

 

 

National Call Handling 
Standards (NCHS) 
assessment process in 
place to quality assure calls 
into FCR – grading them as 
Exceptional, Competent, 
Requires Development or 
Remedial Training. Our 
expectation is for all staff to 
reach minimum level of 
competent.  

 
 
2020 

 
 
FCR  
ICT and  
3rd party 
suppliers  
 
 
KCom and 
APD  

 

Medium  

Delays have decreased 
and are trending down 

 

*This improvement will 
cap at some stage post 
call management 
software improvements – 
at that stage a review of 
staff capacity will take 
place (Spring/Summer 
2019)  
Also a focus on channel 
management and shift to 
digital.  

 
 
Tracking and assessment of: 
 
Av 999 call answering against 
national guidelines 
 
 
Improve 101 call handling  
Av wait times 
 
FINESSE call management 
software to launch June 2019 
and will articulate performance per 
handler and capacity – some 
delay down to providers. This will 
also allow more dynamic control 
of the room and functions within – 
as well as individual performance. 

 
 
Gareth 
Morris 

 
 
Andrew 
Kilmurray 
 
Tim Hutchinson 
 

  

P
age 30



5 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

 

Customer Satisfaction 
Survey 

 
Performance Dashboard 
created 
 

 
Revised interactive voice 
recording (IVR) script to channel 
calls effectively  
 

 
 
6.1 b - Review and improve our 
dealing with 101 calls including 
technological advancements 

 

There is no national SLA 
for 101 calls to be 
answered within a specified 
timeframe. There is an 
existing target of within 40 
seconds.  

This will be extended to 2 
minutes which is in line 
with several other forces 

National Call Handling 
Standards (NCHS) 
assessment process in 
place to quality assure calls 
into FCR – grading them as 
Exceptional, Competent, 
Requires Development or 
Remedial Training. Our 
expectation is for all staff to 
reach minimum level of 
competent. Customer 
Satisfaction Survey 

Performance Dashboard 
Created.  

   
 
Medium  
 
On review of risk we have 
considered our delays 
against other forces, plus 
noting this facility is for 
‘non-emergency’ 
enquiries. As such and 
given national picture 
plus against 
improvements to 999 we 
have reduced this to 
medium risk – still 
requires improvement 

 

 
 
Reduction in wait times 
 
Improved service  quality at first 
point of contact 
 
FINESSE call management 
software to launch June 2019 
and will articulate performance per 
handler and capacity – some 
delay down to providers. This will 
also allow more dynamic control 
of the room and functions within – 
as well as individual performance. 
 
Revised interactive voice 
recording (IVR) script to channel 
calls effectively  
 

    

 
6.2 Review and improve our 
working practises in respect of 
all our calls for service. 
 

 
We will be able to 
demonstrate continuous 
improvement  
 

 
2019/20 

 
FCR  
ICT & 
System 
Development 

 
Low 
Timeliness of system de 
livery and implementation 
alongside training 
requirements 
 
Recruitment of new 
supervisory staff 

 
Revised and new supervisory role 
profiles – populated revised 
organisational structure to 
enhance early decision making of 
call handlers and manage public 
expectations – commences June 
2019 
 
Training packages for new roles 

    

P
age 31



6 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

and new intake staff for FCR and 
Receptions to deliver consistent 
standards.  
 
Reception Staff trained to service 
some E-demand and to be trained 
in 101 call management 
(supported by new Finesse 
system)  
 
NCHS now part of supervisory 
IPR and expectations – reviewed 
monthly by Chief Inspector.  
 

 
6.3 Review and improve our 
performance management 
capability so that we can 
accurately and dynamically 
provide accurate data of 
individual and team 
performance on a daily basis. 

 
Baseline – Individual and 
team based performance 
data is available but 
currently irretrievable. 
Measure – Ability to 
provide dynamic individual 
and team performance 
data 

 
Ongoing 

 
FCR Inspector 
ICT 
3rd party 
suppliers 
KCom and 
APD 

 
Low 
Some contractual 
challenges with KCOM & 
APD requiring South 
West Procurement 
Support 

 
FINESSE call management 
software to launch April 2019 
and will articulate performance per 
handler and capacity – some 
delay down to providers. This will 
also allow more dynamic control 
of the room and functions within – 
as well as individual performance 
 

 
Gareth 
Morris 

 
Police staff 
manager 

  

 
6.4 Improve community 
consultation through the 
formulation of a 
communications strategy. This 
will involve establishing a 
community consultation group 
to meet quarterly and be 
actively involved in shaping 
FCR activity and procedure.  

 

 
Baseline – Community 
group previously 
established with similar 
ambitions. 
Measure – Community 
members secured to group 
with clear terms of 
reference and meeting 
dates agreed. 
 
 
 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
FCR 
 
Communicatio
ns & 
Engagement 
Team 

 
Low 

 
We will establish a dynamic group 
that will reflect our communities, 
contribute to the development of 
our policy and procedure and hold 
us to account. Link to IAG March 
2019 

 
Gareth 
Morris 

 
NH 
IAG 

  

 
6.5 Improve customer and 
community awareness of FCR 
activity through hosting 250 
visitors to the FCR of all ages 
from all communities between 
31st January 2017 and 30th 

 
Baseline – Visits 
suspended for last 12 
months. 
Measure – Programme of 
visits demonstrating 
participation from all our 

 
March 
2017 -
ongoing 

 
FCR 
Volunteer/s 

 
Low 

 
Over 2000 visitors now received 
by FCR – continue to target hard 
to reach communities  
 
recent very successful visit of 
vulnerable disabled young 

 
Gareth 
Morris 

 
Andrew 
Kilmurray 

  

P
age 32



7 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

January 2018.     communities. 
 

persons from National Star 
College 
 

 
6.6 Develop internal 
collaborative partnerships to 
release capacity and improve 
customer service  

 
Measure – Operating State 
changes in 2 month period 

 
2019 

 
FCR  
Internal 
Stakeholders 
OPCC 

 
Medium 
 
Demand management 
over summer period 
significant challenge not 
to be at Amber state for 
entire month July 
 
Engagement and 
understanding 
departmentally. 
 
Engagement and 
understanding OPCC 
 
Managing public 
expectations 

 
New Force Operating State 
Established with each department 
having demand plans:- 
 
New monthly ‘Forecasting & 
Planning’ meeting commenced 
December 2018.  Constabulary 
horizon scanning and planning  for 
demand -  reviewing force 
Operating State & resource 
alignment 
 
Demand reductions on FCR or 
improved services  
 

 
Gareth 
Morris 

 
Demand and 
forecasting 
working group 

   

 
6.7 Develop external 
collaborative partnerships to 
release capacity and improve 
customer service 

 
Measure – Tangible 
evidence of collaborative 
improvement activity 

 
Ongoing 

 
FCR  
External 
Stakeholders 

 
Low 
 
Partners also impacted 
by austerity and demand 
challenges 

 
Demand reduction for FCR staff or 
improved services. 
As part of Demand Triage role 
(24/7 triage of incoming incidents 
requiring police support), 
consultation is occurring with 
partner stakeholders reviewing 
incidents passed to police to 
ensure correct agency responds 
initially and appropriate support in 
place. 
 
Collaborative forum with Fire and 
Ambulance established where 
wellbeing, training, scenario 
testing and defusing in place – 
also reviewing support from each 
agency where demand allows.  
 

 
Gareth 
Morris 

    

 
6.8 Develop and deliver a 
sustainable digital 
transformation programme 

 
Single Online Home 
delivery 2019 

 
2019/20 

 
FCR Senior 
Team 
OPCC 

 
Medium 
Insufficient funding and 
expertise. 

 
CCTV Development to include 
remote feeds from new 
technology (Drones) and remote 

 
Gareth 
Morris 

 
Matt Thomas 
 
Contact 

  

P
age 33



8 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

through our Channel 
Management Strategy 

Online form use, Social 
Media, Email & Website 

Current practice sees 
unstructured emails 
received within the FCR 
necessitating reversion to 
sender and inefficient 
process. 

Scanning & research taking 
place in collaboration with 
other forces/blue light 
services/ Comms and 
Engagement to create 
streamlined web based 
reporting, online web chat 
& structured electronic 
communication.  

To include prevention 
advice and signposting 

Target to provide a 
response within 24 hrs 

Performance Dashboard 
being created  

Customer Satisfaction 
Survey 
 

Public Contact 
Program 

access by officers underway with 
ICT. 
Summer 2019 ICT supporting 
review of FCR Command and 
Control Systems requirements 
and evolution (taking account of 
ESN timeline) 

Single Online Home is 
commencing launch April 2019 for 
full go live Winter 2019. This will 
deliver online reporting and 
signposting for numerous issues 
and represents a significant uplift 
in our online offer. 

Future options include potential 
webchat. 

Webchat and social media 
engagement are being scoped 
with other forces.  

Move towards transactional or 
lower-risk contact should be 
primarily self-service 

Manager 
 
T/Ins Louise 

 
 
Effective deployment of 
resources to incidents 

 

Performance Dashboard 
created -  map times 
between initial call, 
deployment of resource, 
arrival and time to deal. 
This will further be 
categorised by incident 
type, grading and shift. 

 

Strategic document 
captures daily qualitative 
updates on incidents, good 
work and demand 

 
 
2019/20 

 
 

Medium  

Current limitations of 
performance information 
means effectiveness is 
largely reported 
anecdotally and as a 
narrative 

Indications on numbers of 
incidents and via DMM 
indicate at times 
significant resourcing 
challenges to meet 
incoming demand – with 

 
 
Airwave channels reduced from 3 
to 2 to maximise staff – 
 
 
Review of airwave speak 
standards ongoing 
 
Performance dashboard build 
complete  
 
Awareness of mobility device 
capability being improved 
 
Leadership & Away Days booked  

 
 
Gareth 
Morris 

 

Demand and 
forecasting 
group 
 

  

P
age 34



9 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

challenges.  

 

Performance Dashboard to 
highlight resource 
affiliation. Phase 2 of 
dashboard to assist 
understanding of incidents 
deferred.  

 

RAWS – Radio Airwave 
Speak (dispatch 
assessments) 
 

resulting impact on 
NH/LIT and other 
departments. 

Performance dashboard 
aid sunderstanding of 
FCR & FRU resourcing 
vs demand. There is a 
requirement to appreciate 
accurate demand curve & 
alignment of staff.   

Impact of moving to 2 
channels has slight 
impact on Airwave costs 
 

quarterly with FIMS to discuss 
best practice and barriers. Now 
joined with FRU leaders and front 
line staff to build relationships and 
shared problem solving 

 

FORCE OPERATING STATE 
launched to enable flex of force 
resources to demand – appears to 
be well embedded. 

Working groups focusing on 
following 
Tasking & Forecasting – New 
meeting established with rolling 18 
month horizon  
Review ongoing 
Diary Car Based Appointments / 
Alternative Responding – 
subject to scoping 
  
FCR Demand Triage role being 
implemented 
 

 
6.9 Improve Workplace 
Wellbeing 

 
Baseline – Staff Survey 
2014/17/19 
 
Measure – Increased staff 
engagement and 
satisfaction. 
 
Survey feedback 

 
2021 

 
FCR Team 
Occ Health 
H&S Adviser 
 

  
Increase in staff wellbeing 
resulting in reduction in sickness 
absence and increase in 
productivity. 
 
Bi Monthly wellbeing meeting 
occurs with representatives from 
staff and senior leadership  
 
Staff ‘quiet room’/calm space 
established to provide refuge after 
traumatic incident 
 
Monthly workforce meeting 
chaired by Chief Inspector to 
ensure positive management of 
absence and support in place. 
 

 
Andrew 
Kilmurray 

 
Rich Pitman 
 

  

 
Modernise software & ensure 

 
Succession and 

 
2021 

 
FCR 

High  
 
Current Fall Back Control Room 

 
Andrew 

 
Gareth Morris 

  

P
age 35



10 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

business continuity development plan for call 
handling and deployment 
software to support digital 
engagement, improve data 
quality and optimise 
delivery of efficient and 
effective services 
 
Fall Back Control Room 
plans  

Estates 
ICT 

There are risks around 
FBCR that are highlighted 
to Exec team and subject 
of review 

 

IT support required for 
critical force ICT 
infrastructure & systems 
review 
 

(FBCR) required under Civil 
Contingencies Act. 
 
Future site agreed at Bamfurlong 
and decision paper defining 
requirements submitted to Jan 
2019 OPIP.  
 
Current limited facility at Stroud to 
be maintained in interim 
 
ICT now reviewing core RMS – 
further FCR systems to be 
reviewed against this system 
accordingly in Summer 2019 
 
Finesse and Single Online 
Home on track for delivery 
2019/2020 
 

Kilmurray 
 
Matt 
Thomas 

Estates 
ICT 

7. Develop a plan between the Constabulary, the OPCC and local communities to maintain and develop neighbourhood policing in their communities. 

 
7.1 Deliver Neighbourhood 
Policing Approach 

 
NHP plan has Hallmarks re 
specific elements to deliver 
against that form part of the 
NH tasking process and 
PIM 

 
2021 

 
NHP staff 
CHRT 
 

 
Medium 
 
Being able to maintain 
the NHP officers against 
all other operational 
demands. 
 
PCSO Specialist role 
review and  shift pattern 
changes  
 
PCSO being used for 
roles that are not directly 
linked to NHP. 
 

 
Continued delivery against NHP 
Hallmarks as outlined in our 
approach 
 
Review of impact through 
Satisfaction surveys  
 
 
 

 
Paul 
Dutton 

 
Roddy Gosden 
Rich Pegler 
Tim Wood 

  

8. Update on Mounted Police Section delivery 

 
Track and evaluate delivery  

 
Continued updates re 
activity 
Development opportunities 
 

 
2020 

 
Mounted 
Section 

 
Medium 
Recruitment, retention of 
skilled staff 
Retention of capable and 

 
Estates and financial balance to 
section and deliverables 

 
Tim Wood 

 
Mounted Section 

  

P
age 36



11 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority Accessibility & Accountability Year: 2019 

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggeste
d Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

able horses 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Maintain the profile of rural communities through tackling rural crime and increasing visibility in those communities. 

 
Core to NHP Offer 
 

 
Number of trained rural 
crime officers 
 
Impact through feedback – 
NFU and others 

 
2019 

 
NHP 
resources 

 
Medium 
Capability and capacity 
issues within NHP build 

 
Trained dedicated rural officers in 
all rural locations 
 
Dedicated rural lead 

 
Rich 
Peglar 

 
Paul Dutton 
Rural officers 

  

 
 
 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

1. Support older people in Gloucestershire to feel more confident, cared for and connected resulting in them being more resilient to crime and the ‘fear of crime’ 

 
1.1 To make use of local 
volunteer groups and OPCC 
projects to support existing 
community based activities that 
make older people feel safer 
and better connected to their 
community.  
 

 
Quarterly returns to OPCC 
priority lead from each 
project. 

 
Ongoing 

   
See quarterly updates 
 
RP and PS continue to conduct 
monthly project visits to support 
and identify any gaps with local 
NHP teams.  
 
Training of volunteers in crime 
prevention (Cotswold Friends).  
 
Sharing initiatives such as 
Message in a Bottle and 
Community Alerts.  
 
Facilitating inter project networking 
during visits and annual networking 
event. 

 
Phil 
Sullivan 

 
Project leads 

  

P
age 37



12 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

 

 
1.2 To support the counties 
‘Keep Safe’ scheme, providing 
safe locations to vulnerable 
people in Gloucestershire. 
 

 
Quarterly return to OPCC 
priority lead.  
Police to link in PCSO 
support.  

 
Ongoing 

   
RP has linked TH up with PCSO’s 
in all 6 NHP areas.  
 
Promoting the initiative across 
organisations working with 
vulnerable people.  
 

 
Phil 
Sullivan 

 
Terrassa  
Hemingway 

  

 
1.3  To Improve the quality of 
Investigations and the care and 
support of elderly victims of 
crime through the  Criminal 
Justice  process 
 
 

 
Improved VCOP 
compliance. 
Improved file quality and 
court outcomes relating to 
elderly victims of crime 
(over 65 CPS and 
HMICFRS identified age).  
 

 
Ongoing 

   
Refer to ‘Standards Matter’ and 
Pride and Care’. 
CJ providing greater scrutiny and 
RP and PS sitting on CJ hate crime 
working group 

 
CI Pegler 

   

 
1.4 To implement Operation 
Signature as BAU and support 
older victims of fraud by a 
PCSO home visit offering 
support and crime prevention 
advice.  
 

 
Report quarterly on the 
number of reassurance 
visits made by our PCSO’s.  

 
Ongoing 

   
Implemented and improvements 
made to the IT and app. Age now 
reduced to 60 and over as per 
OBNO age.  

 
CI Pegler 

   

 
a. The creation of 

the 
Vulnerabilities Officer role 
within N HP to provide a link 
between departments such as 
the Public Protection Unit and 
the Mental Health and Missing 
Team and Neighbourhood 
Policing. To identify and reduce 
local vulnerability as part of the 
NHP offer. 

 

  
Complete  

   
Role created and all posts filled. 
Training ongoing. Joint working 
with PPU and CHRT. High Risk 
missing adults return home visits 
being conducted.  

 
CI Pegler 

   

P
age 38



13 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

 
1.6 To create and embed a 
Policing and partnerships team 
that identifies and manages 
‘Adult Safeguarding’ within the 
county. (Highlighted during 
HMICFRS inspection around 
older victims of crime). 
 

     
Review and improvements ongoing 
from the HMICFRS inspection 
feedback. RP to link in with PPU. 
Adults at risk structure to be 
implemented with additional staff 
secured from precept increase 

    

 
a. To embed a Mental 

Health 
and Missing team to work with 
partners to identify those who 
pose the highest risk to 
themselves and others. 

 

  
Complete 

   
Embedded and now working 
closely with NHP and our 
Vulnerabilities Officers as well as 
partners in health and adult Social 
Care 

    

2. Provide support and leadership to  organisations in Gloucestershire that deliver services to people affected by hate Incident/crimes, so victims are understood, supported and engaged through a range of 
responses that empower them; facilitate positive outcomes, reduce and prevent harm and improve community cohesion.  

 
 
  
2.1 Improve education and 
awareness of Hate Crime in 
coordination with the 
Constabulary’s Hate Crime 
strategy to prevent Hate Crime 
occurring  
 
 
 
 

 
To develop a strong and 
successful county Hate 
Crime Coordination Group 
that meets regularly to 
direct and prioritise 
partnership activity that 
improves community 
cohesion. 

 
Ongoing 

   
Refer to Minutes and action log of 
the Hate Crime strategic 
coordination group for activity. 
 
Targets - To capture the increase 
in reporting and reduction of repeat 
victims * add performance 
 

 
Phil 
Sullivan 

 
Phil Sullivan 
Chair of County 
Strategic Hate 
Crime and 
Incident Group 
 
CI Morford 
Police Hate 
Crime Lead 
 
 
 

  

 
2.2 Ensure that victims feel 
confident to report hate 
incidents and hate crimes by 
providing access to services in 
a way that is best for them  
 

 
Hate Crime Performance 
Framework and Dashboard.  

 
Ongoing 

  
Ensure victims are 
encouraged to report 
incidents and where 
reported by third parties 
ensure they are referred 
to victim support.  
 

 
Phil Sullivan 

 
CI Morford 

   

 
2.3 Improve the accuracy of the 

 
Hate Crime Performance 

 
Ongoing 

  
Working group 

 
Phil Sullivan 

 
CI Morford 

   

P
age 39



14 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

recording and collation of Hate 
Incidents and Hate crimes 
 

Framework and Dashboard. established by CI 
Morford and CI Probert 
to make the review of 
Hate Crime investigation 
outcomes BAU and drive 
up standards.  
 
Hate Crime now dealt 
with by Local 
Investigation Team’s. 
 
Hate Crime of note now 
recorded on Daily 
Management sheet for 
tasking.  
 

 
 
 
2.4 Ensure that victims of hate 
crime receive appropriate 
support  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Hate strategy and Victim 
Support performance / 
service delivery.  

 
 
 
Ongoing 

  
 
 
Refer to enhanced 
service from Victim 
Support 

 
 
 
Phil Sullivan 

 
 
 
CI Morford 

   

3. Increase the effectiveness of Neighbourhood Watch (NHW) within the county of Gloucestershire 

 
3.1 To establish in partnership 
an effective county NHW 
Association within National 
NHW guidelines.   
 
 
 
 

 
NHW and all ‘watch 
schemes are now managed 
via ‘Your Community Alert’. 
 
Performance and growth to 
be reported on quarterly 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Ongoing 

  
Rapport and ‘Your 
Community Alert’ now 
embedded 
 
Champions / user group 
created lead by NHP 
meets quarterly. 
 
YCA performance 810 
new users for March (4th 
best performance 

 
Phil Sullivan 
CI Pegler 

 
David 
Macfarlan
e (NHW 
Team 
Leader) 

   

P
age 40



15 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

nationally). Currently 
4.69% household 
coverage. 
 
Currently 1771 NHW 
groups in the county. 
53,000 households 
covered.  
 
800 groups down from 
2018 numbers due to the 
loss in change over from 
the old system to 
Rapport. (GDPR impact).  
 
 

 
3.2 To improve Communication 
between the Police and NHW 
by obtaining a more effective 
and user friendly computerised 
system for the partnership.  
 

 
Rapport and ‘Your 
Community Alert’ now 
embedded 

 
Complete
d 

  
Rapport and ‘Your 
Community Alert’ now 
embedded 
 

 
Phil Sullivan 
CI Pegler 

 
R Patel 
(C&E) 

   

 
3.3 To develop wider 
community safety support 
initiatives which can be 
delivered as appropriate 
through NHW volunteers.  
 

  
Ongoing 

  
Message in a Bottle 
delivered.  
Herbert Protocol 
delivered.  
Keep Safe delivered.  
Others as BAU.  
 

 
Phil Sullivan 
CI Pegler 

    

 
3.4 To examine opportunities to 
increase inter-agency working 
with NHW 

 
Establish current inter-
agency working and areas 
for opportunity.  

 
Ongoing 

  
Work in progress 

 
Phil Sullivan 
CI Pegler 

 
David 
Macfarlan
e (NHW 
Team 
Leader) 
 

   

4. Support the delivery of services to those suffering from dementia in its various forms. 

 
4.1 Help support the growth in 
provision of safe places around 
the county for dementia 

 
The growth of new 
‘dementia friendly 
communities’  

 
Ongoing 

 
 

 
Continued growth of 
memory café’s. CHRT 
have visited every café in 

 
Phil Sullivan 

 
Richard 
Pegler 

   

P
age 41



16 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

sufferers and other vulnerable 
adults.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the county to build 
relationships and 
promote the Herbert 
Protocol. 
 
Improved confidence of 
service users and their 
families.  
 
Keep Safe provides a 
service to the counties 
vulnerable adults and is 
supported by PCSO’s 
and local NHP teams.  
 

 
4.2 Support the development of 
‘dementia friendly’ communities 
throughout Gloucestershire 

 
 

  
Ongoing 

  
NHP PCSO’s are 
supporting local memory 
café’s and Dementia 
groups across the 
county.  
 
The Forest of Dean 
Dementia Alliance will 
continue to be supported 
by the local NHP team 
and the CSP.  
 
Gloucestershire intends 
to become a ‘Dementia 
Friendly county’. The 
CHRT team are working 
with partners to achieve 
this.  
 

 
Phil Sullivan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Richard 
Pegler 

   

P
age 42



17 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

 
 

1. Organise an annual multi-agency networking event to share best practice and communicate what is available within in the county 

 
 
5.1 The event will provide an 
opportunity for the 
Commissioner and the Police 
lead to address those 
organisations that support the 
priority and provide an update 
on the year’s activity.  
 

 
 
Priority lead to organise a 
local annual event for all 
connected parties to 
network and share good 
practice service 
understanding 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Done 
2018 

 

 
 
2018 event was a 
success and held at 
Together in Matson 
(Redwell Centre) 
 
2019 event to be 
planned. 
  

 
 
Phil Sullivan 
CI Pegler 

    

2. Support Gloucestershire Older Peoples Forum 

 
6.1 SGOPF to build on its ability 
to represent the voices of older 
people throughout the county 
identifying needs, concerns and 
gaps in service provision. 
 

  
Ongoing 

  
Supporting GOPA as 
BAU 
 
Tea and Tell events that 
seek feedback while 
promoting personal 
safety and crime 
prevention.  

 
Phil Sullivan 

 
CI Pegler 

   

 
6.2 To ensure the voices of 
older people are better 
represented so that their needs 
can be identified and gaps in 
service provision identified and 
fed back to agencies. 
 

  
Ongoing 

  
BAU for example Tea 
and Tell 

 
Phil Sullivan 

 
CI Pegler 

   

3. Work with the lead for ‘cyber-crime’, to identify and address the needs of older and vulnerable people 

 
a. In collaboration 

with the 
cybercrime lead, 
provide bespoke 
training with 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 

 
Priority leads to meet in 
near future to identify 
overlap and opportunities 
of joint working.   

 
Phil Sullivan  

 
DI Mallon 

   

P
age 43



18 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

regard to staying 
safe online to 
agencies that 
are already 
delivering 
awareness 
raising and 
training 
packages to 
older people and 
vulnerable 
groups.  

 
 

 

 
7.2 With assistance from the 
police cybercrime lead, produce 
and then distribute crime 
prevention materials relating to 
cybercrime to those 
organisations. 
 

  
Ongoing 

  
Refer to ‘safer cyber’ 
priority update. 

 
Phil Sullivan  

 
DI Mallon 

   

4. Continue to support PCSOs to make regular contact with organisations that are supporting Older and Vulnerable people 

 
8.1 Regular visits to sheltered 
accommodation within their 
beats 
 
 
 

 
Embed as BAU for PCSO’s 
as part of ABCD and 
Intensive Engagement work 
now being delivered across 
the county.  

 
Ongoing 

 
Not measured 
 
 

 
RP presented to the 
PCSO forum in April to 
improve understanding 
and performance.  
 
BAU Assurance given by 
Inspectors that visits are 
being conducted across 
all 6 NHP areas.  
 
Cirencester PCSO 
featured on regional 
news at lunch club during 
the recent Operation 
Octave campaign.  
 

 
CI Pegler 

 
Phil 
Sullivan 

   

 
8.2 Regular visits to places 

 
 

 
Ongoing 

 
Not measured 

 
BAU Ongoing across all 

 
CI Pegler 

 
Phil 

   

P
age 44



19 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Older But Not Overlooked 
Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributor 

 

Suggested 
Strategic 

Objective Linked 
NO 

Status 

where older people regularly 
meet such as Lunch Clubs, 
YGL11, Treasure Seekers, 
Cotswold Friends event and 
others within their beats 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 NHP areas.  
 
Police lead to link NHP 
teams into local projects  

Sullivan 

  9  To work with organisations that are engaging in inter-generational work 

 
9.1 Liaise with the PCC lead for 
Young People to examine any 
opportunities 
 
 
 

  
Ongoing 

 

 
Cadets delivering NHW 
and crime prevention 
advice. 

 
Phil Sullivan 

 
CI Pegler 

   

 
9.2 To support the 
Gloucestershire cadet 
programme in developing 
opportunities to deliver crime 
prevention and other initiatives 
with older people 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Ongoing 

  
Cadets delivering NHW 
and crime prevention 
advice. 
 
The groups are working 
in Stroud and Gloucester 
with wider roll out 
planned.  

 
Phil Sullivan 
 

 

 
CI Pegler 

   

10. To work with Restorative Justice 

 
10.1 To work with the RJ team 
to promote and engage the 
vulnerable in this process when 
appropriate 
 
 
 

  
Ongoing 

  
Work ongoing.  
 
Discussion at a local and 
regional level as to 
whether Hate Crime can 
be dealt with by way of 
RJ. National guidance 
currently prevents this but 
there are several pilot 
schemes in operation.  
 

 
Phil Sullivan 
 

 
Becky 
Beard 
 
CI Andy 
Morford 

   

P
age 45



20 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority  
 

Young People Becoming Adults  
 

Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 
Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested Strategic 
Objective Linked NO 

Status 

1. Raise awareness across the constabulary of young people’s needs and the issues that cause them to offend and how they must be treated with fairness, dignity and respect, and to better understand 
how young people view and experience the Police in Gloucestershire. 

 
1.1Via Learning & Development creating 
an educational package for new and 
current Constabulary employees to 
educate on the modern approach being 
taken for YPBA across the constabulary 

 

 
Number of new students 
trained. 
Number of CPD days 
delivered. 

 
Ongoing  
2019 - 2020 

 
L & D 
 
 
 
Comms & Eng 

 
LOW 

 
Increased 
knowledge creating 
a BAU feel to the 
way our Policing 
Service deal with 
young People 

 
Police 
CF 
Coordinator 

 
YST 

 
3.1 
4.1 
4.2 

 
Package 
developed, 
currently 
under trial 
delivery. 

 
1.2 Introduce video box messaging to all 
members of the constabulary in YPBA. 
’Raising awareness’ of young people’s 
needs and developmental stages. 

 
Sept 2019 

 
LOW 

 
Increased 
knowledge 

 
Police 
Paul Dutton 

 
YST 
Kate 
Langley 

 
3.1 
4.1 
4.2 

 
Jan 19 
video Box 
cancelled 
due to 
illness. Will 
be 
relaunched. 
 

2. To reduce the number of young people entering the criminal justice system as first time entrants [FTE] & reduce reoffending by young people by ensuring that decisions that are made by the Police 
about young people are fair and consistent and seek to divert young people from the CJS and ensure they receive the help they need to stop them re-offending, as quickly and efficiently. as possible. 

 
2.1 Develop the Children First 
Continuous Improvement plan to ensure 
that it maintains current progress in 
reducing FTE in a fair & consistent 
manner. 
 

 
Monitor our FTE statistics 

against regional and 
National progress. 

 
Ongoing 

Children First 
Tactical & 
Strategic group 

 
LOW 

 
Remain in the top 
15% of the country 
for our  

 
CF 
Coordinator 

 
YST 
Health 
Social Care 
Police 

  
Ongoing 

1. Reduce numbers of young people being brought into custody and for those in custody reduce the length of time spent in custody and ensure that support is provided throughout the process and 
that police have the information they need about that young person in a timely manner to enable more effective support and decision making. 

P
age 46



21 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Young People Becoming Adults  
 

Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 
Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested Strategic 
Objective Linked NO 

Status 

 
To Embed and develop 4 key areas of 
business. 
 
3.1 integrate and progress the work of 
the youth custody coordinators located 
in the custody suite HQWW.  
 

a. Review the use and 
outcomes of the Children 
First Help Line. 

 
b. Improve the use of 

appropriate adults for 
young people in custody. 

 
 
 

c. Relaunch the use of 
youth custody 
coordinators via C& Eng 
strategy 

 
Baseline of FTE and re-
offending rates 
established and monitored 
as part of the current YST 
Quarterly Review process- 
a reduction would 
constitute success. 
 
Evidence of a reduction in 
the number of YP being 
brought into custody will 
constitute success. 
 
Evidence of a reduction in 
the average length of time 
a young person spends in 
custody will constitute 
success. 
 
Evidence of an increase 
of successful PACE 
transfers will constitute 
success. 
 
Evidence of a reduction in 
re-offending rates by 
young people as part of 
the current and on-going 
YST Quarterly monitoring 
process.  
 

 
Ongoing 

 
Custody 
Coordinators. 
 
Analytical 
support ( YST & 
Police) 

 
LOW. 
This may increase if 
we fail to integrate 
these staff into the 
custody suite and 
fail at 1.1 & 1.2 with 
officer education. 

 
There will be less 
young people 
coming through the 
custody suite and 
the average length 
of time in spent in 
the custody suite 
will be reduced. 
Young people 
receive the support 
they need as 
quickly as possible 
and there is a 
reduction in the 
number of young 
people entering the 
criminal justice 
system and a 
reduction in re-
offending. 
 

 
Custody sub 
Group. 
 
Kate 
Langley  

 
Criminal 
Justice 
Dept. Jane 
Probert 

 
1.1 

a.  
6 

 

2. Ensure that all young people involved in ASB receive the support and early intervention they need in order to reduce further incidents of ASB and the number of formal sanctions being sought, as a 
result of strong partnership working and a clear consistent approach. 

 
4.1 Develop and embed a countywide 
multi-agency process approach and 
process for responding to ASB by YP. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Reduction in ASBI 
applications will 
demonstrate success. 
 
Increase in positive 
interventions 

 
April 2019 & 
ongoing 

 
Multi Agency 
working group 
established.  

 
Failure within this 
partnership, 
particularly from 
police is a risk in 
this area. 

 
Successful 
partnerships. 
 
Stronger 
relationships 
between partners. 
 
Earlier 
interventions with 
young people. 

 
NH 
Partnerships 
lead. 
 
Insp Godwin 

 
YST 
Solace. 
CHRT 
 
Kate 
Langley 
 
Louise 
Boyle. 

 
1.1 
1.2 
6 

 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 47



22 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Young People Becoming Adults  
 

Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 
Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested Strategic 
Objective Linked NO 

Status 

 
4.2 Monitor the use of ABC’s, Injunctions 
and CBOs with young people and to 
review the effectiveness of these 
interventions.   

  
Minimal use following the 
correct procedure as at 
4.1 
 
Positive conditions and 
short timescales of orders. 
 

 
Direct link 
with 4.1 
above. 
Priority focus  
 

 
NH policing 
Solace 

 
Failure within this 
partnership, 
particularly from 
police is a risk in 
this area. 

 
Better & earlier 
outcomes for 
young people.  

 
YST. 

 
Police. 
(NH 
Policing) 

 
4.1  
1.1 
1.2 
6 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
3. Create strong and successful pathways for YP to engage in support and divert them away from crime and re-offending through the improved use of data in order to develop a profile need and ensure 

resources are targeted effectively 
 

4.  
 

 
5.1 Review the gathering and use of 
data across YST and Gloucestershire 
Constabulary to ensure they are better 
joined up and a full and accurate picture 
can be built regarding young people’s 
offending in Gloucestershire. 
 
 

 
Ongoing . 
 
Dashboard development 
required. (Police to lead)  

 
Ongoing 

 
Analytical 
support. 
YST & Police 

 
There is insufficient 
analytical support 
within both areas of 
business to 
regularly provide 
this data. 
 

  
Paul Dutton 
Kate 
Langley 

  
1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
6. 
 

 

 
5.2 Ensure that community projects 
funded by the PCC fit the analysis of 
risks in need in relation to young people 

 
May 2019 

 
Funded 
Projects 
event 
planned for 
13th May 19. 

 
PCC office 
support 

 
Failure to track 
funded projects will 
increase the risk of 
projects not 
providing the 
correct pathways for 
Young People 

 
Successful funding 
applications. 
 
Widespread county 
pathway cover 

 
PCC 
YST 

 
Police 

  

 
5.3 Gloucestershire constabulary to 
undertake mapping exercise of offending 
by young people locally by offence 
types, locations, age, gender, 
associations and ethnicity. 

 
U/K 
Dashboard development 
required. (Police to lead)  

 
2019 – 2020 
ongoing 

 
Analytical 
support. 
YST & Police 

 
Failure to 
understand our 
offence and 
demand locations 
will hinder progress 
in youth 
engagement and 
diversion. 
 

 
Dashboard created 

 
Paul Dutton 
CI Team 

  
1.1 
1.2 
6 
 

 

 
5.4 Review of current programmes 
available for young people to identify 
gaps in resource/ interventions/ 
opportunities 

 
U/K 

 
2019 – 2020 
ongoing 

 
Analytical 
support. 
YST & Police, 
PCC 

 
Failure to 
understand our 
diversion 
opportunities will 

  
Not Police 

  
3.2 
4.2 

 

P
age 48



23 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Young People Becoming Adults  
 

Year: 2019  

Activities 
Baseline and 
Measurement 

By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 
Suggested 
Contributor 

Suggested Strategic 
Objective Linked NO 

Status 

hinder progress in 
youth engagement. 
 

1. Develop a communications strategy, which allows YP to feel connected and feedback their views to the constabulary and partners, and ensures that key messages reach them in a way that is 
meaningful and improves their safety. 

 
6.1 Refresh and develop a 
communications strategy to highlight 
YPBA both internally and externally. 
 

 
Creation of strategy. 
Inclusion of Comms team 
within CF working group 
monthly meetings. 

 
Sept 2019 

 
Comms & Eng / 
Media 

 
Failure to promote 
excellent work 
within this areas. 
Loss of youth 
support. 

  
Media 

 
PCCs 
office. 

 
1.1 
1.2 
All areas of this plan. 

 

 
6.2 Work with young people to create an 
approach, which is something they will 
relate to and wish to use. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Involvement of young 
people in the development 
of a communications 
strategy will constitute 
success. 
 
 

 
Ongoing  
work with 
ambassadors, 
2019-20 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CHRT & YST 
support 
required to 
identify the 
most beneficial 
and successful 
approach. 
 
Press office 
communications 
team support 
will be required. 
 
Police/ YST 
Media teams 

 
Failing to listen and 
communicate with 
the YP of 
Gloucestershire will 
reduce our ability to 
connect and 
develop our working 
relationship with 
YP. No additional 
resources 
Young people 
engage with the 
police regarding 
issues that affect 
them and make 
changes to their 
lifestyle.  

 
Young people will 
engage with the 
police regarding 
issues that are 
important to them 
and it will be 
beneficial and will 
feel more 
connected to them 
and understood by 
them 

 
CF 
Coordinator 

 
YST. 
NH Policing 

 
2.1 
 

 

 
 
 

Priority  
 

Safer Days and Nights  
 

Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

1. Develop a preventative and collaborative approach to ensure that the county’s night-time economy is a safe place for all. 

1.1 Build effective relationships between 
key stakeholders in the night-time 
economy such as police, local council 
licensing authorities, licensing officers, 

 
 
 
Baseline: 

Ongoing 
commitment 
 

 
 
A coherent 
vision for the 

 
 
Differing priorities of 
stakeholders leads to 

 
Engagement of 

partners within the NTE 
to include number of 

 
 
 
Jon McGinty 

 
CI Gosden 
 
 

  
 

Priority Safer Days & Nights   Year: 2019 

P
age 49



24 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safer Days and Nights  
 

Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

licensees, door staff, and volunteers. 
 

Survey of night-time economy 
stakeholders 
   
Measure: 
How have the survey results 
changed after the activity?2018 

county’s various 
night-time 
economies, with 
buy-in from 
those in the 
trade and from 
those agencies 
responsible for 
regulation and 
enforcement.  
 

different outcomes 
being sought. 

partners signed up to 
MoU. 

 
Attendance of partners 

within the NTE at 
Street safe briefings 

CI Gosden 

 
1.2 Make long-term plans to make the 
physical environments of the NTE as safe 
as possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The two largest 
NTEs in the the 
County, 
Cheltenham 
and Gloucester 
have strong 
regular Night 
safe Meetings 
that coordinate 
multi-agency 
work. 

 

The county has lower 
levels of night-time 
economy related 
violent crime 
compared to existing 
levels and compared 
to most similar forces. 

The county has lower 
levels of night-time 
economy related 
violent crime 
compared to existing 
levels and compared 
to most similar forces. 

Lack of finance 
available to develop 
physical environments 

 
Lower levels of crime 

and disorder within the 
NTE. 

 
 
Jon McGinty 
CI Gosden 

 
 
CI Gosden 

  

2. Understand and address actual levels of anti-social behaviour and the harm that accompanies it. 

 
 

a. Community Building & 
Strength Based Working 

 
 
 

 
 
Amount of community building 
activity that is on going in the 
county 

 
 
Ongoing 
commitment 

 
CSPs currently 
oversee 
community 
building using 
partner agency 
resources. 

 
Funding for activity 
such as ABCD and IE 

 
Accreditation from IE. 
Good news stories. 
Connections made 
within communities 

 
Jon McGinty 
CI Gosden 

 
CI Gosden 
CI Wood 

  

 
 

b. Effective multi agency 
working to reduce the 

 
 
Current levels of ASB 

 
Ongoing 
commitment 

 
Solace Team 
located in 
Cheltenham 

 
Funding and 
resourcing of team 

 
Reduce repeat 
incidents and victims of 
anti-social behaviour 

Jon McGinty 
CI Gosden 

CI Gosden 
 
Louise 
Boyle 

  

P
age 50



25 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safer Days and Nights  
 

Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

impact of ASB 
 
 

and Gloucester by providing a 
consistent partnership 
approach 

 
Ruth 
Saunders 

 
 

c. Take an holistic approach to 
deal with ASB (Diversionary 
activity, RJ, Solace, Aston 
Project) 

 
 

 
 
Levels of reoffending 

 
Ongoing 
commitment 

 
Multi agency 
teams within 
Solace, Aston 
Project, 
Restorative 
Gloucestershire, 
Great 
Expectation 

 
Funding and 
resourcing of team 

 
Reduce repeat 
incidents and victims of 
crime and anti-social 
behaviour by providing 
a consistent 
partnership approach 

Jon McGinty 
CI Gosden 

CI Gosden 
 
Louise 
Boyle 
 
Ruth 
Saunders 
 
CI Wood 

  

 
 
2.4 Create safer and attractive places 
within the County. 
 
 
 
 

 
City Protection Officers, Day 
Safe. 
 
Effective implementation and 
management of PSPOs 
 
CCTV 
 
 

 
Ongoing 
commitment 

 
Multi agency 
teams within 
Solace, NTE 
and Day safe 

 
Funding and 
resourcing of 
initiatives 

 
Safer and more 
attractive areas in 
which to live. 

Jon McGinty 
CI Gosden 

 
CI Gosden 
 
Ruth 
Saunders 
 
Sarah 
Clarke 
 
Steve 
Lindsay 
 

  

3. Understand and address Hate Crime/Incident and its impacts   

 
 
 
 
3.1 Deliver the County Hate Crime/Incident 
Strategy  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Current levels of hate crimes 
and incidents. 
 
Hate crime champions in 
constabulary – police officers 
and staff - 90 individuals.  
 
Community Hate Crime 
Champions - partners - 700 
individuals. 
 
 

 
Ongoing 
Commitmen
t 

 
Police county 
wide hate crime 
coordinator 
(constable) to 
support strategy 
 
County wide 
strategic hate 
crime 
coordinator 
(civilian) from 
Victim Support  
Services to 
further support 
strategy. 
 

 
Funding and 
resourcing of team. 
 
Change  in policing 
priorities 

 
Number of reports to 
increase  due to 
improved confidence in 
reporting hate crimes 
and incidents. 
 
Accurate data 
recording & capture. 
 
Victims referred to a 
wide range of support 
services. 
 
Reduce repeat 
victimisation & increase 
victim satisfaction 

 
Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 

 
CI Morford 
 
PC 
Lawrence 
 
Phil 
Sullivan 
(County 
Strategic 
Hate Crime  
Group) 

  

4 Understand the true county profile for stalking and harassment and seek to prevent harm at the earliest possible stage 

P
age 51



26 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safer Days and Nights  
 

Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

 
 
 
4.1 Explore the possibility of a “stalking 
clinic” with partners to consider risk and 
take collective appropriate action 
 

Baseline: 
The offending rates  
Measure: 
How has this changed post 
activity 

 
Sep 2017 
 
 
 

All agency 
commitment 

Lack of dedicated 
resource/funding 
Ongoing agency 
support.  Training and 
expertise. 
 

Reduction of repeat 
instances of stalking.  
Better outcomes for 
victims of high risk 
stalking.  More 
cohesive response 
across agencies. 

Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 
 
 

DCI Ocone   

 
4.2 Ensure that police workforce and 
partners understand what constitutes 
stalking and harassment recording such 
and taking appropriate action  
 

 
Monitor the success of training, 
short medium and long term. 
How trainees they used the 
training. Use feedback to 
improve future training. DA 
Satisfaction survey live in 
January 

 
Mar 2018 
 

 
Police training 
resource 
 

Extensive nature of 
training across county 
and agencies matched 
against resources to 
deliver. 

Improved identification 
and recording of 
offences at an early 
stage.  Most positive 
outcomes including 
restraining orders.  
Fewer repeat offences. 

 
Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 
 

 
DCI Ocone 

  

4.3 Deliver an awareness campaign 
externally 
 

Baseline: 
The offending rates based on 
trigger factors 
Measure: 
How has this changed post 
activity 

 
April 2019 
 

Communication
s Team 

Resources and 
funding needed to 
deliver such a 
campaign. 

To improve public and 
multiagency awareness 
of stalking.  To 
increase early reporting 
and promote action to 
be taken.   

Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 
 

DCI Ocone   

5 5. PROTECT - Safeguard those who are subjected to domestic abuse and reduce the actual incidence of it. 

 
5.1 All-agency training and awareness-
activities 

 
Monitor the success of training, 
short medium and long term. 
How trainees they used the 
training. Use feedback to 
improve future training. DA 
Satisfaction survey live in 
January 

 
Sep 2018 

 

 
Availability of staff to 
deliver training to 
Competing priorities 
for training resource, 
particularly in light of 
police recruiting 

 
To improve victim 
satisfaction and 
criminal justice 
outcomes.  To improve 
public confidence and 
thus reporting. 
 

 
Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 
 

 
DCI Ocone 

  

 
5.2 Cohesive survivor-focused criminal 
justice processes.  (Domestic Abuse Best 
Practice Framework) 
 

 
Monitoring of outcomes for DA 
criminal justice processes e.g. 
charges, discontinuance rates 

 
Ongoing 
 

  
Restrictions placed by 
national criminal 
justice processes.  
Multiagency working 
and impacts of 
austerity. 
 

 
To improve victim 
satisfaction and 
criminal justice 
outcomes.  To improve 
public confidence and 
thus reporting. 

 
Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 
 

 
DCI Ocone 

  

 
5.3 Effective all-agency risk assessment 
and risk mitigation. 
 

 
Audit activity 
 

 
Ongoing 
 

 
Commitment 
from agencies 
involved in 
domestic abuse 
response 

 
Volumes of risk 
assessments and 
need to provide 
consistency of 
approach. 

 
Better informed risk 
assessment and 
decision-making 
leading to earlier 
intervention 

 
Jon McGinty 
DCI Neil 
Smith 
 

 
DCI Ocone 

  

P
age 52



27 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safer Days and Nights  
 

Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

including police, 
GDASS, GCC.  
 

. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority  
 

Safe & Social Driving  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

1. Educating to enable early intervention and prevention 
 

Road Safety education for children &young people (0-15years) Interactive road safety education for Key Stages 1 to 4. Programme includes: pedestrian safety, awareness of moving traffic at pedestrian 
crossings, safe disembarking from a bus and being a safe and aware car passenger. 

 
New Journey- 
Training up to 300 Y8 students from 10 
schools to be road and personal safety 
mentors for their schools new Y7 intake 

 

 
No of children taking part in 
road safety by key stage. 
 
Pre and post education-session 
evaluation. 
 
Monitoring of ChiMat data for 
injuries on the road for under 
14s. 
 

 

Activity – 
daily in term 
time. 
Measureme
nt - 
quarterly. 

 

 
SkillZONE life 
skills centre 
road safety and 
travel zones. 
 
SkillZONE staff 
and volunteers. 

 

School engagement 
availability of trained 
deliverers.  

 

 
Reduction of children 
injured on the road. 
 
Children know: where 
to cross a road safely, 
how to double-check 
for traffic, the 
importance of avoiding 
distractions and how to 
travel safely on the bus 
and by car.  

 

   

 
 

P
age 53



28 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safe & Social Driving  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

New Journey for SEN students. 
Travel training and pedestrian safety for 
students with a disability.  

 

 
 
Measured by GCC SEN 
Enablement Team 
 

10 sessions 
in May/Jul  

 

 
SkillZONE life 
skills centre 
SkillZONE 
Volunteers 
GCC SEN 
Enablement 
Team 
Stagecoach bus 
and driver 
 
 

Lack of availability 
from Stagecoach 
Funding for 
accessible facilities 
Availability of SEN 
team 
 

First steps to becoming 
a safe and social road 
user. 
 
Driver awareness of 
two wheel transport. 
 

    

Bikeability- 
Offered to every school in county. FSM 
child are free for Yr5/6/7. This involves on 
road cycling training  
 

 
Attendance of students  
Repeat bookings 
Qualitative feedback from 
teaching staff/volunteers 
School and pupil questionnaire  
 

2 days in 
July 

SkillZONE life 
skills centre. 
 
GFRS staff 
SkillZONE 
Volunteers 
 

Schools unable to 
meet the cost of the 
session. 
 
Recruitment of 
SkillZONE volunteers  
Over subscription  
Committing the 
extracurricular time  
 

Students understand 
how to ensure their 
safety  
 

    

School Police Liaison Officers- 
Engaging with schools throughout the 
county and educating young people.   
 

 
Trialling Road Safety 
Presentations as an optional 
program for school. Assessed 
through a post questionnaire.  
 

Sept-July 

 
PPE 
Bikeability 
instructors  
Education 
resource 
material 
 
 
 
Liaison officers  
Education 
presentations  
 

School engagement 
especially secondary 
school engagement.  
 
 
 
School engagement  
Liaison officers 
capacity 

 
To highlight the 
hazards of being a 
passenger, pedestrian 
and a cyclist. 

    

2. Road Safety Education for Young People (16-24yrs) 

P
age 54



29 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safe & Social Driving  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

Drive iQ - An online, free road safety 
certificated course (Before commencing 
Drive IQ for the next academic year an 
evaluation will be carried out). 

No. of schools, students 
engaged, completions. 
Qualitative reports  
Psychometric testing of attitude 
change 
Reduction in collision stats (exp 
group v’s control) 

Sep-Jul 
Co-ordinator  
GFRS 
OPCC 

School engagement. 
Lack of student 
interest 
Cessation of the 
national Drive iQ 
model. 
Availability of GFRS 
staff. 

Establish the 
foundations of best 
practice for drivers and 
passengers so as they 
promote safe and 
social driving 
behaviours 

    

 
Drive for Life - A one day, multiagency 
timetabled event providing road safety 
education through practical exhibits and 
theoretical workshops  
 

Student questionnaire 
Community/school feedback 
 

Minimum of 
4 events 
 
Sep – Jul 
 
 

Co-ordinator  
OPCC 
GFRS 
GCC 
Glos 
Constabulary 
The hosting 
school 
GFRS 
Glos 
Constabulary 
 

Partnership 
engagement 
Availability of key 
staff/resources 
Time scale for each 
project 
 

Positively reinforce the 
attitudes and 
behaviours of young 
drivers  
 
 
 

    

Wrecked - A workshop designed to reduce 
the harm caused by drink and drug driving. 
(Before the next academic year this will be 
reviewed and evaluated to see if it is still 
effective.) 
 
 

Number of bookings 
Number of students educated 
Student evaluation 
questionnaire 
 
 

 
Sep – Jul 
 
 

 
Co-ordinator 
GFRS 
OPCC 
 

 
Availability of key 
staff 
School 
engagement/time 
Length of workshop 
 

Developed 
understanding of the 
risks  associated with 
impaired driving 
 

    

bypass thE daNGER - A workshop aimed 
at empowering passengers to ‘speak up’ 
(Before the next academic year this will be 
reviewed and evaluated to see if it is still 
effective.) 
 
 

 
Number of bookings 
Number of students educated 
Student evaluation 
questionnaire 
 

Sep-Jul 
 
 

 
Co-ordinator 
GFRS 
OPCC  
 

 
Availability of key 
staff 
School 
engagement/time 
Length of workshop 
 

 
Ability to make 
informed choices as a 
passenger  
 

    

What if... Roadshow - A film and on-stage 
testimonies detailing the long-lasting 
effects of an RTC-  
 
 

Pre and post questionnaires 
Social media 
Number of schools engaged 
Number of schools attended 
 

Feb-Mar 
 

Co-ordinator  
GFRS 
Gloucestershire 
Constabulary 
OPCC 
GW Air 
Ambulance 
Charity 
The Severn 
Major Trauma 

Funding from 
sponsors. 
Engagement of 
schools/colleges (half 
a day off timetable) 
Venue availability 
 
 

Raised awareness of 
how good decisions 
and choices can 
control outcomes and 
reduce risk 
 
  
 
Drivers understand 
their limitations and 

    

P
age 55



30 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safe & Social Driving  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

Network 
 

increase their 
awareness of sharing 
the road  
 
 

Eyes on the Road -  A workshop designed 
to reduce the harm caused by ‘failing to 
look properly’, with particular reference to 
vulnerable road users 
 

Number of bookings 
Number of students educated 
Student evaluation 
questionnaire 
 
 

Quarterly  
 
 

Co-ordinator  
GFRS 
Gloucestershire 
Constabulary 
OPCC 
GW Air 
Ambulance 
Charity 
The Severn 
Major Trauma 
Network 
 

Availability of key 
staff 
School 
engagement/time 
Length of workshop 
 

To help young people 
from being 
criminalised.   
 

    

What if…? Roadshow- We will consider if 
it would be beneficial to run a What if..? 
Roadshow on a quarterly basis for young 
people facing criminal Convictions. To Link 
with Young People becoming adults  (Kate 
Langley) 
 

 
These will be piloted and we will 
run a case study.  
Post questionnaires  
Court outcomes after attending 
 

Quarterly 
 

Co-ordinator  
GFRS 
OPCC 
Internship 
 

Availability of key 
staff 
Engagement of 
young people 
engagement/time 
Length of workshop 
 

Raised awareness of 
how good decisions 
and choices can 
control outcomes and 
reduce risk 
 

    

New Technology and innovation 
To use new technology to educate young 
people on the hazards on our roads.  
 

We will pilot new technology 
through schools and also open 
days 

Throughout 
the year 
 
 
 

Co-ordinator  
GFRS 
 

Availability of key 
staff 
School 
engagement/time 
Length of workshop 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

    

3. 3. Road safety education for Adults (24+) 

P
age 56



31 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safe & Social Driving  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

Biker Down – Motorcycle rider education 
focussed on incident & casualty care 
 
 

Attendees 
Qualitative feedback 
questionnaire 
 

 

 
Delivered by 
external 
partners & 
volunteers 
 
SkillZONE life 
skills centre,  
Motorcycle, 
resuscitation 
dummies and 
presentation 
facilities 
 

Lack of trainers 
Lack of client take 
up 
 

Attendees increase 
their safety awareness 
 

    

 
NDORS  

 (National Driver Offender Retraining 
Scheme)  Driver and rider education 
programmes as an option to punishment 
for a range of motoring offences. NDORS 
courses will be delivered to all clients 
referred by participating police forces for a 
range of offences. 

  
11. The suite of NDORS courses being 

delivered will be: 
 
 
 

No. of courses/referrals 
 
Client evaluation questionnaire 
 
NDORS & Driver Education 
Gloucestershire monitoring 

 

Driver 
Education 
Gloucestershire 
licensed by 
NDORS 
 
Driver Training 
Team licensed 
by NDORS 
 
Participating 
Police forces 
 
Admin Team & 
on-line booking 
system 
 
Local venues 
where licensed 
appropriately by 
NDORS 
 

PCC/Police/Govern
ment ceasing to 
support the NDORS 
process 
 
Availability of key 
trainers/venues 
 
Failing to meet the 
quality standards of 
NDORS 

Recidivism rates 
evaluated on a national 
level by NDORS  
 
Analysis of 
questionnaire to 
establish learning 
outcomes and 
improved awareness of 
the relevant safety 
issues 

 

   

P
age 57



32 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safe & Social Driving  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

National Speed Awareness for drivers 
and riders who have been detected 
speeding within an agreed threshold. 
 

No. of courses/referrals 
 
Client evaluation questionnaire 
 
NDORS & Driver Education 
Gloucestershire monitoring 

 

 
Driver 
Education 
Gloucestershire 
licensed by 
NDORS 
 
Driver Training 
Team licensed 
by NDORS 
 
Participating 
Police forces 
 
Admin Team & 
on-line booking 
system 
 
Local venues 
where licensed 
appropriately by 
NDORS.  

PCC/Police/Govern
ment ceasing to 
support the NDORS 
process 
 
Availability of key 
trainers/venues 
 
Failing to meet the 
quality standards of 
NDORS 
 
 
 

Recidivism rates 
evaluated on a national 
level by NDORS  
 
Analysis of 
questionnaire to 
establish learning 
outcomes and 
improved awareness of 
the relevant safety 
issues 
 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 58



33 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

Priority  
 

Safer Cyber  
Year : 2019  

Activities Baseline and Measurement By When Resources Risks Outcomes 
Suggested 

Owner 

Suggested 
Contributo

r 

Suggested 
Strategic 
Objective 
Linked NO 

Status 

 
1. Ensure that citizens and businesses have the knowledge and ability to defend themselves against Cyber Crime 

 

1.1 Gloucestershire Constabulary will 
deliver relevant harm reduction advice 
within all communities, with particular focus 
on vulnerable people and local businesses, 
which is responsive to current trends.  
(Completed see below). 
 
 

An increase in public 
confidence around the safe use 
of technology and their ability to 
keep safe when going online in 
Gloucestershire. 
Increased confidence in where 
to go to access relevant, cost-
effective cybercrime prevention 
advice. 
A high level of confidence in the 
cybercrime prevention advice 
being provided through 
academic partners to target 
younger members 

This 
element is 
now in 
place as 
business as 
usual, but 
requires 
continual 
oversight 
and 
manageme
nt. 

Constabulary 
officers and 
staff 
County 
academic 
partners 
Regional 
policing 
colleagues 

That the public in 
Gloucestershire will 
not have the right 
knowledge and 
understanding of the 
threats posed through 
cybercrime, to keep 
them safe from harm, 
having a significant 
adverse impact on 
their health, wellbeing 
and financial 
prosperity. 

A mature library of 
harm reduction advice 
now sits with our Force 
Control Room Staff, 
available to be provided 
at the first contact with 
the FCR.  
 
This is supported with 
regular training inputs 
to these staff to aid 
recognition of the 
subjects. 
 
The Local Resilience 
Forum is a mature 
platform for local 
businesses to seek 
support and advice on 
Safer Cyber matters. 

Brett Mallon Victoria 
Brinton 
 
Darren 
Peters 
 
Insp Di 
Blandford 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

1.2  
Multiple inputs have been provided for a 
variety of community and school groups 
giving the Safer Cyber message, the 
emphasis is now on encouraging groups 
into ongoing self-delivery. 
 
 

Baseline - Ad -hoc 
presentations by local PCSOs 
on their specific area. Using 
non-standard content. 
 
Measure- Organised and 
directed inputs across the 
county to schools and groups 
with consistent approved 
content. 

End of 
School year 
2019 

School Beat 
officers. 
 
Local PCSOs 
 
Harm- 
Reduction 
Team. 

Failing to engage with 
school children and 
vulnerable community 
groups will leave 
those most at risk of 
exploitation vulnerable 
to cyber criminals and 
paedophiles. 

This is now business as 
usual for the 
constabulary, with 
direction set by the 
Safer Cyber Priority 
lead and given to the 
wider team by the 
Cyber Harm reduction 
team. 
 
In the last quarter alone 
27 separate inputs 
were given to an 
audience of 2899 
individuals. 
 

Brett Mallon Victoria 
Brinton 
 
Darren 
Peters 
 
Insp Di 
Blandford 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

P
age 59



34 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

1.3 
A centrally held library of Safer Cyber 
content created or approved by the Harm 
reduction team will be compiled. 

Baseline- Inputs were 
presented using self-generated 
content by PCSOs, providing 
low consistency of the message 
and restricting some PCSOs 
who lacked suitable material. 
 
Measure- All presenters (in 
force and partners)  are to have 
access to centrally held and 
updated Safer Cyber material 
and presentations. 

January 
2019 

Harm Reduction 
team. 
 
Safer Cyber 
Lead. 
 
National Safer 
Cyber partners 
(NCSC, NCA 
and others) 

Lack of consistent 
material will limit the 
reach and impact of 
our work. 
 
PCSOs and partners 
who lack this support 
may decline to give 
inputs, leaving many 
individuals outside of 
our reach. 

Third party material is 
scanned by the Harm 
Reduction team and 
assessed for content 
and relevancy; 
approved material is 
added to our library of 
content to be delivered. 
 
Partnership working 
between the Harm 
Reduction team and a 
working group of 
Gloucester schools is 
producing Safer Cyber 
material and lesson 
plans for teachers to 
present. 

Darren 
Peters 

Victoria 
Brinton 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

1.4 Gloucestershire Constabulary will 
move focus of Safer Cyber messaging 
away from business (which now has 
existing support); towards the general 
residents of the county. The ambition is to 
‘industrialise’ a simple harm reduction 
message and deliver this at scale to every 
resident and pupil.  
Utilising a ‘train the trainer’ approach 
involving Neighbourhood Watch, the 
school system, volunteers and trusted 
partners. 

An increase in public 
confidence around the safe use 
of technology and their ability to 
keep safe when going online in 
Gloucestershire. 
Increased confidence in where 
to go to access relevant, cost-
effective cybercrime prevention 
advice. 
 
The knowledge and confidence 
of police officers and staff to 
deliver this message will also be 
measured; an increase will 
improve the service delivered to 
our community. 
 
Increased Safer Cyber 
knowledge and simple steps 
taken by everyone could reduce 
reported cyber crime 
dramatically (NCA suggests up 
to 60%). 

This is in 
the 
preparation 
phase. 
Initial hopes 
for a pilot 
during 
April’19 
have been 
pushed 
back to the 
end of May/ 
early June. 
This is to 
ensure the 
message is 
properly 
crafted and 
suitable for 
the 
audience. 

Harm Reduction 
Team; NHW 
coordinators; 
Community 
Alert; Schools 
input. 
 
Third party 
organisations 
showing interest 
and willingness 
to help to date 
include the 
GCC and NHS. 

Without targeting the 
public at an individual 
and family level, we 
risk the message 
continuing to be 
perceived as niche 
and our communities 
continuing to leave 
themselves vulnerable 
to preventable crime. 

Improved harm 
reduction content. 
 
Improved internal 
processes. 
 
Improved partnership 
collaboration.  

Brett Mallon Victoria 
Brinton 
 
Darren 
Peters 
 
Insp Di 
Blandford 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

 
2. Reach every resident within Gloucestershire with an industrialised Safer Cyber Message 

2.1 Source existing Safer Cyber material 
and guidance from third parties and review 
for relevancy and simplicity of message. 
 
 
 

Baseline – Existing Safer Cyber 
messages are typically long, 
complicated and overly 
technical. 
 
Measure – Simple, succinct 
messaging is needed, with 
clear signposting to further 

June 2019 Harm Reduction 
Team. 
 
Safer Cyber 
Lead 
 
National 
partners 

Unless we actively 
review and signpost 
the best Safer Cyber 
messages, the public 
will not engage and 
follow the message, 
or be able to act upon 
it. 

Refined simple 
messages that can be 
easily understood; 
easily repeated and 
welcome early action 
by those with basic 
computer competence 
have been crafted 

Brett Mallon Victoria 
Brinton 
 
Darren 
Peters 
 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

P
age 60



35 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

technical support  
Traditional messaging 
is unfit for our most 
vulnerable 
communities. 

and/or sourced. 

2.2 Test our simplified message against a 
subject group of the elderly. Develop the 
message based upon the feedback, to 
ensure it is understood and effective. 

Baseline- existing messages 
are unproven in effectiveness. 
 
Measure – Simple, effective 
message, with an evidence 
base of testing feedback. 

July 2019 Safer Cyber 
Lead (Brett 
Mallon) 

Unless the message 
is refined and proven 
to work, our 
presumption of using  
‘train the trainer’ and 
community advocates 
will fail. 

Still awaiting testing 
phase; delayed by time 
needed to craft and 
source appropriate 
messaging. 
 
‘5 Simple Steps’ 
message being 
developed – to reduce 
the risk of %80 of cyber 
crime. 
 
This will fit in with the 
Older but not 
overlooked priority. 

Brett Mallon Phil 
Sullivan 
(Lead for 
older but 
not 
overlooked
) 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

Delayed – 
not yet 
started 

2.3 Pilot the ‘train the trainer’ and 
community advocate approach within 
Gloucestershire Constabulary 

Baseline- current levels of 
confidence and Safer Cyber 
awareness prior to the pilot (to 
be determined by staff survey). 
 
Measure- Improved confidence 
and awareness (through 
secondary survey). 
 
Measure – Number of 
attendees at inputs and the 
number who then disseminate 
to family. 
 
Measure- improved welfare of 
officers who will be confident in 
delivering safer cyber advice to 
the public and who can protect 
themselves and their families. 

July 2019 Harm Reduction 
Team 
 
Digital 
Intelligence Unit 
 
NHW 
Coordinators 

Failing to test the 
message and ensure 
that the supporting 
material is easy to find 
and use will stop any 
momentum building in 
the subject and defeat 
the approach. 

Library of content. 
 
Scripted presentations. 
 
15 minute drop in 
sessions, before and 
after work and at 
lunchtimes for two 
weeks. 

Brett Mallon  1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

2.4 Compile a selection of compelling 
Case Studies to gain public interest. 

Baseline- some good case 
studies exist, but are ad-hoc. 
 
Measure- a prepared library of 
case studies and supporting 
illustrations/ posters/ 
presentations; that any 
presenter can call upon. 

July 2019 Brett Mallon 
 
Harm Reduction 
Team 
 
Digital 
Intelligence Unit 
 

Safer Cyber 
messages often seem 
irrelevant to the public 
and so we lack 
engagement. 

Prepared material to be 
shared. 
 
Engaged audience, 
enthused to share the 
message with family 
and friends. 

Brett Mallon Digital 
Intelligence 
Unit 
 
Victoria 
Brinton 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

2.5 Launch ‘5 Simple Steps’ message 
through Neighbourhood  Watch scheme 
and Community alerts system – using a 
community advocate system to deliver the 
message directly to small personal groups 

Baseline- current Safer Cyber 
delivery is through police 
resources into schools and 
community groups. We have a 
growing  base of interested 

Sept 2019 Brett Mallon 
 
Harm Reduction 
Team 
 

Unless we use a 
tested and well co-
ordinated approach, 
we risk this falling flat 
and becoming 

Aim for blanket delivery 
through the NHW 
coordinators and single 
generation repetition. 
This would reach 

Brett Mallon NHW team 
- Simon 
Bailey 
& 
Bob Lloyd 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

P
age 61



36 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

and encourage the audience to share with 
immediate family. 

helpers who are being trained 
to deliver our content. 
 
Measure – 1500 NHW co-
ordinators being used to deliver 
to the 50,000 NHW members. 

NHW 
 
Media team 

background noise on 
cyber security. 
 
Some of our most 
vulnerable residents 
(elderly) are closely 
linked to the NHW 
and would miss this 
harm reduction.  

50,000 members 
directly and their 
immediate family. 

 
Victoria 
Brinton 

2.6 Create a Safer Cyber events calendar 
within the Harm Reduction team; to 
coordinate our messaging and events with 
internal and external partners and third 
party events. 

Baseline – No such calendar 
existed to refer to. 
 
Measure – Effective calendar to 
co-ordinate activity by Glospol. 

Feb 2019 Harm Reduction 
Team  

Lack of coordination 
with third party events 
and media launches 
risks duplicating work 
and sending mixed 
messages. 

The Harm Reduction 
team now work to a 
Safer Cyber calendar, 
with scheduled 
fortnightly Safer Cyber 
messages and linking 
in with national and 
international Safer 
Cyber campaigns. 

Victoria 
Brinton 

Brett 
Mallon 
 
Darren 
Peters 

1.1 
1.5 
2.1 
2.3 

 

3 Increase the Constabulary capability to detect, understand, investigate and disrupt hostile cybercrime, pursuing and prosecuting offenders 

3.1 Increase the capacity of the Digital 
Intelligence Unit, to include dedicated 
cyber investigators 

Baseline – DIU was set up as a 
skills and knowledge resource 
to support the constabulary; it 
had no capacity to investigate. 
 
Measure – The DIU will have 
specific capacity and remit for 
ownership of specialised cyber 
dependent crime 

January 
2019 

X1 PC cyber 
investigator 
 
X1 Civilian 
Cyber 
investigator 

Lack of specialist 
investigation capacity 
pushes this to CID – 
who lack the required 
skills. Risking 
offences going 
undetected. 

We now have the first 
trained cyber 
investigator within DIU; 
the 2nd is due to start in 
June 2019. 
 
Active cyber 
investigations are 
bringing offenders to 
justice, protecting the 
public from harm and 
helping inform our 
wider Safer Cyber 
message. 
 
 
 
 

Brett Mallon PS Matt 
Puttock 
(DIU) 
 
 

3.2 
6.1 
7.2 ish 

 

3.2 Integrate the digital intelligence unit 
into mainstream policing and 
investigations. 

Baseline- Glospol is in a 
stronger position than most 
forces, with a strong DIU 
supporting officers. 
 
Measure- Bring the DIU support 
into all aspects of policing and 
broaden awareness and 
demand for our service. 
 

Sept 2019 Digital 
Intelligence Unit 
 
 
Brett Mallon 

Without embedding 
digital skills with front 
line officers, we will be 
unable to respond 
effectively to at least 
60% of all crime and 
we will lose relevancy 
and legitimacy. 
The public  will 
receive a poor service 
and lose confidence in 
the police. 
 
Gloucestershire 
Constabulary would 

Our Digital investigation 
capability is now a 
mature team in the 
constabulary and inputs 
into most major crime 
and homicide 
investigations and 
supports a network of 
locally based informed 
officers (DMIs) who 
support every day front 
line policing. 

 Brett 
Mallon 

 3.2 
6.1 
7.2 ish 

 

P
age 62



37 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

not be fulfilling its 
obligations to 
contribute to the 
national cyber security 
strategy and bridge 
the cyber / information 
security skills gap. 
 

3.3 Gloucestershire Constabulary will be 
proactive in steering talented individuals 
away from cyber criminality, resulting in 
the disruption of potential organised crime 
that would leverage such skillsets. 
 

An increase in the number of 
talented individuals in 
Gloucestershire employed into 
the cyber / information security 
arena. 

We have no 
protect 
trained staff 
at present – 
this is in the 
work stream 
of the DIU 
to fill. 
 
Anticipated 
capability – 
Aug/ Sept 
‘19 

Officers/ Staff 
with knowledge 
of both Cyber/ 
Digital issues 
and trained in 
prisoner 
debriefing, are 
required. 
 
Currently some 
provision is 
through the 
Harm Reduction 
team, utilising 
regional events, 
but we wish to 
improve upon 
this. 
 
 

Cyber offenders are 
not identified and 
diverted away from 
crime – leading to 
increased criminality 
and a loss of talent to 
the cyber security 
field. 
 
 

Cyber/ Digital offenders 
will be diverted away 
from crime. 
 
Intelligence received on 
persons of interest will 
be swiftly acted upon to 
capture the interest and 
steer towards legitimate 
avenues at an early 
stage (the ‘talented 
teenager, reported by 
concerned parents 
scenario’) 

 Brett 
Mallon 

Regional 
Cyber 
Crime Unit 
and 
Prevent 
resources 

1.1 
1.2 

Put on hold 

4. Innovate and develop further relationships with partners to ensure that the Constabulary have the necessary tools and skills to combat cybercrime effectively 

4.1 Gloucestershire Constabulary will 
continue to work with our specialist Police 
Support Volunteers and commercial 
partners to increase our technology, 
knowledge and effectiveness against the 
prompt and effective investigation of 
cybercrime. 
 
 
 
 
UPDATE: 
The movement of our focus has put this on 
hold – our resources are best used to 
reach the public widely with a simple 
message and leave the high end 
development to partners with time and 
resources to achieve this. Our brief will 
move to a watch and use approach, to 
adopt useful tools after they have been 
developed. 

The Constabulary will improve 
its Research and Development 
programme through the use of 
Specialist Police Support 
Volunteers, enhancing the 
operational effectiveness of 
Constabulary employees 
through the introduction of new 
capabilities and processes. 

Put on hold Constabulary 
officers and staff 
Specialist Police 
Support 
Volunteers 
Commercial 
‘Cyber’ partners 
Regional 
policing 
colleagues 

That Gloucestershire 
Constabulary will not 
operate with 
legitimacy in the area 
of cybercrime and 
capabilities to 
effectively investigate 
and prosecute 
cybercriminals will not 
be fit for purpose in a 
world of fast paced 
technological change 
and more digitally 
competent 

Our existing level of 
knowledge and 
competency is already 
as high as any police 
force. We have steered 
several national 
programmes and we 
can now step back from 
direct involvement. 

Brett Mallon  2.4 
4.1 

Put on hold 
regarding 
further high 
end 
development 

4.2 Gloucestershire Constabulary will Continuing to work alongside  Digital That the Constabulary Our Cyber crime Brett Mallon PS Puttock 1.5  

P
age 63



38 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

continue to develop staff and partner 
knowledge to mainstream cybercrime, 
making it business as usual. 

external partners, the 
Constabulary will improve the 
effectiveness of combatting 
cybercrime through continual 
development of new and 
effective approaches and 
developing staff knowledge to 
ensure the workforce is capable 
and confident on matters of 
cybercrime. 

This 
element is 
now in 
place as 
business as 
usual, but 
requires 
continual 
oversight 
and 
manageme
nt. 

Intelligence Unit 
 
Harm Reduction 
Team 
 
Schools Team 
 
Learning and 
Development 

will fail to prevent 
cybercrime locally and 
in support of regional 
and national threats. 

processes and advice 
provision are 
increasingly mature. 
 
Cyber crime and Digital 
enquiries are 
increasingly understood 
to be business as usual 
for policing – this does 
still require the central 
knowledge and skills 
held, but we have 
achieved a major goal 
of bringing this into 
everyday policing. 

(DIU) 
 
Victoria 
Brinton 
 
Darren 
Peters 

4.1 
4.3 ish 

4.3 Gloucestershire Constabulary will 
continue to work with other statutory 
agencies and Local Resilience Forum 
members in exercising around the 
potential aftermath of a critical cyber 
enabled incident, enhancing the resilience 
and business continuity of the 
Constabulary and wider county critical 
services. 

The Constabulary will establish 
and exercise a new resilience 
model that takes into account 
the risks and response 
requirements around 
cybercrime civil contingencies. 

Put on hold Constabulary 
officers and staff 
Regional 
policing 
colleagues 
Local Resilience 
Forum Members 
Partner 
statutory 
agencies 
 
The expertise 
for this sat with 
Ian Maxted, who 
no longer works 
in this arena. 
New events are 
on hold 
currently. 

That the Constabulary 
will be unable to fulfil 
both its statutory or 
moral duties regarding 
civil contingency 
where the incident is 
as a result of 
cybercrime 

Multiple successful 
events have been held, 
but the general learning 
and structure from 
these events was not 
widely shared – this 
approach needs 
revisiting, to become 
process driven instead 
of personality driven. 
 
This will be adopted 
within the DIU, through 
the increased staff 
recently acquired. 

Brett Mallon  4.1 Put on hold 

4.4 Expand the Constabulary YouTube 
channel to host Safer Cyber content, in 
support of our messaging and cyber 
inputs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Baseline – Current YouTube 
content is entirely ‘Strategic 
messaging’, with nothing aimed 
directly at residents to keep 
them safe from harm. 
 
Measure- Suitable third party 
content will be sources and 
added and new content 
created. 

Aug 2019 Harm Reduction 
team 
 
Brett Mallon 
 
Third parties – 
Glos Uni 

Easily accessible and 
convenient content is 
necessary to engage 
with the public, who 
are expecting more 
than dry written 
advice. 

Multiple short video 
clips (average 30 
seconds long) on 
specific topics. 

Brett Mallon Priority 
lead for 
Young 
People 
becoming 
adults. 

4.1  

 
4.5 Seek support and partnership from 
local students, to design and create Safer 
Cyber educational videos for 
YouTube….generating relevance and 
awareness for us and an opportunity to 

Baseline- Glospol has no Safer 
Cyber content of this fashion, 
but has explored student 
support in other areas. 
 
Measure- long tem partnership 

June 2020 Glos Uni Not using common 
platforms risks 
missing large parts of 
the community. 
 
Not presenting 

Excellent bespoke 
content that meets our 
constabulary needs. 
 
Early engagement with 
talented youths with 

Brett Mallon Glos Uni 4.1 This is yet to 
be started. 

P
age 64



39 | Police and Crime Plan 2017/21 - Delivery Plans 
 

showcase talent for the student. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

with the university, that can be 
used to create and update a 
changing library of content. 

content in a familiar 
format risks the 
message being 
ignored. 

computer skills 
(anticipated to help 
PREVENT strategy 
also). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Police & Crime Plan – Delivery (2017-21)  

PCC PCC 

Police and Crime Panel Communities 

Accessibility 

& 

Accountability 

Older 

but not 

overlooked 

 

Young 

People 

becoming 

adults 

 

Safer Days 

& 

Nights 

Safe  

& 

Social Driving 

Safer 

Cyber  

Chief Supt 

Jo Smallwood 

Phil Sullivan 

 
Kate Langley T/ACO Mark Astle  

       GFRS  
Alan Johnson  

Supt. 

Gareth Morris  

Chief Inspector  

Richard Pegler 
Supt.  

Paul Dutton  

Chief Inspector  

Roddy Gosden  

 

DCI Neil Smith  

Supt. 

Emma Davies  

 Corporate Strategy 

Jon McGinty 

Det. Insp  

Brett Mallon  

Police & Crime Plan Plan Commitments  

Green &  

Pleasant County  

Compassionate  

Approach  

Hilary Allison  Hilary Allison  

Gary Thompson  Chief Inspector  

Richard Pegler 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

 

 
 POLICE AND CRIME PLAN PRIORITIES  -  QUARTERLY HIGHLIGHT REPORT  

 

 

1. Aims and Priorities 

 

The Police and Crime Commissioner’s aim is that the Police and Crime Plan will be delivered 
through the inclusion and involvement of the many partnerships and communities in Gloucestershire 
with the aim of making it a safer place in which to live and work. 
 

The Police and Crime Plan is being delivered through: 
 

 Priority 1 – Accessibility and accountability 

 Priority 2 – Older but not overlooked 

 Priority 3 – Young people becoming adults  

 Priority 4 – Safe days and nights for all 

 Priority 5 – Safe and social driving 

 Priority 6 – Safer cyber 

 Commitment – A compassionate approach  
 

Delivery plans for the above Priorities will be continually developed throughout the period of the 
Police and Crime Plan 2017 to 2021 and will aim to deliver value for money. 
 

The purpose of the Police and Crime Plan Priorities Quarterly Highlight Report is to provide all 
stakeholders with an update that monitors progress in respect of each of the Priorities, to include: 
 

 activities achieved during the current quarter; 

 activities expected during the next quarter; 

 any risks or issues identified will be managed through the risk and issue registers; 

 overview of budget. 
 

 

This report is a summary against activities.  Members should note that this information is 
retrospective for the reporting quarter mentioned; as such it is an executive summary.  Due to 
report production timescales, information and updates may have since been superseded and will be 
updated in future reports. 
  

Report Number 
20  
 

Report Period January – March 2019  

Author Richard Bradley   

To Police and Crime Commissioner 

Version V1.0  

Date 24 January 2019  

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

2 | P a g e  

 

2. Quarterly update on progress for period  

 

 
Accessibility and accountability 
 
Intent: 
To get the right resources to the right situation or problem first time, every time, on time and dealing 
with the matter appropriately and effectively 
To realise the ideal of the local officer working in and with the communities of Gloucestershire 
 

 
1 

 
1.0  - Provide sufficient funding to increase Police Officer numbers subject to 
Government Grants 
2018/19 and 2019/20 precept bids completed and ongoing recruitment and training of new staff. 
 
New Human Resources Dashboard built and available to provide the Constabulary real time 
data re- establishment, vacancies and more 
 
Precept recruitment and timeline developed in Work Force System (WFS) and tracking and 
management through WFS. Structured prioritisation of recruitment aligned with both new 
student officer recruitment and Business as usual recruitment. Tracked and managed against 
financial backdrop and Police and Crime Plan priorities 
  
Financial Governance shared responsibility OPCC and Constabulary 
 

 
2 

 
2.0 - Assessing contribution of the Special Constabulary in line with Citizens in Policing 
portfolio in order to ‘double’ the impact and activity. 
 
During this quarter we have seen the final planned cohort of student Special Constables’ start 
on 13 March. The figures below will show a total of 28 Special Constables’ in training and some 
of them are due to attest and complete their initial training on Saturday 13 April. 
 
This is a positive outcome in terms of recruitment however we also have a number of Special 
Constables who have recently been successful in applying to join the regular force during the 
current campaign. 
 
Trained and professional Special Constables are a great addition to the Constabulary regulars, 
however there is always an impact on Special Constables numbers and therefore capability. 
Our focus remains the contribution in terms of our volunteers’ time, impact and outcomes linked 
to community Concerns and Time Based Tasking with Neighbourhood Policing colleagues as 
well as supporting specialist functions and Safe and Social Driving agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

3 | P a g e  

 

 

Total Operational Special Constables 120 

Non-operational Special Constables 9 

Non-active Special Constables (LOA)  2 

Sub Total Current Special Constables 131 

Special Constables’ in training 28 

TOTAL CURRENT SC 159 

  Independent Special Constables’ 56 

Non-Independent Special Constables’ 75 

  Transfers "In" progressing 3 

Transferees "out" progressing 1 

Potential total Special constables’ 161 

 
Early 2019 has seen the extension of Op Indemnis, the Special Constables contribution to 
Road safety. In addition to owning responsibility for the A417, Cirencester Road, they have 
recently taken on responsibility for the A419. These are arterial routes that are deemed to 
present the highest risk locations for speeding and safety as well as criminal activity. 
 
Other work streams the Special Constabulary remain responsible for include periodic drink 
drive campaigns and are key players in the various monthly road safety initiatives as well as 
contributing to local neighbourhood Speed watch campaigns where possible. 
 
Future focus will bring Special Constables in line with regulars operating on Street Safe and 
offering additional support to local Night Time Economy businesses as well as keeping our 
public safe. 
 
Further work in Gloucester and Quedgeley with our Cadet Team focussing on local resident 
and business issues (ASB, Shop theft), visibility patrols has resulted in positive engagement, 
learning opportunities for our cadets as well as intervention and prevention re offenders.  
 
Use of social media grows to share our activity and deployment 24/7. 
 
Police Cadets  - Quarterly update 
 
January  - Hours  
Cadets: 473.5 hours  
Cadet Leaders: 131.44 hours 
 
Wednesday Sessions   
* Included Cyber Safe, Data, Positive Digital Footprint, Visit from Response, Sign Language, 
Community Alerts, Firearms Containment, ANPR/Vehicle Stop Checks, Specials and Stroud 
Safe.  
 
Events 
* 17th Jan: Visited Echoes Youth Club – joined in with a variety of activities such as pool, 
colouring, sports, video games and engaged with the younger children. 
 
 
 

Page 71



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

4 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 
Other 
* Cadets page on the Gloucestershire Constabulary was updated and re-worded. 
 
* 50 Community Alerts and 48 alarms were distributed in Tesco Quedgeley. 
 
* Mini bus bookings are being requested through the police cadet inbox from the following 
departments: Aston Project, Force Choir, Force Control Room, Force Cross Country, Learning 
and Development and Police Cubs. 
  
* Safeguarding online course being distributed to a few leaders  
 
February  - Hours 
Cadets: 397 hours  
Cadet Leaders: 175 hours 
 
Wednesday Sessions  
* Included Sign Language: Part 2, Severn Area Rescue, Special Constabulary, First Aid, Roads 
Policing and Road Safety.  
 
Events  
* 9th Feb: Gloucestershire Constabulary hosted an event for the regional Volunteer Police 
Cadets (VPC) at the Gloucestershire Rugby Club.  Police Staff from the Police Cadet Schemes 
in Devon and Cornwall, Wiltshire, Dorset and Avon and Somerset were in attendance as well 
as our own team.   
 
* 15th Feb:  Passing Out Parade  
 
Other 
* Various community alerts were set up over February by Ben Rollins with 2/3 Cadets at a time 
to go to various areas across Gloucester. 91 community alerts in total. 
 
March - Hours 
Cadets: 212:30 hours 
Cadet Leaders: 96:30 hours 
 
Wednesday Sessions  
* No Wednesday sessions 
 
Events  
* 13th Mar – Speed Device Training  
* 17th Mar – Traffic Op  
* 20th Mar – Crime Prevention Leaflet Drop  
* 24th Mar – High Sheriff Declaration  
* 28th Mar – Treasure Seekers Show  
* 30th Mar – Community Engagement (Tewkesbury) 
 
Other 
* PCSO Jenny Norris joined the CIP team on attachment.   
 
* Specials have agreed to take part in the Cadet Programme – they have been added to the 
Cadets duty sheet and will complete a Disclosure & Barring Scheme (DBS).  
 
* Visited a potential Cheltenham Cadet Unit – next cadet location? This is still in its early 

Page 72



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

5 | P a g e  

 

stages. 
 
 
Overview 
Total hours contributed  
Cadets – 1.082 
Cadet leaders - 403 
 
 Nov 18 – Feb 19: 38 Expressions of Interest  
 64 Cadets + 4 TS Cadets = 68 Cadets  
 39 Cadet Leaders 
 
 
Citizens In Policing - Volunteers update 
 
Four New Volunteering Roles Approved This Quarter: 
 

 Bike safe Outride Observers - 3 qualified riders being recruited  
 

 Volunteer Community Mentor (Mentoring children at risk of going missing) – 4 
volunteers have been sent application forms 

 

 Uniform Services Volunteer (Assisting at times of spikes in demand) – 1 current 
volunteer has applied to undertake this 
. 

 Intelligence Research Volunteer – 1 current volunteer switching roles from *Multi 
Agency Safeguarding hub (MASH) / Central Referral Unit (CRU) Support role to 
undertake this. 

 
Recruiting into Previously approved roles: 
 

 1 new volunteer commenced the Crime Archivist role that was approved in the previous 
quarter. 

 2 New volunteers are being vetted to come in as Role Players. 

 1 New HAD has joined the callout scheme. He is vetted now and up and running.  

 1 New Volunteer has been recruited subject to vetting as “Watch Support Volunteer” to 
assist the Forest of Dean Neighbourhood Watch Field Officer in Coleford. 

 7 Masters Student Research Volunteers have been recruited. Security checks have 
commenced their research into strands of Community Harm Reduction Team (CHRT) 
work in this quarter.  

 1 New Volunteer recruited subject to vetting for *MASH/CRU Support Volunteer role. 

 2 New Local Policing Team Fleet care Drivers recruited. 1 Check Drive completed and 
ready to go, the other currently in the vetting system. 

 1 New Validation/Verification volunteer for Forensic Services recruited and in the vetting 
system. 

 1 New CHRT/Comms + Engagement Volunteer recruited and in the vetting system.  

 1 New Cadet Leader recruited and in the vetting system. 

 1 New Independent advisory Group Member security clearance received. 

 11 Severn Area Rescue Association (SARA) Search Volunteers received security 
clearances in this quarter. (2 in the previous quarter, 7 are still in the vetting system and 
4 have not submitted papers). 

 
New Role being considered/revisited 
 
ANPR Back Office Function for Community ANPR Speed cameras and Speed watch results. 

Page 73



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

6 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

  
3.0 Harness efficiencies from technology to put more boots on the ground, to increase 
visibility, accessibility and engaging with our communities 
 
Continued activity and developments tracked and managed through our Mobile Front Line 
program of work. 
 
Digital Program ongoing and assessing opportunities from remote capability for mobile phone 
downloads, developing proactive and protocols with Criminal Justice System.  
 
Body Worn Video – distribution to operational staff. Showcase of footage and evidence 
gathering shared with Constabulary Independent Advisory Group. Benefits and outcomes 
tracked through Criminal justice in terms of early guilty pleas and evidential support to cases. 
Ongoing activity to understand the preventative benefits in terms of assaults on officers, ASB, 
and crime. 
 
Force Control Room  and public contact program – please see full update at 6.0 
 
Community Alerts – ongoing development and engagement with our communities. 
Community Concerns part of daily business and linked to Time Based Tasking. 
 

4  4.0 Deter and prevent crime and anti-social; behaviour rather than merely responding to 
it, reflecting the modern crime prevention strategy 
 
Remains at the Heart of our Neighbourhood Policing and Harm Reduction approaches. Critical 
updates include 
 
School beat - Our School beat initiative has 6 dedicated school’s officers and is funded by the 
PCC and the increase in the policing precept in 2018. This project is continually developing and 
6 School beat Officers have now been recruited.  4 started in September 2018 and started 
delivering School beat Curriculum material in January 2019.  2 further officers have been 
recruited in March 2019 and are currently undergoing training etc. with a view to starting in 
June 2019.  The work is still being managed within Community Harm Reduction Team (CHRT) 
with a view to mainstreaming operational activity into Neighbourhood Policing (NHP) over the 
following 12-24 months whilst retaining some central co-ordination of delivering centrally within 
CHRT.  The first set of Key Performance Indicators (KPI) data will become available in June 
2019 (following the conclusion of the first term in which curriculum material has been delivered). 
 
Intensive Engagement 
Building on work previously shared All Neighborhood staff will soon be trained on intensive 

engagement delivery to develop their Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) approach 

to NHP in partnership with CHRT. 

CHRT have developed a training plan for all NHP staff which will be rolled out over the next 12 
months. The plan will support every aspect of NHP with an emphasis on prevention, young 
people and long term problem solving 
 

 
5  

 
5.0 Be available to residents and offer reassurance and a familiar face they can have 
confidence and confide in. 
 
Remains at the Heart of our Neighbourhood Policing and Harm Reduction approaches.  

Page 74



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

7 | P a g e  

 

 
Continued investment in and development of local PCSOs in all Local Policing Areas and 
Districts. Current review of working patterns alongside NH Policing teams to offer support, 
focussed activity against demands, engagement and relationship priorities. The Intensive 
Engagement program links us with partners and community representatives to offer a very 
different trusted relationship and engagement opportunity with our communities. Developing 
work with NHS Trust to take this a step further and work with multi-disciplinary teams in local 
communities. 
 
Special Constabulary alongside our Cadets continue to work in local communities (residential – 
businesses) to offer visibility, reassurance, focussing on engagement and relationships. 
 
Vulnerability and School beat officers – finalised recruitment phases will enable the 
Constabulary to offer a known and dedicated officer to- schools, vulnerable locations and 
individuals as identified through our tasking, MoRile and risk review processes.     
 
Social media updates by team’s offers a different experience for communities and an ability to 
‘see’ where officers and staff have been and are (track my patrol being a great example).  
 
Continued investment in local surgeries, drop in sessions and NEV, KEV deployments underpin 
our approach. 
 
Technological options are being explored and other routes for contact via our Public contact 
Program (please see update at 6.0) 

 
 

 
6 

 
6.0 Review how the public can communicate with the Police and assess their services. 
Whilst improving traditional channels of communication, they will develop new channels 
appropriate to all ages, demographics and communities to give people a choice and 
convenient ways of accessing their services   

 
Force Control Room 

6.1/6.2/6.3 Force Control room – performance and process update 

 
 
 
 

Page 75



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

8 | P a g e  

 

For the last quarter 999s were answered in an average of 8.4 seconds. 71.2% of calls were 
answered in less than 10 seconds  
 
In 2018 in the same quarter average performance was 20.2 seconds with 42.2% answered 
within 10 secs 

This is an improvement against previous figures but should be viewed in context of demand. 

In Q1 2018 we received 17487 x 999 calls 

In Q1 2019 we received 19009 x 999 calls 

 

Baseline staffing establishment has been reviewed and the new Force Forecasting and 
Planning meeting is looking ahead at demand spikes. There is an additional focus within 
Contact looking purely at first contact demand to forecast and plan our requirements. This is 
resulting in less overtime and improved service delivery. We have seen significant reductions in 
overtime costs. We are exploring shift pattern efficiencies.  
 

 Performance dashboard now in place and performance information broken down by 
team  

 Pending quote return to place screens in the room to visualise capacity, demand and 
performance to staff in line with ‘nudge theory.’ Live info charts in development. 

 Continue to see workforce turnover and illness challenges – this appears consistent with 
other call centre environments but we are scanning and working with Workforce 
Strategy Group to explore retention contract options. 

 Front office reception staff supporting emails and to be trained as call handlers (ongoing 
2019) – reception staff now on-board with Force Control Room staff training 

 FINESSE call management software to launch June 2019 and will articulate 
performance per handler and capacity – some delay down to providers. This will also 
allow more dynamic control of the room and functions within – as well as individual 
performance.  

Precept bid for creation of Contact and Customer Care Manager to recruit Contact 
management expertise and transition department lead  – this has been agreed and is currently 
advertised 

 

In Q1 2018 we answered 101 calls in an average of 3 minutes 51 seconds 

In Q1 2019 we answered 101 calls in an average of 3 minutes 42 seconds 

This is a slight reduction in wait on last year. We have still prioritised 999 calls. Taken against 
industry standards does not necessarily indicate cause for concern (no national target) – but is 
subject to further review and focus. 

Internally we are focusing on our staff contact details being correct as many have listed contact 
details as the reception number – this often results in calls being returned to the Force Control 
Room. 

A new Forecasting and Planning Meeting is set to plan using predictive analytics against an 18 
month rolling horizon – improving our flex and response to higher demand periods. Proof of 
concept being tested as part of Operation Peak – our response to peak demand anticipated in 
July. 

Reception staff now under Force Contact Portfolio with training infrastructure to bring 
consistency to contact management and optimise resource (supporting online demand, incident 
criming and will receive selected 101 call demand later this year). 

Feedback and Service recovery function now under Contact – to standardise and process 
manage messages of thanks & dissatisfaction plus capture learning themes – OPCC recently 

Page 76



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

9 | P a g e  

 

updated and trailing use of same system 

 
6.8 Public Contact Programme & Our Approach to Public Contact 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Kindness, compassion, pride & care are at the heart of how we deliver service to our 

communities. 
 
 

The Public Contact Programme (PCP) – A review of our victim-centred & public contact 
processes. Includes several interdependent tranches of work, using evidence to drive activity 

Contact & Incident Control –  Force Control Room (FCR) Evolution 

Great service first time - clear messaging & managed expectations 

Single Online Home  

Setting the standard for how the public can contact us online and ensure it is consistent with 
other channels 

Victim and Witness care 

Dependable follow-up, keeping victims informed 

Feedback & Customer Care - Our approach to Public Contact  

Understanding and learning from feedback to enhance public service 

Becoming Trauma Informed 

Recognising & Responding to Trauma 
 

PCP Objectives 

 

• Contact & Incident Control - to manage initial contact in a way that is compassionate, 
consistent and that appropriately meets the needs of the individual. Delivering a service 
that is intelligent, personalised, reassuring and effective at the earliest point of contact. 
Effectively prioritising incidents against vulnerability need and demand. 

• Feedback and Customer Care -  to embed a focus on public service and victim/witness 
care, consistently manage feedback across the Constabulary - where appropriate 
moving away from misconduct. By capturing learning from positive feedback and 
dissatisfaction we aim to continually improve the quality of service we provide to the 

Page 77



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

10 | P a g e  

 

public. 

• Single Online Home / Channel Management – To adopt Single Online Home (SOH) as 
a national solution offering  a standardised website and service provision for all police 
forces – streamlining and optimising online public  contact channels. It will offer a 
national unified digital service to the public, who will not need to go separate forces to 
report a crime as the SOH routes to where the crime occurred. 

• Victim & Witness Care – to place the victim at the heart of everything we do, ensuring 
we meet the Victims Code of Compliance and Victims Right to Review. Updating victims 
and Witnesses on police investigations in a timely and effective manner 

• Becoming Trauma Informed – embed a continual commitment across the constabulary 
to recognise signs of trauma, stress and adversity. Colleagues at all levels and in all 
roles adapt what they do based on an understanding of the impact of trauma and the 
specific needs of trauma survivors. 

 
6.4 A new dispatch exercise to feed public engagement is in process of assessment by Comms 
and Engagement prior to roll out to OPCC & Independent Advisory Group - – ambition is help 
inform decisions over self-service and deploying resources.  
 
6.5 Hosting 250 visitors to FCR to improve awareness – over 2200 visitors hosted and continue 
to rise. 
 
6.6/6.7 New collaborative forum with Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service (ambo invited) to 
look at control training, JESIP, and opportunities – currently scoping shared drone video feed 
options.  

 

6.9 People 

Leadership & Away Days booked quarterly with Force incident Managers (FIMS) to discuss 
best practice and barriers. Now joined with Force Response Unit leaders and front line staff to 
build relationships and shared problem solving around despatch/resourcing incidents. 

Development of a wellbeing room within the Control Room to provide a safe and calm 
environment to re-charge and relax for staff operating in 999s and 101 environment 

 
Receptions Update 
In December 2018 following a bid to align Gloucestershire Constabulary’s public contact 
functions, line management and governance of front of house reception staff moved from 
Estates to Contact and Incident Control. This included all reception staff, vehicle recovery and a 
supervisor post.  
 
The ambition was to bring consistency and continuous professional development across 
contact channels – be it online, telephony or attendance in person. Equally it was recognised 
that reception staff have capacity to contribute to wider areas of contact when not receiving 
visitors. Reception staff now on-board and train with Force Control Room call agents to support 
consistent service delivery. They attend Continuous Professional Development training days 
alongside contact staff and have commented positively in the investment in their development. 
They are also now supported by a Contact Workforce meeting, Wellbeing forum and Health & 
Safety review – this has led to a number of recommendations for improved and safer working 
environments.  
 
Reception staff now support online public contact channels and have been trained in crime 
inputting. We have reviewed ICT training and access to systems and have ensured they are all 
Police National Computer (PNC) trained to support them and optimise their roles. We are 
launching a call system called Finesse in June - with a new call routing setup, certain 101 calls 

Page 78



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

11 | P a g e  

 

will be able to be channelled to available front office staff to additionally support public contact 
and optimise our workforce. 
 
We have completed the initial draft of ‘Our Approach to Public Contact’ that will shape our 
customer care standards and aspiration moving forward. This is currently subject to 
consultation with Chief Officers.  
 
A paper is with the Chief Officer group considering reception options for Cheltenham municipal 
building and HQ.  
 
A further report has been submitted to Chief officers following National Police Chiefs Council 
(NPCC) recommendations over a national approach to found and lost property. This 
recommends we follow national guidance but additionally also continue to deal with reports of 
bicycles, watches and jewellery.  
 
We are introducing a demand and workflow mapping tool to improve our understanding of 
footfall and enquiry demand within receptions. 
 

6-6.9 

 FINESSE call management software to launch June 2019 and will articulate 
performance per handler and capacity – some delay down to providers. This will also 
allow more dynamic control of the room and functions within – as well as individual 
performance.  
 

 Single Online Home has been brought forward and is commencing launch April 2019 
for full go live November 2019. This will deliver online reporting and signposting for 
numerous issues and represents a significant uplift in online offer.  
 

 Prioritisation and Demand Control From precept - Staff to be recruited April 2019 to 
provide 24/7 support in FCR to arbitrate incident allocation, review incident grading's 
against demand, maximize opportunities for resolution at source & improve 
management of public expectations – public will be given different messaging at point of 
non-emergency incident grading. They will be informed incident will be reviewed against 
force demand and they may receive further contact if we seek to address differently in 
light of demand pressures.  
  

 Recruitment of Contact management expertise to transition departmental lead and 
optimise department.  

 

 Development of Feedback and Customer Service and Care  
  

 Sign off and launch of Our Approach to Public Contact as part of Public Contact 
Programme. 

 

 
7  

 
7.0 Develop a plan between the Constabulary, the OPCC and local communities to 
maintain and develop neighbourhood policing in their communities. 
 
 
See update at 3,4,5,&6 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

12 | P a g e  

 

 
8  

 
8.0 Mounted Police update 
The Mounted Section was made permanent in September 2017 and is currently 
accommodated at Highnam Court Equine on the outskirts of Gloucester. 
 
The Mounted Section is managed within Community Harm Reduction Team (CHRT). With the 
primary purpose/role of the section relates to; 
• Prevention 
• Problem Solving 
• Reassurance 
• Engagement & Relationship building 
 
A two year business plan (2018-20) has been developed by CHRT in order to plan for the 
transition of the section from project to business as usual. Issues have arisen with capacity and 
capability with riders and training which has impacted on the sections ability to deploy to further 
work and support the sections aims and objectives. However over 90 deployments over a year 
period to a variety of events have been completed to date. 
 
Recent activity includes deployment at Cheltenham Festival where the section provided a 
visible reassurance presence and were interviewed by BBC Crime watch. 
 
Future resilience and development opportunities are being explored alongside sponsorship 
opportunities. 
 
 

 
9  

 
Rural Crime update   
 
Continued support is provided through our dedicated rural crime officers and liaison officers to 
all rural areas. We continue to build our relationships and engagement with partners (National 
Farmers Union, Wildlife Crime Engagement Group and many others). Critical to supporting our 
rural communities is understanding the issues being faced, supporting and developing our 
approaches and building trust and confidence in The Constabulary and its focus on rural 
crime/needs 
 
The Wildlife Crime Engagement Group continuous to meet building trust and confidence with 
interested partners and protector groups. (The only group of its kind in the region). Its Terms of 
Reference (TOR) is shaped so that governance comes via ‘ACA’. Working with Raptor Groups, 
Angling Trust and Badger groups this winter. 
 
The Xmas and New Year period saw a dramatic increase in reports of hunt related crime from 
both protectors and the hunts. Tewkesbury - Of note PC Mawdsley has 2 cases of illegal 
hunting before the Crown prosecution service (CPS) for charging advice from this period.  
 
Forest Of Dean – PC McDay continues to run anti-boar poaching operations with the Forestry 
Commission and is working with them to address how we prevent ‘Raves’ in their woodland 
after the recent incident in March. Additional activity includes the broader Rural Crime Team 
taking part in a rural crime and burglary operation with West Mercia, targeting prevention on the 
Forest of Dean and Tewkesbury border. 
 
Awareness training continues to be delivered to Student Officers and FCR staff. The training is 
now jointly delivered by FCR Dispatcher Victoria Parker and a member of the Rural Crime 
Team.  
 
The Constabulary investment in drone technology and use also will affect and support our 
activity in rural areas with 3 Rural Crime Officers have been trained to fly drones to increase our 

Page 80



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

13 | P a g e  

 

operational capability. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Accessibility and accountability – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 
No information provided  

 
 

Accessibility and accountability – Good News Story  

 
No information provided  
 

 
Older but not overlooked 
 
Intent: 
That older people need to feel and remain an active part of our communities whether they live in their 
own homes or are in residential care 
Both should be part of the police beat with the local officer being visible and proactive with all 
vulnerable groups 
 

 
1 

 
Gloucester Older People’s Association 
This organisation has carried out a series of events and attended events throughout the County 
delivering information leaflets from Police, Fire, and Age UK on health & wellbeing, crime 
prevention and general safety. In the last quarter two more Board Members have been appointed. 
 
The group has delivered another 2 “Performances” and these have once again been really well 
received with one being attended by the PCC ambassador, Lady Bathurst. 
 
Around 40 more people have benefited from attending these sessions and of the 33 evaluation 
forms completed by some of those attending, everyone has said they feel better informed and 
better equipped to deal with scam callers. 
 
Age UK Gloucestershire and the Ageing Well Group feel we have achieved well on the aims and 
objectives of the project. 
 

 
2 

 
Forest Upcycling 
This quarter has seen the project trying to find gardening work in the winter months which is never 
easy. They have, however, undertaken a 5-day job at the Children’s Services Centre, which they 
were able to heavily discount thanks to the grant from the Police & Crime  Commissioner.  They 
also had a referral from the charity Green Square to help a family in Ruspidge with an overgrown 
garden.  
 
As usual the machinery has undergone repairs and replacement as necessary due to the heavy-
duty work undertaken. Strimmer’s, hedge cutters and brush cutters bear the brunt of the work they 
do on this project as many of the gardens are very overgrown.  
 
At the outset of this project they anticipated receiving referrals from PCSO’s for gardening that 
needed doing for victims of crime.  This, however, has not been the case but they have found 

Page 81



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

14 | P a g e  

 

vulnerable people to support in different ways. Future bids for a similar project would probably 
involve more collaboration with other service providers, such as social workers, to ensure the right 
people are receiving the help on offer.  
 
 

 
3 

 
Roots Community Café 

Roots continue to provide a high quality, low cost and friendly coffee shop, which acts as an 
hospitable social setting. Staff get to know many of the customers and are able to support them 
where necessary. The community space continues to be used for a variety of groups and 
community activities. February half term saw rock painting; craft club and lego club take place for 
children. There was also a sugar craft group run for adults one evening. These activities are 
offered free of charge in a bid to be accessible to all. Many of the events are run using volunteers 
and the monthly events, such as the Fix It Cafe and £1 Community Meal, are well attended. The 
project has 60 volunteers supporting it. 
 

 
4  

 

Gloucester Bike Project 

The aims of the project are to help older people (over 50s); 

Stay physically active for longer 
Maintain good networks of friends  
Create volunteering opportunities for people aged 50+ 
To incorporate safety advice and messages as part of courses for older people. 

 

The courses and workshops continue to be very popular amongst older people, both men and 
women. Courses for the next 2 months are fully booked. 
 
The Keeping Safe information sheet and the booklets themselves continue to be available to all 
participants on the workshops and as a takeaway for those who wish to share the information with 
others in the community. 
 

  
5  

 
Stonehouse Memory Project 
Postcards and posters are displayed in public places throughout the town. Medical clinician’s 
signpost clients to the project. 
 
They have an entry in the local edition of the Standbrook Residents’ Handbook and also gave 
talks to local social organisations and councils highlighting this project. 
 

They have re-designed the projects postcards, using the format of the roll-up banner purchased 

with OPPC funds 

 

 
6  

 
Be Social Winchcombe 
Be Social’s aims and objectives have now been added to the information given to all new tutors 
who sign up.  

“…The focus is on supporting those in the local area who may have more time on their hands 

following retirement, perhaps need additional help due to common age-related health issues, or 

just an excuse for getting out of the house - be that for exercise, to try something new, for 

company or just to feel part of the community.”  
 
The document also emphasises the responsibility of the tutors to promote their classes 
themselves in addition to the marketing support they receive from Be Social.  

Page 82



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

15 | P a g e  

 

 
The ethos behind Be Social was also emphasised in the January monthly newsletter and  shared 
in the communication information regarding the Drop-In. 
 

 
7  

 
Churn Project  

This project continues to provide a valuable resource in the community for isolated and lonely 

older people. 

 

Numbers attending the groups continue to grow, the average attendance is 18 -20 people.  

   

They have had 2 new members this quarter and a number of people who have attended sessions 

on a one off basis who they have been able to signpost on to other services provided at The 

Churn or in the community. For example, they now hold a group for Macular Support once a 

month at the Churn and 2 from this group now benefit from attending. 
 

 
8 

 
Gay Glos 
This organisation has been instrumental in many initiatives relating to Hate Crime and Incidents. 
Examples of this are; 
 
1. The development of a Power Point Presentation. This is for awareness training for partners of 
the County Hate Crime Strategic Group and the organisations they represent. Over 500 people in 
the County have been trained during these 2hour sessions. 
 
2. The development of an Educational Sub Group for Hate Crime and Incidents which has in turn 
developed common content for schools on Hate Crime which links to bullying, and an agreed 
method for schools reporting incidents to both the County Council 175 Audit and the Hate Crime 
Strategy data base. 
 

 
9 
 

 

Treasure Seekers – The Cavern  

The organisation continues to provide numerous services to young and old and vulnerable people 

in the City. The end of term show held at Waterwells brings together staff and clients and 

demonstrates the excellent working relation between them and also highlights the outstanding 

achievements of the organisation and the staff, volunteers and management team and their 

clients. 

 

 
10 

 

Together in Matson 
The work of this organisation continues to impress. Recently, in addition to their normal 
widespread provision, they have carried out an impressive amount of work in relation to outside 
activities. They now have sections on wild life, raised planting beds for older people to use with 
ease, a crazy golf course, a garden room, a range of outdoor musical instruments and a Safari 
Park for children. 
 
All of this has been consulted on with the community, worked on by many of them and is now 
being used by them and their children. 
 

 
11 

  
Stroud Valleys Project Wildwork. 
Participants are undertaking physical outdoor work. 
Participants are attending regularly and working together as a team with a strong bond. One 

Page 83



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

16 | P a g e  

 

volunteer has taken the initiative to share what she does with the group on her social media page. 
Work undertaken during the quarter includes carrying out practical conservation work at a 
community field in Berkeley, Rowcroft Medical Centre, Queen Elizabeth II (QE II) Playing field and 
St Augustine’s Farm. They have made a link with Sunflowers Suicide Support Charity and will be 
helping to create a memorial garden with them in the next quarter. 
 

 
12 

 

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust-Bright Futures 
The project continues to record Warwick Edinburgh Mental Health and Wellbeing and Nature 
Relatedness at the beginning and end of the course.  Course feedback and comments also taken. 
 
As most of the course attendees go on to volunteer with the Trust, they are aware of the 
individual’s progress. The success of the project is helping them shape the next stage and they 
are adapting the delivery model for other Trust projects. 
 
 

 
13.  

  
Keep Safe 
The 31st March 2019 saw more involvement of PCSO’s in all areas and they now are involved in 
identifying new shops to be added to scheme. 
 
The Keep Safe video, made in conjunction with the communications team of the OPCC, continues 
to be shown at all events and any talks attended. 
 
Working closely with the Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) Alliance they have together 
embedded a map on the Keep Safe website showing all shops and businesses supporting the 
scheme. 
 
They have also created a questionnaire to be emailed out to businesses, asking how they have 
helped vulnerable people. This will be circulated once the Your Circle link is available for the 
project to refer them to. 
 

 
14  

 

County Hate Crime (HC)  
The County Strategic Hate Crime and Incident group goes from strength to strength with 30 

countywide organisational representatives attending the February Hate Crime Strategic Group 

meeting at Police HQ. There were also a further 23 members giving their apologies. This high 

level of membership is largely achieved by the excellent work of the VS County Hate Crime 

Coordinator. The Hate Crime Strategic Action Plan was reviewed for the meeting and the 2018 

outcomes were presented along with the 2019 actions for the year. The action plan continues to 

be a live document.  

 

The County VS Hate Crime Coordinator arranged for Tue Hong Baker to deliver a presentation 

relating to the role of the CPS in relation to hate crime prosecutions, and shared data on local 

hate crime prosecution levels. The group found this both useful and informative.  

 

The Coordinator continues to develop initiatives such as:  A survey for the community hate crime 

champions which will be distributed in the next few weeks to identify outcomes from the 

widespread awareness training. The opportunity for 8 Victim Support volunteers to attend the 

Community Hate Crime Awareness training. Many of these have also undertaken the Victim 

Support enhanced hate crime training.  

 
 

Page 84



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

17 | P a g e  

 

 
15 

 

Wiggly Worm Gloucester Community Kitchen Project 
This project is now working closely with Kingfishers Treasure Seekers and through The Cavern 
and Chuck boos projects, targeting suitable participants. They have delivered cooking sessions 
for a range of participants and have completed an additional 10 sessions. 
 
The partnership with Kingfisher Treasure Seekers is now well established and they are 
developing new projects together to support some of Gloucester’s most vulnerable people.  

 

 
16  

 
Neighbourhood Watch  
This project is on track having been used in conjunction with the Community Engagement 
Vehicles at daily visits such as at the following: - Sainsbury’s at Barnwood, Gloucester and 
Gallagher Retail Park Cheltenham, Tesco’s Bishops Cleeve, Leisure Centre, Tommy Taylors 
Lane, Cheltenham, as well as at Whaddon and Charlton Kings.  
 
Also at set up meetings for Gloucester Road, Overbrook Drive, Shurdington Road, Newland 
Crescent, Kingfisher Drive, Fairhaven Street. NHW/Crime Prevention event at Barclays Bank, 
Cheltenham. Cycle Coding event at Up Hatherley Village Hall where 103 cycles were coded on a 
Saturday morning.  
 

 
17  

 

GL11 Project 
During the reporting period of January to March 2019 they have had 4 training volunteers in the 
kitchen.  

 

They have had 1643 contacts consisting of 291 active individuals, served over 522 lunches to 
vulnerable people in the Community Café and a further 100 Family Friday families benefited from 
a hot and nutritious lunch. The themed lunches continue to attract a new audience to the Hub.  
 
 In January they ran a Burns themed lunch, attracting 27 diners, in February a South African 
themed lunch attracting 15 diners and in March a Japanese Blossom themed lunch attracting 17 
diners.  A number of these diners are new to GL11. 

 

In this quarter they have provided over 40 different community activities ranging from weekly 
GL11 Voices Choir, Art & Chat to Seated Yoga and the monthly Hearing Aid Clinic.   

 
 
18 

 
Targeted input and action by Police lead on OBNO 
Chief Inspector Peglar has given an input to PCSO’s at the forum to promote and increase the 
number of supported accommodation and lunch club visits. 

  
To PCSO’s to continue to support the Dementia Action Alliance and its countywide roll out to 
become ‘a dementia friendly county’. 

  
Chief Inspector Probert has formed a group to look at how the service in Gloucestershire can 
improve the standards of Hate Crime investigation and criminal justice outcomes. The group 
includes Detective Chief Inspector Hanson, who leads on the Victim Code of Practice, and Chief 
Inspector Morford, the Hate Crime and Incident lead. 
 
All Hate Crime is now dealt with by Local Investigation Team (LIT) officers and incidents are 
highlighted on the Daily Management Meeting (‘DMM’) to ensure organizational awareness.  

  
Neighborhood and Harm Reduction Teams continue to develop the use of ‘Your Community 
Alerts’ and use the Neighborhood Watch Schemes.  

Page 85



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

18 | P a g e  

 

 
Ch Insp Peglar has created a champions/super user group lead by Sergeant Eleanor Lakin.  
Performance for March shows that there were 810 new users that month, the 4th highest growth 
nationally and we currently have 4.69% household coverage.   

  
Good news story; PCSO Bev Rowe appeared on the regional news whilst on patrol in Cirencester 
visiting her local lunch club and sharing information with them with regard to Operation Octave.    

  

 
Older but not overlooked – planned activities in next quarter 

 

 

 Continue visits to projects by OBNO lead for OPCC 

 Organise in Partnership Neighbourhood Watch Week events for the County 

 Organise in Partnership Hate Crime activity for the County 

 

 
Older but not overlooked – Good News Story  
 

 
Gloucester Bike Project 
A member of a local congregation contacted this project recently regarding a young person whose 
family were really struggling financially and who couldn’t afford bus fares for their son to go to school or 
to purchase a bike. She asked if they could help by offering the family a bike at a reduced price.  
The projects volunteers were able to refurbish a lovely Trek mountain bike for this young lad and were 
happy to donate it free of charge along with some lights, a lock and helmet. 
The young man was very appreciative and now rides to school every day, at least relieving his mum of 
the burden of having to find bus fare. It’s a small thing, but the project volunteers got a huge amount of 
satisfaction out of being able to so directly help someone in need. 
 

 
Young people becoming adults 
 
Intent: 
To deliver sensitive, relevant and effective policing ensuring our young people become law-
abiding, productive members of society 
To ensure that the ‘system’ must work for them, not against them 
 

 
1 

 
The Constabulary’s Operational Guide to Dealing with Incidents of ASB has been updated to 
implement a countywide consistent approach based on the following principles: early identification 
and information sharing, a commitment to understanding the underlying causes of behaviour, 
partnership working, restorative approaches, high support/ high challenge and a commitment not 
to criminalise children or pull them into a formal system wherever possible, recognising that this 
can have a detrimental effect in the long term. This has been shared with and endorsed by Safer 
Gloucestershire. It has also been shared with all Police Neighbourhood Teams with the offer of 
briefings/training etc... as required. As a result of this new approach we have seen a reduction in 
the number of ASBIs being applied for and granted- 4 in Quarter 1 (April-June 18), 2 in Quarter 2  
(July-Sep 18) and none in Quarter 3 (Oct-Dec 18). There have also been a number of multi 
agency meetings in response to concerns about young people displaying ASB, which has led to a 
decrease in their ASB through a partnership approach. 
 
 
 

Page 86



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

19 | P a g e  

 

 
2 

 
We now have a team of 3 Youth Custody Coordinators who are based in the police station across 
7 days a week during the following hours- 9am-9pm Mon-Fri and 9am-5pm Sat and Sunday. They 
continue to support young people in custody, ensure officers are provided with relevant 
information to support decision-making and facilitate communication with relevant professionals 
and parents/carers. In addition the team operate an advice line for Police Officers dealing with 
child suspects in the community. The team is now managed by the Senior Court Officer within 
YST, and is located within the Youth Justice and Community Teams. This is to ensure there is a 
robust and coordinated response when young people are held in police custody. The Quarterly 
Youth Custody Sub Group to the Youth Justice Partnership Board continue to monitor 
performance in relation to children held in police custody including the length of time children are 
held in custody and the numbers being successfully transferred into the care of the local authority 
to avoid the unnecessary detention in custody overnight. 
 

 
3 

 
The Police And Criminal Evidence (PACE) Transfer protocol has been finalised and signed off by 
Senior Representatives from the Constabulary and Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) (Social 
Care). A briefing was delivered to the Senior Leadership team within GCC and a series of multi 
agency briefings have been arranged in May to include all key agencies that are required to 
adhere to the protocol (police, Social Care, Youth Support Team). We have successfully 
transferred a number of young people to Local Authority Accommodation; however hope to 
ensure this can be achieved in all eligible cases. 
  

 
4 

 
The Centre for Justice Innovation completed their peer support in relation to Children First (CF) 
and made a number of recommendations, which have been incorporated into a Children First 
Continuous Improvement Plan.  The growth bid was submitted to constabulary for increase in 
administrative support for Children First and was successful. A full time coordinator for Children 
First was recruited and is due to start on 16th May 2019. The CF Coordinator will be based within 
the Community Harm Reduction Team and will oversee the delivery of the Continuous 
Improvement Plan and support the Joint Decision Panel.  
 

 
5  

 
Children First has now fully transitioned into the Community Harm Reduction Team- governance 
and operational oversight.  
 

  

 
Young people becoming adults – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 

 Cost Benefit Analysis of Children First 

 Young People Becoming Adults (YBPA) event 13th May, to bring together all projects funded 
under this priority to promote networking and understanding of how project to the Police & 
Crime Plan (PCP) and the YPBA delivery plan in particular.  

 Induction of Children First Coordinator and start to deliver Continuous Improvement Plan  

 Refresh Communication Plan to share the success and outcomes of YPBA Plan to date. 

 Implement training for new officers regarding new approach to dealing with children – meet 
Service Development Unit to agree implementation of children’s awareness training. 

 Focus on performance on areas of the YBPA plan- review of Dashboard to ensure information 
relating to children is accessible and joined up. 

 Ensure there is connectivity between YPBA, Police and other PCP priorities – police leads will 
meet regularly to ensure connectivity. 
 

 

Page 87



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

20 | P a g e  

 

 
  

Young people becoming adults – Good News Story  
 

 
Children First Project 
  
Children First continues to go from strength to strength and this is evidenced by the significant 
reduction in First Time Entrance (FTE), lower reoffending rates and higher levels of victim engagement 
and participation than is evidenced in formal criminal justice outcomes. 
  
In the first year of operation (1st January 2018 to 31st December 2018) there were 243 Youth 
Restorative Interventions (YRI’s) given to 221 Young People as a direct alternative to a formal 
criminalising sanction. 14 young people received 2 YRI Interventions during the above period and 4 
young people received 3 YRI Interventions. 
  
Of the 221 Young People given a YRI, 30 (13.5%) Young People have reoffended: 
18 Young people received another YRI 
  
Of the 221 children initially given YRI’s and the 30 who have reoffended, only 12 have therefore gone 
on to be criminalised for further offences. This means that we have avoided the unnecessary 
criminalisation of 209 children in Gloucestershire in the first year of the project.  
 
The below is an e-mail from the Youth Justice Board in relation to these outcomes. 
 
 
Hello Kate/All, 
  
The reports are clearly showing excellent work being undertaken across a range of areas but 
particularly noted is the YRI outcomes.  To successfully divert so may children from the formal Youth 
Justice system in one year is very impressive and will have a long lasting influence on those who, 
without this intervention, may have been disadvantaged by becoming labelled in the system due to ill 
judgement mistakes made in childhood. 
  
Establishing diversion practice in such a comprehensive way takes a great deal of work and 
commitment from staff in many agencies and I thank all those who have persevered with introducing a 
“culture” as well as a system for treating children and young people proportionally for their behaviors in 
Gloucestershire which generally should be regarded as not inherently criminal by nature. 
  
  
Best wishes 
  

  

 
  

  

 

Page 88



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

21 | P a g e  

 

 

 
Safe days and nights 
 
Intent: 
To better manage the Gloucestershire night-time economy, with alcohol related crime and disorder 
being reduced 
That everyone should be able to go out to our parks, pubs and streets without fear 
 

DA/Stalking and Harassment/Sexual offences 

 
1. There are two ongoing Domestic Homicide reviews (DHR) from 2018.  One case is due back for 

a retrial at Bristol Crown Court in March as the jury in the original trial could not reach a verdict 
on the suspect.  With regards the other case the suspect pleaded guilty in November and was 
given life imprisonment with a minimum term of 29 years.    Cross reference with good work in 
relation to investigation and progression to court. 
 
Update April 2019:  Dee Lawrence was found guilty of the manslaughter of her partner Jack 
Delaney and sentenced to 9 years imprisonment.  The DHR remains ongoing.    The second 
DHR referred to above relates to the murder of Ella Dalby and Laura Boon by Christopher Boon 
in May 2018.  That DHR remains ongoing.  A third DHR is now in the process of being setup 
after Joyce Liddell killed her son Michael Liddell earlier this year.  JL was charged with this 
offence but has since herself passed away.  The DHR is still in the very early stages of being 
commissioned. 
 

 
2. Changes in the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the move to Shire Hall have 

meant there has been a need to redesign some of our Domestic Abuse (DA) processes.  These 
have started to take effect in the last few weeks.  In particular the Domestic Abuse 
Safeguarding Team (DAST) have been posted to work in the MASH so that they can work more 
closely with partners, deliver the daily DA meeting and service Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC).  The DAST Detective sergeant is now responsible for chairing most of 
the MARAC meetings.  The DAST are tightly focused on safeguarding the most vulnerable and 
dealing with high risk cases so that means they spend a lot of time working on MARAC cases, 
Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (DVDS), Domestic Violence Protection Notice (DVPN’s), 
alarms and working closely with Gloucestershire Domestic abuse support service (GDASS).  
Although backlogs remain in the MASH we are starting to make some in roads and bids have 
been made for further staff to assist with this. 
Update:  Ongoing 
 

 

3. A significant rise in the use of protective measures; particularly DVPN’s is a really positive story.  

We have increased our use significantly having previously been criticised by the Her Majesty's 

Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) for not using them as wider as we could/should. Cross 

reference with good news in terms of improved usage and success. 
Update: On going 
 
 

 

4. DCI Ocone remains the regional lead for DA and has been invited to the Home Office on the 28 

Jan to consider the new Domestic Abuse Protection Orders which are expected to be the 

replacement of DVPN/O’s.  This will have a far wider reach.  The Home Office are also 

expected to imminently release the outcome of the DA bill consultation last summer.  That is 

likely to include a DA Commissioners role. 

Page 89



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

22 | P a g e  

 

 
Update:  DCI Ocone is part of a working group set up by the Home Office to determine the 
arrangements for the new Domestic Abuse Protection Orders that will replace DVPN’s.  These 
will be brought into law by the new Domestic Abuse bill.  This group has met twice in London. 
 

 

5. A peer review of MARAC has been completed by Wiltshire and identified some areas for 

potential improvement.  This report will be considered by the MARAC steering group on 

Monday the 21/1. 

 

Update:  Review found process was robust so concentration has now been placed on ensuring 

it is appropriately staffed.  This will include the recruitment of a new MARAC administrator and 

further research capability. 
 

 

6. DCI Ocone did a Radio BBC Gloucestershire interview on the 7th of January talking about 

stalking after our figures rose from 27 crimes in 2016, to 80 in 2017 and 123 in 2018.  This 

increase is generally a good news story as we have spent considerable time and effort in 

training and improving the awareness of our staff in this area.  Constabulary staff are now able 

to better recognise stalking behaviour and crime accordingly.  In addition our crime 

management unit also identify these crimes more successfully and Crown Prosecution service 

(CPS) is more inclined to prosecute them.  As a further safety net our stalking administrator is 

also doing significant work in scanning for such offences and escalating them to my tactical 

lead. These figures can be 

expected to continue to rise. 

 
Update:  Communications and Engagement have just finished a three week stalking and 
harassment awareness campaign.  This culminated in stalking awareness week and included a 
series of public engagement events across the force, internal training and a significant number 
of online/media based events.  There was a good uptake from local media and online. 
 

 
7. The stalking clinic continues.  Funding remains an issue for the Independent Stalking Advocacy 

Caseworker (ISAC) and administrator roles.  We remain one of just a handful of forces 
nationally with a bespoke stalking provision.  One of the cases handled last year involved a GP 
who was stalked by a patient.  At the successful conclusion of that case the victim wrote to me 
to offer her thanks for the work undertaken by the Officer in Charge (OIC), ISAC and the 
intervention of the stalking clinic.  Her final paragraph reads ‘I also wish to acknowledge and 
thank the other members of the Gloucestershire Stalking Clinic.  I am very fortunate that this 
initiative happened to be put in place soon after I reported my stalker to the police, and, I 
understand that my case was one of the first cases to be discussed within it.  I am sure that 
through the efficient exchange of information and ideas, enabled by the multiagency structure of 
the Stalking Clinic that the expertise of the Gloucestershire Constabulary in handling cases of 
stalking is set to become a beacon for other forces to learn from.  It is a recipe for success, in 
my opinion, and I do hope that the importance of the clinic’s service, the role of the ISAC, 
continue to be recognised and funded well into the future’. Cross reference for good news. 

 
 

Update:  Funding for the stalking coordinator and ISAC now agreed via precept bid.  Further 
risk assessment training to be delivered to key personnel in June in Kent.  Increasing numbers 
of reports and crimes. 

 

 

Page 90



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

23 | P a g e  

 

8. Staffing for the Rape and Serious Sexual Offences Unit (RASSO) has seen a significant 
overhaul in the last three months with a new DCI, DI, two new DS’s and a number of other 
staffing changes.  The team has also been brought into alignment with the Criminal 
Investigation Department (CID). Demand remains high and historic reporting remains issues. 
 
Update:  RASSO capacity remains a concern as offences continue to rise year on year. 
 

 

9. The Domestic Abuse Best Practice Framework is a joint piece of work between the CPS, 

Commissioners, Police, HM courts and Tribunal Service (HMCTS).  Its objective is to improve 

the Criminal Justice experience of victims of DA and is a national scheme looking to learn best 

practice and share this across a wide network of subject matter experts.  Launched in 

December 2018 the first iteration of data returns is due in May 2019. 

 

 

10. As part of the precept bid a safeguarding officer (sc6) will be recruited to work alongside the 

RASSO and Neighbourhood Policing team (NPT).  The role profile has been drafted and will 

look to focus on improving trust and confidence amongst sex workers and also improving 

partnership working with other statutory agencies and charities e.g. The Nelson Trust. 

 
Human trafficking and modern day slavery 

 
11. Modern Slavery continues to have broad connections with other crime types and challenges. 

Human Trafficking is effectively the movement, or facilitation of movement, with a view to 
exploit. This link the theme to County Lines, where the young and vulnerable are sometimes 
trafficked to facilitate drug dealing, Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE),  where young girls can be 
moved to be exploited, and the control of prostitution, where sex worker profiles are placed 
online and national networks control the movement of the women to service them. 
Gloucestershire has made positive steps to better understand this latter theme and we have 
positively progressing investigations with partner agencies and a clear safeguarding approach 
to respond to this. This approach has been shared regionally to support other forces with this 
challenge. We have strong processes in place to support our understanding of this area and 
faired very well in the recent Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) inspection around crime recording on this subject (which is far from 
straightforward!).  

 

 
12. Further work is required to better understand potential links with labour exploitation across a 

number of sectors and this requires additional partnership engagement. We continue to be 
benchmarked at number 1 in the country against the National Action Plan, but recognise that 
further progress is required to improve our investigative impact with charges and prosecutions 
under this legislation. Force Lead continues to provide inputs into partner agencies and develop 
processes to ensure information is effectively shared.  
 
 
 
 

ASB and Night Time Economy 

 
13. New initiatives and ongoing work within Neighbourhoods (NH)  

 
Cotswolds - The ‘Yellow Bus project’ in supporting some of our homeless individuals, 
unfortunately there are some funding issues around this at present and the business plan is 
currently under review. Intensive Engagement training has now been delivered to Cotswold 

Page 91



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

24 | P a g e  

 

NHP and Partners with the target area being Moreton-in – Marsh. 
 
Stroud – 10 county lines presentations have been delivered to 2000 13-18year old pupils at 
schools in the district, which has been paid for by the local Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSP). CSP has funded the full programme for Intensive Engagement, with training now having 
been delivered.  Our safeguarding officer/PCSOs are having regular meetings with our local 
supported accommodations both for adult and children; this is in conjunction with PPB. 
 
Forest - Safer Estates rejuvenated with our support - This is a regular multi-agency meeting 
with Housing, Police, and other agencies such as Environmental Protection, The Forestry, 
Street Wardens etc. where issues Forest wide are discussed which are having an impact on the 
community, to establish which agency/ agencies are best suited to deal with the issues and if 
support from other agencies is required, for instance Housing issuing an injunction supported 
by Police. Intensive Engagement in Coleford is now coming towards the 40 week date for 
accreditation and it is looking likely that they will receive a gold standard. 
 
Gloucester – Intensive Engagement training has now taken place with the target area being 
Widden area of the city targeting street sex working, ASB and confidence in reporting matters of 
concern. 
 
Cheltenham – Intensive Engagement in Hester’s Way is now coming towards the 40 week date 
for accreditation. CSP are now looking at setting up a second area within the Town. 

 
Orders and civil injunctions obtained across all areas. 
 

 

 
14. SOLACE update covering Cheltenham and Gloucester  

Gloucester - Officers are continuing to work alongside partners on three strands of street 
aware: 
 

 Street drinkers – working with local PCSO, City Protection Officers to engage and educate 
people seen drinking on the street about the conditions of the PSPO (Public Space 
Protection Order). We are in the education phase at the present time 

 

 Young people – we are pleased to report that there have been no reported incidents to 
Police, Solace or CPOs for the original list of young males who were causing issues in the 
city last year. We have fed back this praise to these young people and their 
parent(s)/guardians. When we have been made aware of further young people causing 
issues, we have undertaken initial visits to young people at home with the Police to discuss 
their behaviour as well as to make offers of other activities they could become involved in 

 

 Begging – we continue to engage with people begging as well as partner agencies to offer 
support to those begging. The team are also working closely with officers in Cheltenham as 
a number of people who have been previously engaged with begging there have begun to 
also come to Gloucester.  

 
 
 
Cheltenham -  
 

 The team were joined by Darren Knight (Executive Director of People and Change) to 
update him on the work of Solace, specifically surrounding our work with those who are 
begging as well as with people who are rough sleeping or homeless. We took Darren out on 
some engagement visits with us and discussed some of our work moving forward 

 

Page 92



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

25 | P a g e  

 

 The team have continued to work closely on intensive engagement and had a further day 
with all the partners involved in the work on this topic. During this time we discussed each 
step on the IE process and in teams took on a step each which we are all currently working 
on 

 

 Along with partners in CBC and the neighbourhood team, we have been preparing for 
upcoming race week. We will be working during the day as well as into the evening along 
with partners. We will be seeking to engage with people begging, making referrals for 
support where required, issuing letters of concern or final warnings to those who are not 
engaging as well as monitoring conditions where people are on existing court orders 

 
 

 
15. Neighbourhood shifts are due to change in September 2019 to support the NTE from both rural 

and urban NHP officers. NTE Training has now taken place at Skill Zone in Gloucester for 
Special Constables to ensure greater support within the NTE. Team building and training at 
Hartpury College in July is being planned for NHP and SC officers to ensure closer working. 
 

 
16. Work has been undertaken to understand predictive demand for Night Time Economy (NTE) 

weekends to allow effective resource planning 
 

 
17. Partnership working continues to strengthen both at a strategic and tactical level supported by 

the weekly joint briefings. 
 
 
 

 
18. An NTE Memorandum of Understanding between partners has now been signed and put in 

place in Cheltenham, this has prevented an individual who wanted to provide paramedic 
services in the town, but did not have the necessary structures / safeguarding in place from 
operating. A similar document is being planned for Gloucester. 
 

SOC and county lines 

 
19. Serious violence and firearms related incidents have reduced as a result of police activity. 

Cuckooing continues as does collaboration between county lines and local drug users as willing 
drug runners and not traditional victims of Cuckooing. We have also seen the use of a vehicle 
being used to deal drugs from rather than a residence. 
 

 
20. Force Crime Operations (FCO) continues to identify and target County Lines with the majority at 

the time originating from the West Midlands area including Birmingham and two recent lines 
from Coventry. Despite the success of FCO county lines and indigenous drug dealing continue 
but in a far more covert/underground way due to the policing style taken. 
 

 
21. Continued engagement through the Serious & Organised Crime Strategic Partnership (SOCSP) 

Prevent plan in place with Cheltenham Borough Council. 
 

 
22. Operation Tarak South West Region County lines partnership campaign and intensification 

week to raise awareness from 13th May 2019 and target County Lines offenders. 
 

 

Page 93



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

26 | P a g e  

 

23. Planning is now taking place in preparation of the third County Lines intensification week. The 
two previous weeks will be reviewed for good practise and the South West Region will be 
contacted for any regional or national plans. 
 

 
24. Force Crime Operations has now taken three other Organised Crime Groups pursue 

investigations in support of their, Op Toronto, Op Javan and Op Gentoo. 
 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

 
25. DCI Power to review Child Safeguarding Board structure around Child Exploitation in order to 

develop partnerships.  
 

 
26. The new County CSE strategy and action plan was agreed in December 2018. 

The Multi Agency Child Exploitation meeting continues to coordinate operational activity 
between partnership agencies.  
 

Commissioners Fund initiatives 

 
27. Student community patrol – partnership working with the Street Pastors and Guardians at the 

NTE partners meetings (working on the MoU for groups out in the NTE), PCSO’ and wider 
policing family - embedded. 
 

 
28. Cheltenham and Gloucester Street pastors continue to support NTE working in partnership with 

the constabulary and local authorities to great effect. 
 

 
29. Sober parrot - developed a ‘Wellbeing Festival’, which started at the end of January, it is 

designed to inspire additional engagement from the wider community during Dry January. Most 
events have been developed with and for the recovery audience. We aim to begin 
conversations around how those in recovery and the wider public can look at developing a 
toolkit to develop sustainable healthy living and alcohol free fun. 
 

 
30. Roots Coffees & Community has continued to provide a high quality but low cost and friendly 

coffee shop which acts as a hospitable social setting.  
 

 
31. Change, Grow Live (CGL) Gloucestershire Drug & Alcohol service have continued to deliver all 

aspects of the alcohol and drug arrest referral scheme alongside the cell sweeps. Working 
relationships with custody staff have been positive throughout and we have seen some great 
examples of multi-agency working ensuring detainees get the wrap around support they need 
whilst in the custody suite and when they leave.   
 

 
Safe days and nights for all – planned activities in the next quarter 
 

 
No information Provided  
 

Safe days and nights for all – Good News Story  

 
Aston Project continues to go from strength to strength with it now being imbedded in Cheltenham, 

Page 94



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

27 | P a g e  

 

Gloucester, Tewkesbury and Forest. There continues to be great commitment from volunteers each 
month. 
 
The Special Constabulary have over the last quarter been working very closely with Cheltenham and 
Gloucester NH Teams to deliver NTE patrols on a Friday and Saturday night. Working relationships 
between NHP and the Special Constabulary are continuing to strengthen with joint training having 
taken place in February and more planned for the next quarter. 
 

 
Safe and social driving 
 
Intent: 
That people are able to move around our communities in safety and with as much ease and 
convenience as possible 
That the police will enforce the law when necessary, but will all work to reduce offending and antisocial 
driving 
 

 
1. What if…? Roadshow  

Throughout February and March we ran the What if…? Roadshow which was jointly 
funded by OPCC and Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service (GFRS). The roadshow 
aimed to educate young people about the consequences of driving dangerously. The 
roadshow took them through a Road Traffic Collision throughout the show that although 
both young men in the car survived, for one of the young men this had caused a 
complete change in his mental health. The show also has 4 other stories running 
alongside it. These are delivered by a firefighter, police officer, paramedic and a family 
member. The show is hard hit and extremely thought provoking. Throughout February 
and March the roadshow was delivered to 3500. Also in May we will be delivering to 
additional 800- 1000 students at Hartpury College.  
 

2. byPASSthEdaNGER 
Students attended this workshop delivered by Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
staff during this quarter. It is designed to encourage young people to “speak up” to 
careless or dangerous driving. The number of those who attended this quarter was 330. 
This was due to Firefighters commitments to What if…? Roadshow. 
 

3. Wrecked 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service delivered this workshop, designed to reduce 
the harm caused by drink and drug driving, to 305 students this quarter. This is a 
reduction compared to last quarter. This was due to Firefighters commitments to What 
if…? Roadshow.  
 
 

 
 

4. Drive iQ Gloucestershire (DIQG) 
This is a localised certificated online driving awareness programme delivered by 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service. It helps the student to acquire knowledge, 
which will inform decision-making processes to reduce risk taking and misconceptions. 

 

From September 2018 until 31st March 866 modules have been completed this is an 
increase from 632 modules that were completed as of 31st December 2018. The schools 
who have been continually successful in completing these have been Cirencester 
College, Farmors School, Malmesbury and The Cotswold School.  

Page 95



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

28 | P a g e  

 

 

This year Drive iQ needs to be looked at in great detail to decide whether it should be 
relaunched or if something else would be better placed to take over it. 
 
 

 
5. Gloucestershire Youth mini bike project  

They have consistently reduced calls for ASB related incidents across Gloucester. They 
are still seeing high levels of engagement and participation from disadvantaged and hard 
to reach young people across the spectrum. Attendance levels remain high and number 
an average of 28 riders per session. They have provided a service for approx. 1,635 
young people to date and continue to improve relationships between young people, 
partners, professionals and other members of the local community. 
The project is on Track to reach its objectives and next month they will be celebrating 
the 5th anniversary of the project.  

 

 
6. Seatbelt Campaign in line with NPCC 

The campaign was centred on a one-day operation run by Gloucester Neighbourhood in 
collaboration with Special Constabulary, CEV and Police Cadets. This resulted in 115 
vehicles being stopped with 20 actions being taken; one of which related to Child 
restraint (Fixed Penalty Notice FPN issued) and the remainder undertaking an 
educational input.  Day-to-day enforcement by Camera Enforcement Unit (using the 
long-ranger lens) and operational staff during the week (17-23 March) resulted in a 
further 73 offences being identified; 3 received verbal warnings and the remainder are 
being dealt with by means of FPN. Offending took place by car occupants in 23%, 59% 
in vans and 18% in lorries.78% of offenders (for which details are available) were male, 
and 74% were in the 25 and older age range. 

 

 
7. 6,017 camera speeding offences processed, 284 endorsable tickets and 546 other 

tickets issued, which led to 216 National Driver Offender Retraining Scheme (NDORS) 
courses run in Gloucestershire, educating 4,339 clients, of which 45% were 
Gloucestershire Constabulary detected offences. We have also produced 519 traffic 
prosecution files. Numbers of courses & educated clients down from previous quarter – 
normal Christmas/Winter slow down, numbers expected to be back up this quarter. 
 

 

8. 73 traffic offence reports issued for mobile phone usage and 13 letters forwarded in 

support of the mobile phones usage campaign. 

 

 

9. The go ahead was given by OPCC to taking on NDORS education and administration in 

house from 1st June 2018. In the quarter, we took 4,412 bookings of which 3,092 (70%) 

were on-line and only 1,320 (30%) were answered via our call handlers. We have 

operated courses from 7 sites across the county including the full suite of NDORS 

courses. 

 

 

10. Our community enforcement officers remain active in the county. We now have a total of 

59 community sites and in the quarter, we made 37 visits and captured 229 offences. 

One of our two community officers has recently accepted another job in the 

Constabulary, but the PCC has authorised us to increase the community officers from 

two to four (six mobile officers in total including two officers who patrol the major road 

Page 96



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

29 | P a g e  

 

network). The recruitment of the new posts has been completed and offers sent, we 

await vetting completion for the new officers and expect them to be with us and in 

training by May. 

 
 

11. Our new equipment offers better opportunity to look at other anti-social driving offences 
– mobile use/non seatbelt usage and tailgating have all been successfully piloted and 
have been rolled out. Back office processes have been successfully worked through and 
implemented to support. In the quarter, we detected an additional 408 offences which 
comprised mobile phone usage 18, no seat belt 252, tailgating 29, number plate 
offences 107 and 2 due care offences. The number of no seat belt offences is 
particularly concerning, with recent statistics from the Department for Transport (2017 
year) showing 96.5% compliance, but 27% of car occupant fatalities were not wearing a 
seat belt. New equipment on order for our new officers will also carry the long range 
lenses to detect a range of offences and we will publicise the capability one again when 
the new equipment is with us to remind local drivers that seat belt usage is essential for 
their safety. 
 

 
12. Criminal Justice Traffic Department has established contact with local policing to 

develop strategy and take on local road concerns where possible. 
 

 
13. We have implemented recent recommendations from our Chief Constable/PCC 

approved strategy document, a police officer, a civilian investigator and a traffic 
evidential review officer have all recently commenced in the department, allowing us to 
investigate minor traffic collisions centrally, thereby reducing pressure upon front line 
officers and IIT. This should also lead to swifter resolution of collision cases and an 
increased uptake in education rather than prosecution. Early results encouraging – 31 
cases taken on from Officer in charges (OICs) (23 retained by OICs because either 
fatal/serious or poor initial investigation). Of cases taken on, 5 offers already of a safe 
and considerate driving course, 2 court prosecutions commenced and 2 No Further 
Action (NFA). 9 dashcam investigations have also commenced, 2 advice letters and 2 
NFA. 

 

 

14. Our road safety coordinator post holder has commenced, funded through the traffic unit. 

A major responsibility for them is to ensure that Constabulary operational resources are 

channelled appropriately in support of national and local road safety campaigns. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Safe and social driving – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 
Support of the NPCC Campaigns will continue – 

 Misuse of Mobile Phones while driving (April), Two wheels; concentrating on pedal 
cycles(May) including joint services presence at the Cheltenham Cycling Festival, Drink 
and Drug Driving (June). 

 Presence at Highnam ‘Motor Show’ (June) 

 Current levels of activity with mobile speed enforcement are to be maintained. 

Page 97



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

30 | P a g e  

 

 2 further mobile camera officers to deal with community concerns to be trained in the next 
quarter – after Constabulary/PCC agreement received. 

 GCC remain willing to digitise the fixed site camera network. Discussions are ongoing 
over a potential investment by them of up to £138,000. The potential multi usage camera 
chosen but this awaits full Home Office Type Approval. 

 Average speed enforcement commenced 29th March 2019 on A40 Golden Valley. 
 
 

 
Safe and social driving – Good News Story  
 

 
We have been providing news stories to the PCC in regard to our usage of long range detection 
cameras, particularly on the A417, in support of Operation Indemnis. This has received significant 
news coverage in national and local press, and local radio and TV coverage. We intend to promote 
further when our new mobile officers have commenced. 
 

 
Safer Cyber 
 
Intent: 
To ensure Gloucestershire is safer as people, commerce and other organisations increasingly live, 
trade and work on-line.  It underpins personal safety, economic growth and proseperity, in urban and 
rural environments, by supporting pepole of all ages, organisations and businesses 
 

 
1  

 
Multiple inputs have been provided for a variety of community and school groups giving the 
Safer Cyber message, the emphasis is now on encouraging groups into ongoing self-delivery. 
Total this quarter: 27 inputs reaching 2899 individuals 
 

 
2 

 
‘A to Z of cyber security’ messages are being promoted fortnightly through social media to 
maintain momentum and awareness. Linked into third party initiatives as appropriate. 
 
 

 
3 

 
‘Train the trainer inputs’ have been given to numerous partners to enable them to deliver 
ongoing inputs on Safer Cyber and online welfare to the vulnerable children and families within 
the programme. Supported with content supplied by Glospol. 
 

 
4 

 
Resources have been created for PCSOs to give on wider Safer Cyber and digital wellbeing. 
 

 
5 

 
The Harm Reduction team have continued engagement with Head teacher’s forums and the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Board. 
 

 
Safer cyber – planned activities in next quarter 
 
 

 The lack of a Customer Relationship Management platform (CRM) hinders the ability of the 
cyber team to manage critical relationships. The imminent trial of Office 365 offers some 
possibility of progress here - to take away some of the very large administration burden that 
wider inputs will bring.  

Page 98



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

31 | P a g e  

 

 

 This is still not in place. ICT estimate this will be introduced in April – May. 
 

 The challenge of recruiting training and retaining of specialist staff continues to pose a 
significant risk to delivery – the dedicated cyber investigation resources will be hard to find, 
expensive to train and hard to retain in the dynamic cyber marketplace. (Contract clauses on 
reclaiming training costs, subject to leaving within a timeframe, are being explored.) This has 
been recorded on the Risk register, but has already presented as a real problem within the 
Digital Investigaion Unit with existing post holders moving to new roles. 

 

 Capacity to complete this work in addition to other required policing responsibilities remains 
limited and is slowing progress. 
 

 John Noble – the Safer Cyber Priority lead from Nov ’18, has resigned from the role. The 
priority is currently under the sole direction of DI Mallon. 

 
 

Safer cyber –  Good News Story  

 
Incident 330 of 20/02/19 – incident wrongly perceived to be a domestic incident where the victim’s 
partner had been moving money in and out of the victim’s account to numerous others, including 
several account overseas. This was picked up by Digital Harm Reduction on ‘storm search’ and 
quickly identified as a sophisticated Romance Fraud. Digital Harm Reduction liaised with colleagues 
to complete a Voters Check on the suspect, which confirmed that the identity was fake and the 
“male” didn’t exist. The OIC was contacted, allowing him to correctly deal with the incident in terms of 
criming and completion of a Vulnerability identification screening Tool (VIST) for the victim who had 
also been a victim of fraud previously. Digital Harm Reduction contacted the victim and provided 
harm reduction advice as well as explaining, in a sensitive and gentle way, what Romance Fraud is 
which allowed her to understand what had happened. 
This itself is a positive outcome for a vulnerable victim, but more importantly highlights that our new 
processes are in place and identifying these situations. 
 
Typical work by PC Darren Peters and Victoria Brinton: 
Elective Home Education (EHE) – This is an initiative with Education Inclusion Service of 
Gloucestershire County Council to provide advice and guidance to Parents/Carers of children that 
elect to home educate their children with Safer Cyber advice.  
  
This group are often anti-authority and hard to reach, but Paul Waite of the Council and I have been 
working hard to try to get them to engage. We have been doing a Roadshow at a number of locations 
across the County in the evenings with varying success in terms of attendance. Those who have 
attended have been complementary and appreciative of the Roadshow. 
  
We will be reviewing how we take this forward in the next couple of months. 
  
Special Educational Needs (SEN) – We are aware that children who have disabilities are particularly 
vulnerable online and that in many cases their parents have similar conditions, amplifying the 
vulnerability. 
  
I have provided Safer Cyber training to Head Teachers and Designated Safeguarding Leads of the 
Gloucestershire Association of Special Schools (GASSH), which has raised the profile of Cyber 
Safety in these schools, however, much is left to be done in order to improve the extent and quality of 
Safer Cyber Provision delivered to pupils and their Parents. 
  
I am in the process of securing a County-wide working group of Special School SMT Teachers to 
raise the profile of Cyber Safety and train Special School Pastoral and Outreach workers who deal 
with school incidents and visit Parents in their homes. 

Page 99



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

32 | P a g e  

 

  
The Advisory Teaching Service are working with me to develop SEN resources which can be used 
by pupils who attend mainstream schools, but are SEN. This would include all types of disabilities, so 
is a significant step forward as well as a significant piece of work. I am not aware of this sort of 
engagement being done anywhere else in the UK. “ 
 
 

 
A Compassionate Approach  
 

 
1. The Wildlife Crime Engagement Group continues to meet, building trust and confidence with 

interested partners and protector groups. It is the only group of its kind in the region. Its Terms of 
Reference (TOR) is shaped so that governance comes via ‘A compassionate approach (ACA)’. It 
is working with Raptor Groups, Angling Trust and Badger groups this winter. 
 

 

 

2. The Christmas and New Year period saw a dramatic increase in reports of hunt related crime 

from both protectors and the hunts. Tewkesbury - of note PC Mawdsley has two cases of illegal 

hunting before the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) for charging advice from this period.  

 

 
 

 

3. Forest Of Dean – PC McDay continues to run anti-boar poaching operations with the Forestry 

Commission and is working with them to address how we prevent ‘Raves’ in their woodland after 

the recent incident in March. 

 

 

 

 

4. The Rural Crime Team has been working with the National Farmers Union (NFU) to set up 

WhatsApp groups for farmers in the Forest and Tewkesbury areas. This will go live next quarter. 

 

 

 

 

5. The Rural Crime Team has run a campaign to reduce and prevent livestock attacks and worrying 

this spring. 

 

 

 

6. The Rural Crime team has worked with the Environment Agency in respect of Operation Lake 

(illegal trading of elvers and glass eels). 

 

 

 

7. The Rural Crime Team has taken part in a rural crime and burglary operation with West Mercia, 

targeting prevention on the Forest of Dean and Tewkesbury border. 

 

 

 

8. Chief Inspector Pegler has met with Supt Thomas from West Mercia and will attend the midlands 

region Rural and Wildlife Crime strategic Group going forward to link in.  

 

 

 

9. Animal related crime prevention has been reviewed and is fit for purpose.  

 

 

Page 100



Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

33 | P a g e  

 

 

10. We have a process link between animal and human cruelty built into our Vulnerability 

Identification Screening Tool (VIST) document.  

 

 

 

11. Awareness training continues to be delivered to Student Officers and FCR staff. The training is 

now jointly delivered by FCR Dispatcher Victoria Parker and a member of the Rural Crime Team.  

 

 

 

12. Three Rural Crime Officers have been trained to fly drone to increase our operational capability.  

 

 

 

13. Our equine team has supported a ‘pass wide and slow road safety petition’. It has delivered 

driver education at Tewkesbury and Cheltenham in respect of the British Horse Society (BHS) 

‘dead or dead slow campaign’.  BHS approval is still in progress. The unit is waiting to be joined 

by two new riders. 

 

 

 
14. In March, the PCC, Chief Constable, Head of Public Affairs (Priority Lead for A compassionate 

approach’) and PC Mark Avery (Gloucestershire Dog Section) met with Abbi Moon of The Dogs 
Trust to discuss introduction of the revamped Animal Welfare Scheme (a national scheme – 
similar to an Independent Custody Visitors scheme but for police dogs) as we aim to be one of 
the first forces to introduce it. PC Avery was asked for his views on the new draft framework as 
The Dogs Trust was keen to hear from a police subject matter expert. His views will be 
incorporated into the framework. 

 

 

 
15.   ‘Pro-active multi-agency work around animal welfare and rural crime’ is one of the priorities set 

out in the new Gloucestershire Specialist Operations (SO) service offer (SO replaces TriForce 
and went live on 19 April).  
 

 

 

16. ‘A compassionate approach’ is now featured on the OPCC’s website so that people can find out 

more about it. See https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/a-passionate-approach/ 

 

 

 
A Compassionate Approach  – planned activities in next quarter 

 
 

 Go live of the National Farmers Union WhatsApp. 

 Linking in with the National Wildlife Crime Unit national raptor persecution unit (joint working; 
tagging and   monitoring raptors in Gloucestershire in support of the national strategy).  

 Review of our canine management (Dog Section); exist re treatment and training. We intend 
to introduce independent visits by the Dogs Trust to support our welfare initiative. Partnership 
meeting with my team, FCR and RSPCA, how can we work better together. Not yet taken 
place due to RSPCA availability but planned for May.  

 An awareness event for A compassionate approach which will seek to involve other local 
groups and communities to support and become involved with it.  

 

A Compassionate Approach  –  Good News Story  

 
Rural Crime Officers were called upon to catch a Rhea that had escaped from its field in the Forest of 

Page 101

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/a-passionate-approach/


Security classification: [Select Protective Marking] 

34 | P a g e  

 

Dean. The Rhea bird is similar to an Emu but more aggressive and with claws that could disembowel 
a human and was running loose on the A4136 bringing traffic to a standstill. The bird was eventually 
grabbed by PC Mawdsley who sat on it and then using clothing and a spit hood lead it safely back to 
its field with its owner. The Rhea was unharmed and the owners were extremely grateful for our 
assistance.  
 

 

3. Overview of Budget 
 

 
Commissioner’s Fund – Priority Leads Fund at 02.05.2019 

 

 

Priority 
 

 

Projected Spend 2017/21 
 

Awards to date 2017/19 

Accessibility and accountability £48,948 £49,248 

Older but not overlooked £99,931 £51,699 

Young people becoming adults £355,857 £308,551 

Safe days and nights £251,982 £155,400 

Safe and social driving £17,173 £13,625 

Safer cyber £134,336 £64,336 

A compassionate approach £430 £430 

Green and pleasant county £0 £0 

Other £148,346 £130,754 

Projected Expenditure £1,057,003 £774,043  

Total Budget c.£1,000,000  

 

 

Page 102



 

Gloucestershire Police & Crime Panel 

Report of the Chief Executive 

19th July 2019 
 

 
This is my report to the Police and Crime Panel on the activities of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office. It is intended to assist the Panel in reviewing and scrutinising decisions 
made and actions taken by the Commissioner, in accordance with its statutory responsibilities. 
 
 
1 Decisions 
 
1.1 A summary of decisions for up to the end of February 2019 has been presented to the 

Panel at previous meetings.  Table 1 below covers the period March – June 2019.  In 
addition to the list below, a further three decisions were also made but will not be published 
as they are not considered to be of significant public interest. 
 

Table 1: Summary of decisions recorded by the OPCC (March - June 2019) 

Month Subject Matter Decision 

March Brand at our 
buildings – blue 
lights, flags and 
flagpoles 

In February, Constabulary Governance Board (CGB) supported plans 
to present three elements of its refreshed brand at some police 
buildings - blue lights, flags and reception areas. Reception area work 
is underway, with the prototype completed for the opening of Bearland 
Police Station in November 2018. CGB supported a proportionate 
approach to flags and blue lights to ensure a visible police presence in 
our communities and engender pride in our heritage. This report sets 
out a potential programme of work, along with costs and 
recommended prioritising. 
 
This work contributes to the Police and Crime Plan’s priority of 
‘Accessibility and Accountability’ and the Constabulary’s commitment 
to neighbourhood policing and its ‘Standards Matter’ work. At the 
same time, work is underway within Local Policing to establish a clear 
definition for police stations, police bases and police points so that we 
can explain this to our communities and apply other appropriate 
branding and signage at the appropriate time. 
 
Decision:  

1) Agreed the recommended approach so that work can be 
progressed.  

2) The Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer in the Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) should identify money for 
this work from the Estates reserve budget. 

3) The Chief Superintendent Local Policing will determine 
responsibility for ensuring flags are used in line with the 
Constabulary’s flag flying protocol. This protocol to be reviewed 
and updated by its owner, Executive Support, through the Chief of 
Staff. 

4) Progress reports will be taken to CGB and brought back to PCC 
Governance Board to update members. 

March Environmental 
Update ISO 
14001-2015 

The Constabulary is the only force in the whole country which holds 
ISO 14001:2015 certification for Environmental Management. Every 3 
years, the Constabulary is inspected to ensure that the high standards 
required by certification are being maintained. 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



Table 1: Summary of decisions recorded by the OPCC (March - June 2019) 

The latest inspection has recently taken place and the Constabulary 
was assessed as still meeting the required standard. The attached 
report contains details of the findings from the latest Lloyds Register 
external environmental audit, internal audits and the progress on 
invest to save projects. 
 
This all links to the Carbon Management Plan (CMP) which defines 
the Constabulary’s strategic carbon management programme for the 
next 5 years. The CMP details the source of Gloucestershire 
Constabulary’s carbon emissions and establishes a baseline. 
 
It is a requirement of the 2015 Standard that the organisation confirms 
that its environmental performance is aligned with its strategy and key 
business processes. 
 
Decision: 

 This report is for information – no decisions were required. 

March Remote 
Download, 
Management 
and Analysis of 
Mobile Devices 

Mobile Device Data has become a vital component of today’s criminal 
investigations, with the volume and breadth of data requiring download 
and analysis growing year on year.   
 
The current pressing difficulties in resourcing the capture, analysis and 
management of digital evidence pose substantial risks to the 
Constabulary’s ability to investigate crime, serve the public and meet 
its CPIA digital evidence disclosure legal obligations.   
 
Funding was sought to enable the Constabulary to purchase additional 
Mobile Device UFED Kiosks and analytical licences at a cost of: 

 Year one capital cost - £141,247 

 Ongoing annual revenue cost - £23,095 
 
Decision: 
Required funding agreed 

March Vehicle 
Telematics 
Business Case 

A paper was presented to the Governance Board that requested 
funding for the procurement and installation of telematics into the 
Constabulary`s vehicle fleet.   A number of benefits were outlined in 
the proposal including a fleet which is greener, safer and more 
efficient. A total of £239,444 is being requested.  
 
Estimates state that the payback period on this investment is 1½ years 
based on an annual 10% fuel saving.  Procurement is requested 
though a direct award (sole source) to a preferred supplier using the 
process recommended by SWPPD. 
 
Decision: 
Funding of £239,444 was provided to allow the procurement and 
installation of vehicle telematics 

April Update on 
action 20 of 
2018 regarding 
implementation 
of Spit Guards 

The PCC requested an update with regards to the force wide roll out of 
Spit Guards. A report was therefore provided that updated and 
demonstrated the occasional but effective use of this item of 
equipment. 
 
The Governance Board noted the update report. 

May Berkeley 
Training Centre 
– Outline 
Business Case 

In response to a request by the Chief Constable for a more modern, 
efficient and inspirational training centre for Gloucestershire 
Constabulary’s police officers and staff, the PCC has sought to acquire 
and redevelop Building B12 at the Berkeley Green Science and 

Page 104



Table 1: Summary of decisions recorded by the OPCC (March - June 2019) 

Technology Park. Considerable work has been undertaken to 
negotiate the acquisition of the building from the South 
Gloucestershire and Stroud College and produce a plan for its timely 
redevelopment as a training centre capable of delivering the new style 
of police training and to provide a conference centre for use by the 
Constabulary and other partner organisations and groups.  
 
A paper was presented to the Governance Board which set out the 
advantages and disadvantages of acquiring and redeveloping the 
building and the anticipated costs of doing so. The recommended 
option was to seek to deliver an efficient and effective training centre 
of which the PCC and the Constabulary can be rightly proud, within a 
defined timescale, while keeping the costs within the affordability limits 
set by the PCC.  
 
Decision:  
That the PCC acquires the proposed property, Unit B12, and 
refurbishes it while spending the minimum required to meet 
operational requirements for the Training Centre and the PCC’s and 
Chief Constable’s vision within a total construction cost budget of 
£4,055,036.69 and a maximum total project cost of £5,892,885.68. 

May Review of 
Corporate 
Governance 
Framework 

The Corporate Governance Framework states how the two 
corporations sole, the PCC and the Chief Constable, are governed. 
The Framework should be reviewed annually. The Framework has 
been reviewed by the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer 
and has been considered by the Joint Audit Committee. The only 
changes made to the Framework relate to: 

 Clarification of who can sign s.22A Collaboration Agreements on 
behalf of the PCC and the Chief Constable, and 

 The approval of exit payments for police staff. 
 
Decision: 
That the revised Corporate Governance Framework (2019 Edition) 
was approved. 

May e-Recruit – 
request for 
funding 

Gloucestershire Constabulary aspires to be an Employer of Choice.  
This approach reflects the aspiration of the Constabulary to attract the 
best and most diverse talent to the workforce.   
 
Part of the approach to being an ‘Employer of Choice’ needs to include 
modern fit for purpose recruitment marketing and processes.   
 
A paper was presented to the Governance Board requesting  support 
for the introduction of an E-Recruit solution, which will offer a 
significantly improved candidate experience, at a cost of £103,471. 
 
Decision: 

The contents of the business case outlining the proposals in 
detail were noted.  The PCC supported the procurement of an 
E-Recruit Solution via direct procurement (sole source via G-
Cloud) award.  The cost of this solution which is anticipated to be 

£103,471. 

June Electrification of 
the Fleet – 
proposal to 
upgrade 
charging 
infrastructure 

A report was provided summarising the `Fleet Review 2018: 
Electrification Full Business Case’.  
 
The business case considered the viability of extending use of electric 
vehicles from 3% of the fleet to 21% over a period of 12 months. It 
also detailed the cost of the additional infrastructure required to 

Page 105



Table 1: Summary of decisions recorded by the OPCC (March - June 2019) 

 support this level of electrification.  
 
The benefits are both financial savings on fuel and CO2 emissions 
reductions.  Savings on fuel, vehicle servicing and maintenance would 
offset the cost of investment and, in some scenarios, represent an 
`invest to save` initiative.  Replacing 84 vehicles with electric vehicles 
would reduce emissions by 212 tCO2 per year which represents 27% 
of the total carbon emissions reduction target in the Constabulary`s 
Carbon Management Plan 2021. 
 
Decision: 
The PCC supported the proposal for investment in additional charging 
point infrastructure through a direct award (sole source) to 
Chargemaster.  This will involve the installation of 22 additional 
charging points with a one-off cost of £144,649 plus ongoing revenue 
costs of £5,478.  The funding for this is included in the provisional 
costing from the Constabulary`s Transformation Programme. 

 
 
2 Freedom of Information Act and complaints  

 
2.1 The OPCC and Constabulary regularly receive letters, emails and telephone calls from the 

public, community representatives and statutory bodies that provide both thanks and 
feedback. Although systems and processes have been developed to manage these 
contacts, it was accepted that there is room for improvement in recording and monitoring 
them, particularly in respect of learning from the feedback and using this to shape future 
service delivery.  
 

2.2 A correspondence application called APEX has been developed that is used to register and 
manage correspondence and identify good work in the form of thanks as well as 
opportunities for improvements.  The Force Control Room and Executive Team in the 
Constabulary have started to use the application, as has the OPCCC from June.    
 

2.3 The aims of the correspondence application are to: 
 

 Capture all correspondence received into the Constabulary from every source as soon 
as possible after it has been received. 

 Record and allocate a unique reference number (URN) to each item received. 

 Acknowledge all correspondence received 

 Allocate it to the most appropriate person to deal with it. 

 Monitor and track progress, supervising it centrally. 

 Finalise and understand the outcome, recording it correctly.  

 Update the correspondent with the result (where appropriate). 

 Learn any lessons and share them. 
 

2.4 Due to the change in systems for recording correspondence, there will be a change to the 
way we report complaints to the Police and Crime Panel.  Future reports will provide 
comparison data but for this report, a snapshot of activity is available only. 
 

2.5 The chart below shows all correspondence received by the OPCC since APEX was 
introduced in June: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.6 The chart below shows just complaints and FOIs received by the OPCC: 

 
2.7 The 14 contacts recorded as ‘dissatisfaction’ cover a range of issues that cannot be 

categorised under one of the other headings.  A list of all complaint categories is: 
 

 Dissatisfaction 

 Anti-Social Behaviour issue / complaint 

 Crime issue / complaint 

 Complaint against the OPCC 

 Complaint against the PCC 

 Complaint against the Chief Constable  

 Complaint against the police 

 Police presence complaint 

 Road Safety issue 
 

2.8 Further categories can be added and analysis of data obtained will be provided to the Panel 
as APEX develops.        
 

3 Crime data 
 
3.1 As explained in previous reports, the OPCC is able to compare national and local crime 

rates via various Home Office performance management tools.  Unfortunately, due to the 
conditions of use we are unable to share the full content publicly but the table below 
provides information about how Gloucestershire is performing when compared to the 
national picture.  The data we are using refers to the British Crime Survey (BCS) 
Comparator Crimes and were chosen because they represented those crimes that 
(according to the Crime Survey) caused the most amount of harm to communities. The 
most recent data available is up to the end of March 2019. 

Page 107



3.2 Table 2 below shows that BCS crime rates in Gloucestershire continue to fall in 
Gloucestershire in line with peer groups.   Rates and percentage changes mirror those 
reported at the last Police and Crime Panel (February) where across the districts BCS 
crime is falling with the exception of Stroud and Gloucester.     
 

3.3 As with the previous report, rates in all areas are lower than the MSG average although 
both Gloucester and Cheltenham are closer to the average than the other areas.  This is 
reflected in their MSG position.   The Forest of Dean and Tewkesbury are showing the 
greatest decreases and both are performing well in relation to rates in their MSGs.    

       
 

 
 
3.4 As explained BCS crimes are those that, when asked via the British Crime Survey, 

respondents said are the crimes that concern people the most.  These are also volume 
crimes.  All crime relates to all offences reported to the police.  The table below provides 
the same information as above but for All Crime. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1
 Additional 189 offences 

2
 Additional 339 offences 

Table 2: BCS Crime in the 12 month period up to the end of March 2019 

Area 
MSG position 

out of 15  
(1 = good) 

Rate per 1000 population 
Percentage change 

compared to the same 
period last year 

Gloucestershire 
(out of 8) 

2/8 
26.992 

(MSG average 31.92) 
0% 

Cheltenham 6/15 
36.217 

(MSG average 41.446) 
-8% 

Cotswolds 2/15 
17.39 

(MSG average 23.15) 
+14%

1
 

Forest of Dean 1/15 
17.45 

(MSG average 25.64) 
-3% 

Gloucester 7/15 
45.51 

(MSG average 50.10) 
+6%

2
 

Stroud 1/15 
 18.10 

(MSG average 24.84) 
+1% 

Tewkesbury 2/15 
 18.56 

(MSG average 26.07) 
-7% 

South West 1/5 32.2 +0.98% 

MSG for 
Gloucestershire 

N/A 31.92 +1.37% 

England & Wales N/A 41.7 +5.1% 

Page 108



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.5 Crime trends and performance are continually monitored by the Policy Officers in the OPCC 
in order that the PCC is able to hold the Chief Constable to account in accordance with his 
statutory responsibilities. 
 

3.6 For more information about crime rates by area, please go to www.police.co.uk. This is 
publically available data from the Home Office that shows, through charts and maps, how 
Gloucestershire Constabulary is performing and includes analysis by crime type. 

 
 
4 Independent Custody Visitors 

 
4.1 Independent Custody Visiting (ICV) Schemes exist to provide assurance to local 

communities that they can have confidence in the way in which the police treat people who 
are held in their custody. Ensuring effective management and oversight of the ICV Scheme 
is a statutory responsibility of the PCC.  

 
4.2 ICVs are volunteers who visit our custody centre, in pairs, and speak to detainees who are 

being held in police custody. Visits are random and unannounced so that the police do not 
know when they will take place. The OPCC recruits volunteer ICVs to undertake the role 
and provides them with support and on-going training to ensure that they can discharge 
their role effectively. The OPCC is also responsible for holding annual general meetings 
and producing an annual report.  

 

Table 3: All crime in the 12 month period up to the end of March 2019 

Area 
MSG position  

(1 = good) 
Rate per 1000 population 

Percentage change 
compared to the same 

period last year 

Gloucestershire 
(out of 8) 

2/8 
55.86 

(MSG average 65.46) 
+3% 

Cheltenham 4/15 
73.304 

(MSG average 85.705) 
-2% 

Cotswolds 3/15 
39.505 

(MSG average 49.354) 
+7% 

Forest of Dean 1/15 
34.831 

(MSG average 55.645) 
-3% 

Gloucester 5/15 
92.537 

(MSG average 103.93) 
+11% 

Stroud 1/15 
 38.720 

(MSG average 53.128) 
-1% 

Tewkesbury 2/15 
 39.156 

(MSG average 55.814) 
0% 

South West 1/5 67.8 +1.8% 

MSG for 
Gloucestershire 

N/A 65.466 +2.96% 

England & Wales N/A 88.5 +7.86% 

Page 109

http://www.police.co.uk/


4.3 Members will be aware from the annual 
report presented to the Panel in 
November 2018 that the ICV scheme 
has developed positively in 
Gloucestershire over the last two to 
three years.  This effort has now been 
recognised by the national body that 
supports ICVs Schemes, the ICVA 
(Independent Custody Visitors 
Association).  In May, the 
Gloucestershire ICV scheme was 
awarded Gold in the inaugural ICVA 
Quality Assurance awards at the 
House of Lords. 

 
4.4 One of the many strengths of the scheme is the willingness of volunteers to undertake extra 

activity.  Last year, for example, additional visits were undertaken as part of a national study 
into female detainees.  The scheme has now been accepted to take part in a national pilot 
to carry out weekly reviews of custody records.   
 

4.5 The Custody Records Review (CRR) pilot began in Derbyshire and ICVA have been 
working with the OPCC there and the Home Office to extend the scheme to an additional 
six (potentially seven) areas.  It involves ICVs reviewing custody records to obtain a fuller 
understanding of what happens in custody suites.  In Derbyshire this has helped identify a 
number of issues including: 

 

 the care for those in poor mental health; 

 access to mental health beds; 

 accessing appropriate adults; and  

 care for female detainees.  
 
4.6 The information below has been provided by ICVA and details the scope of the pilot: 
 

 
The pilot has two phases to it; the first phase is called Custody Record Review (CRR). CRR takes 
place alongside regular independent custody visiting as follows: 
  
• The police force provides the scheme manager with a list of detainees who have attended 

custody in the previous week who are children or whose records are flagged as having mental 
health concerns. 

• The scheme manager chooses a number of custody records for scrutiny. The police redact 
any personal information from the files and deliver them to the scheme manager. 

• ICVs come into an office in pairs to read through the selected records. They will answer 
specific questions about the record. They will also be given the opportunity to give their 
perception of the treatment of the detainees, flagging particularly good or worrying care. 

• Scheme managers analyse the reports from ICVs and use them alongside regular reports to 
raise any relevant problems with their police force for resolution. 

 
We anticipate that the custody record review will be followed with adaptations to the visits 
themselves. These adaptations will be shaped by our pilot schemes, however we anticipate that 
they will include: 
 
• Longer visits that include observations of key custody processes such as booking in, risk 

assessments and managing risk. 
• The format of the visit will change depending on how busy the suite is and what is happening 

locally. It may include shadowing a custody sergeant or detention officer; it may involve 
checking kitchen and clothing stocks. The changes will be flexible, but will encourage a much 
wider understanding of police custody. 

Page 110



• Visits to detainees will remain central to the new methodology and ICVs will continue to speak 
to detainees about their rights, entitlements and wellbeing. 

• A structured feedback form that will direct ICVs to explore key areas of police custody as a 
critical friend. 

 

 
4.7 The reception from the Constabulary has been extremely positive and full support has been 

given to the OPCC in taking part in the CRR pilot.  It has been agreed that records from the 
following groups will be prioritised for review: 
 

 young people; 

 females; 

 detainees in poor mental health; and  

 young people with mental health 
 

4.8 Training has begun with ICVs taking part in the pilot and the first reviews are due to take 
place in early September.  Quarterly reports will be produced by the OPCC and a full, 
independent evaluation has been commissioned by ICVA.  The Home Office are particularly 
interested in the pilot as any learning may help shape inspections in other secure unit 
settings including care homes.  In a recent letter from the Minister of State for Policing and 
the Fire Service, the Rt Hon Nick Hurd MP, Gloucestershire was thanked for taking part in 
the scheme:  
 

 

“I would like to thank you for your excellent work in supporting the introduction of new Independent 
Custody Visiting methodology in Derbyshire.  

 
I fully support your decision to pilot this methodology on a larger scale, and I am glad to hear that 
key partners such as the National Police Chiefs’ Council, College of Policing, Police Federation will 
also be inputting.  
 
All detainees should have their rights and welfare safeguarded, and I look forward to seeing the 
potential impact this new form of custody visiting may have on both ensuring high custody 
standards and in helping frontline staff.” 
 

 Rt Hon Nick Hurd MP  
Minister of State for Policing and the Fire Service 

May 2019 
 

 
 

5 Community Safety Partnerships 
 
5.1 One of the main drivers for the development of Safer 

Gloucestershire is the need to improve connectivity between 
the district CSPs and county-wide agencies.  Although in its 
infancy, progress is being made with representation 
commitment at Safer Gloucestershire having been 
established and a new overarching strategy is under 
development.  
 

5.2 Connecting the work of the OPCC and CSPs is an area that has been identified for 
development.  As a small team the OPCC is often limited in capacity.  The Office does 
have, however, access to information, research and national networks that could and 
should be used to support and enhance the activity of Safer Gloucestershire and the CSPs.   
 

5.3 In order to address this, a request is being made to all CSPs in the county for an invitation 
to attend future partnership meetings.  A named officer will be available to attend meetings 

Page 111



from now on with a commitment to prioritise involvement.  If unavailable to attend a 
meeting, a deputy will be identified.  The names and roles of officers attending CSPs are: 
 

 Cheltenham: Kirsten Fruin, Commissioning Manager 

 Cotswolds: Amanda Segelov, Criminal Justice Policy Officer 

 Forest of Dean: Alana Greenway, Commissioning and Contracts Officer 

 Gloucester: PC Damon Blandford, Seconded Special Projects Officer 

 Stroud: Kezia Lane, Information and Research Officer 

 Tewkesbury: Ruth Greenwood, Policy Officer 
 
 

6 Estates update 
 

6.1 As mentioned in the decisions listed above, approval was given in May for the acquisition of 
Building B12 at Berkeley Green Science and Technology Park on a 150 year lease from 
South Gloucestershire and Stroud College.  The lease was completed in June and work 
immediately started on the refurbishment of the building which it is planned will be 
completed by the end of February 2020. 
 
 

7 OPCC Staff update 
 

7.1 Since the last meeting, I can report that we have recently recruited a new individual to the 
annual student / graduate placement post in the OPCC.  Unfortunately this means we will 
be losing Annabel Staley who has been with us over the last year when she returns to her 
studies at the University of Bath.  I am pleased to report that Jessica Selwyn has been 
successful in her application for the 2019/20 scheme and will be joining the Office after the 
summer.  

  
 

Paul D. Trott 
Chief Executive 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 
July 2019 
 

Page 112


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Police and Crime Panel: Terms of Reference
	7 Police and Crime Commissioner - Annual Report 2018/2019
	When three become six 3 

	8 Police and Crime Plan - Revised Delivery Plans
	Delivery Model May 2019

	9 Police and Crime Plan Highlight Report
	10 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner - Chief Executive Report

